Impact of Interactions Between Killer Cell Immunoglobulin-like Receptors and their Non-Classical Cellular Ligands on the Antiviral Activity of NK Cells

Dissertation

with the aim of achieving a doctoral degree of

Doctor rerum naturalium (Dr. rer. nat.)

Faculty of Mathematics, Informatics and Natural Sciences Department of Biology at the University of Hamburg.

> Submitted by Pia Fittje

From Hannover, Germany

Hamburg

July 2022

Thesis director: Prof. Dr. Marcus Altfeld

Research Department Virus Immunology Leibniz Institute of Virology Hamburg, Germany

Dissertation reviewers:

First reviewer: Prof. Dr. Marcus Altfeld,

Research Department Virus Immunology, Leibniz Institute of Virology, Hamburg, Germany

Second reviewer: Prof. Dr. Thomas Dobner,

Research Department Viral Transformation, Leibniz Institute of Virology, Hamburg, Germany

Submitted by: **Pia Fittje** Submitted on: 15.07.2022

Date of disputation: 18.11.2022

Table of Contents

Publication List	I		
Associated scientific publications II			
List of abbreviationsIII			
Abstract	/		
ZusammenfassungV	Ί		
1 Introduction	1		
1.1 Human immune system	1		
1.2 Natural killer cells	1		
1.2.1 Effector functions and recognition of virus-infected cells	2		
1.2.2 NK cell receptors and their cellular ligands	3		
1.2.3 Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors and their ligands4	ŀ		
1.2.3.1 KIR2DL5/CD155	3		
1.2.3.2 KIR3DS1/HLA-F	9		
1.3 KIRs in viral infections1	1		
1.4 Persistent viral infections	2		
2 Hypothesis and aims of the project	3		
3 Discussion	7		
3.1 Impact of KIR2DL5-CD155 interactions on NK cell activity	3		
3.2 KIR2DL5 in HIV-1 infection24	1		
3.3 Impact of KIR3DS1-HLA-F interactions on HCV infection)		
3.4 Interactions between KIRs and non-classical ligands as potential targets for immunotherapeutic approaches	ō		
4 Conclusion	7		
References	3		
List of figures	3		
List of tables	3		
Acknowledgments			
Eidesstattliche Versicherung58			
Appendix	9		

Publication List

This thesis is presented in cumulative form based on the following publications:

Publication #1 <u>Fittje P</u>, Hoelzemer A, Garcia-Beltran WF, Vollmers S, Niehrs A, Hagemann K, Martrus G, Körner C, Kirchhoff F, Sauter D, Altfeld M. HIV-1 Nef-mediated downregulation of CD155 results in viral restriction by KIR2DL5+ NK cells. *PLoS Pathog.* 2022 Jun 24;18(6).

Publication #2 Lunemann S, Schöbel A, Kah J, <u>Fittje P</u>, Hölzemer A, Langeneckert AE, Hess LU, Poch T, Martrus G, Garcia-Beltran WF, Körner C, Ziegler AE, Richert L, Oldhafer KJ, Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Schramm C, Dandri M, Herker E, Altfeld M. Interactions Between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F Activate Natural Killer Cells to Control HCV Replication in Cell Culture. *Gastroenterology*. 2018 Nov;155(5):1366-1371.

Associated scientific publications

Other scientific publications not included in this thesis:

Vollmers S, Lobermeyer A, Niehrs A, <u>Fittje P</u>, Indenbirken D, Nakel J, et al. Host KIR/HLA-C Genotypes Determine HIV-Mediated Changes of the NK Cell Repertoire and Are Associated With Vpu Sequence Variations Impacting Downmodulation of HLA-C. *Front Immunol.* 2022 July 15;0: 3544.

Höfle J, Trenkner T, Kleist N, Schwane V, Vollmers S, Barcelona B, Niehrs A, <u>Fittje P</u>, Huynh-Tran VH, Sauter J, Schmidt AH, Peine S, Hoelzemer A, Richert L, Altfeld M, Körner C. Engagement of TRAIL triggers degranulation and IFNγ production in human natural killer cells. *EMBO Rep*. 2022 Jun 27.

Koyro TF, Kraus E, Lunemann S, Hölzemer A, Wulf S, Jung J, <u>Fittje P</u>, Henseling F, Körner C, Huber TB, Grundhoff A, Wiech T, Panzer U, Fischer N, Altfeld M. Upregulation of HLA-F expression by BK polyomavirus infection induces immune recognition by KIR3DS1-positive natural killer cells. *Kidney Int*. 2021 May;99(5):1140-1148.

List of abbreviations

2ry	Secondary IgG antibody
ADCC	Antibody dependent cell-mediated cytotoxicity
AIDS	Acquired immunodeficiency syndrome
APC	Antigen presenting cells
ART	Antiretroviral therapy
BKPyV	BK polyomavirus
CAR	Chimeric antigen receptor
CD	Cluster of differentiation
CIITA	Class II major histocompatibility complex transactivator
DAA	Direct antiviral agents
DC	Dendritic cell
DDR	DNA damage responses
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid
DNAM-1	DNAX accessory molecule-1
EBV	Epstein-Barr-virus
ER	Endoplasmic reticulum
HAART	Highly active antiretroviral therapy
HAdV	Adenoviruses
HBV	Hepatitis B virus
HCMV	Human cytomegalovirus
HCV	Hepatitis C virus
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HLA	Human leukocyte antigen
IFN	Interferon
IL	Interleukin
ISRE	IFN-stimulated response element
ITAM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activating motif
ITIM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibition motif
ITSM	Immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif
JRC	Jurkat reporter cells
KIR	Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor
КО	Knock out
KSHV	Kaposi's sarcoma-associated herpesvirus
MAP	Mitogen-activated protein

MIC	MHC class I polypeptide–related sequence		
NCR	Natural cytotoxicity receptor		
Necl	Nectin-like		
Nef	Negative regulatory factor		
NFκB	Nuclear factor-ĸB		
NK	Natural killer		
NKG2	Natural killer group 2		
OC	Open conformer		
PVR	Poliovirus receptor		
RNA	Ribonucleic acid		
SPR	Surface plasmon resonance		
ТАР	Transporter associated with antigen processing		
TIGIT	T-cell immunoreceptor with immunoglobulin and ITIM domains		
TNF	Tumour necrosis factor		
Vif	Viral infectivity factor		
Vpr	Viral protein R		
Vpu	Viral protein U		
β₂m	β ₂ -microglobulin		

Abstract

Natural killer (NK) cells are important innate effector cells contributing to the control of viral infections. Through the expression of a large array of activating and inhibitory receptors, including killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs), NK cells are able to sense and eliminate virus-infected cells. Persistent viral infections, such as HIV-1 and HCV infections, are difficult to control, as these viruses have evolved several mechanisms to escape immune recognition. Certain NK cell populations expressing specific KIRs have been associated with a better outcome of HIV-1 and HCV infection. For a better understanding of the underlying functional mechanisms leading to antiviral NK cell activity, we analyzed the impact of interactions between KIR2DL5 and KIR3DS1 and their respective nonclassical ligands on the control of HIV-1 and HCV infection. Recently, CD155 was suggested to serve as a binding partner for KIR2DL5. However, the functional consequences of the new interaction for NK cells during viral infections are not well understood. Previous studies have described an HIV-1-mediated modulation of CD155 levels on the surface of infected cells. We confirmed binding of KIR2DL5 to CD155 and observed a reduced activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells against CD155 expressing target cells. Furthermore, we showed that HIV-1 downregulates CD155 expression on the surface of infected cells in a Nef-dependent mechanism, leading to an increased antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells against wild type compared to Nef-deficient HIV-1 strains. Gene association studies repeatedly described an association between individuals encoding for KIR3DS1 and a better outcome of HCV infection. In our study, we demonstrated that the KIR3DS1 interaction partner HLA-F is upregulated on HCV-infected cells in vitro and in vivo. The elevated HLA-F surface levels resulted in an increased inhibition of HCV replication by KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells and NK cells of individuals encoding for KIR3DS1. Our data demonstrate functional consequences of HIV-1-mediated changes of CD155 levels on infected cells, thereby modulating the antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells, and that interactions between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F contribute to NK cell-mediated control of HCV infection. Therefore, the herein described consequences of interactions between KIRs and their ligands on virus-infected cells provide new insights into the antiviral activity of KIR⁺ NK cells during HIV-1 and HCV infection and furthermore represent promising targets for the development of future immunotherapeutic treatments.

Zusammenfassung

Natürliche Killerzellen (NK-Zellen) sind Teil des angeborenen Immunsystems und tragen zur Immunantwort gegen verschiedene virale Infektionen bei. NK-Zellen besitzen die Fähigkeit virusinfizierte Zellen zu erkennen und zu eliminieren. Dies geschieht über Interaktionen zwischen verschiedenen aktivierenden und inhibierenden NK-Zell-Rezeptoren und ihren Liganden auf der Oberfläche von anderen Zellen. Eine wichtige Gruppe von NK-Zell-Rezeptoren sind *killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors* (KIRs). Persistierende Virusinfektionen, wie HIV- und HCV-Infektionen, lassen sich nur unzureichend vom Immunsystem kontrollieren, da die Viren Strategien entwickelt haben, um den Abwehrmechanismen des Wirts zu entgehen. In genetischen Studien wurden bestimmte KIRs mit besseren Verläufen von HIV- und HCV-Infektionen assoziiert. Um die zugrundeliegenden Mechanismen die zu einer erhöhten antiviralen Aktivität von NK-Zellen führen besser zu verstehen, wurde der Einfluss von Interaktionen der NK-Zell-Rezeptoren KIR2DL5 und KIR3DS1 mit ihren jeweiligen Liganden CD155 und HLA-F auf die Kontrolle von HIV- und HCV-Infektionen untersucht.

KIR2DL5 bindet an CD155, die funktionellen Konsequenzen der Interaktion für NK-Zellen während viraler Infektionen sind jedoch weitgehend unbekannt. Einige Studien weisen darauf hin, dass HIV-1 die Expression von CD155 auf der Oberfläche von infizierten Zellen moduliert. In dieser Arbeit wurde bestätigt, dass KIR2DL5 an CD155 bindet und gezeigt, dass die Interaktion zu einer Hemmung der antiviralen Aktivität von KIR2DL5⁺ NK-Zellen durch CD155 exprimierende Zellen führt. Darüber hinaus wurde gezeigt, dass HIV-1 die CD155-Expression auf der Oberfläche infizierter Zellen durch einen Nef-abhängigen Mechanismus herunterreguliert, was in einer erhöhten antiviralen Aktivität von KIR2DL5+ NK-Zellen gegen HIV-1 Wild Type Stämme im Vergleich zu Nef-defizienten HIV-1-Stämmen resultiert. In Genassoziationsstudien wurde wiederholt ein Zusammenhang zwischen Individuen, die für KIR3DS1 kodieren, und einem besseren Ausgang von HCV-Infektionen beschrieben. Durch die Verwendung von in vitro und in vivo Modellen konnte demonstriert werden, dass der KIR3DS1 Interaktionspartner HLA-F vermehrt auf der Oberfläche von HCV-infizierten Zellen exprimiert wird. Die erhöhte HLA-F-Oberflächenexpression führte zu einer verstärkten Hemmung der HCV-Replikation durch KIR3DS1⁺ NK-Zellen und NK-Zellen von Personen, die für KIR3DS1 kodieren.

Die Ergebnisse dieser Arbeit zeigen funktionelle Konsequenzen der HIV-1-vermittelten Verringerung der CD155 Expression für die antivirale Aktivität von KIR2DL5⁺ NK-Zellen, sowie, dass Interaktionen zwischen KIR3DS1 und HLA-F zur Kontrolle von HCV-Infektionen beitragen können. Die hier beschriebenen Auswirkungen der Interaktionen zwischen KIRs und ihren Liganden auf virusinfizierten Zellen bieten daher neue Einblicke in die antivirale

VI

Aktivität von KIR⁺ NK-Zellen während HIV-1- und HCV-Infektionen und stellen darüber hinaus mögliche Ziele für die Entwicklung künftiger immuntherapeutischer Behandlungen dar.

Introduction

1 Introduction

1.1 Human immune system

The human immune system is essential for the protection of organisms against malignancies and infections with pathogens, such as bacteria, parasites, fungi and viruses, by providing the ability to distinguish between "self" and "non-self" molecules [2,3]. The different immune compartments are divided into two functional distinct parts, the innateand the adaptive immune system [4]. The innate immune system includes physical and anatomical barriers and develops an immediate response involving a variety of myeloid and lymphoid cells, such as macrophages, granulocytes, mast cells, dendritic cells (DCs) and NK cells [5,6]. The rapid activation of the innate immune system represents the first line of defence against transformed or infected cells. In contrast, the adaptive immune system, also called the acquired immune system, develops during the lifetime of an individual and takes over if the innate immune system was not sufficient to effectively destroy the pathogen. It is mainly composed of two specialized lymphocytes, the B and T cells [7]. While innate immunity provides a more general and non-specific response against foreign invaders, the adaptive immune system develops a highly antigen specific defence after an initial contact to a pathogen, involving specific antigen receptors and the development of specific antibodies. Furthermore, its ability to create an immunological memory leads to enhanced responses and protection against reinfection at future exposures [8,9]. However, effector cells of the innate immune system are crucial for the early control of many infections and can prevent the manifestation of chronic infectious diseases [10–12].

1.2 Natural killer cells

NK cells are important effector lymphocytes of the innate immune system with the ability to recognize abnormal and infected cells without the need of prior sensitisation. They are able to distinguish between "self" and "non-self" molecules by expressing a large array of activating and inhibitory receptors [13]. NK cells play an important role in the early immune response against viral infections [14,15]. In contrast to adaptive immune cells, effector functions of NK cells are regulated through pre-expressed germline-encoded receptors, enabling an early recognition and elimination of infected host cells [16]. NK cells represent between 5-15% of peripheral blood lymphocytes and almost 50% of all lymphocytes within the liver. In addition, NK cells are also present in the gut, spleen, uterus, lung and bone marrow, and to a lower level in the thymus, secondary lymphoid tissue and mucosa-associated tissue [17–19]. NK cells are defined as CD14^{-/}CD19⁻/CD3^{-/}CD16^{+/-}/CD56⁺ and can be divided into two functional and phenotypical distanced subpopulations that are

characterized by their differential CD56 and CD16 expression levels [18]. The CD56^{dim} NK cells express low levels of CD56 and high levels of CD16 and represent 90% of total circulating peripheral blood NK cells. CD56^{dim} NK cells express a high variety of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) and harbour high amounts of cytolytic granular, containing perforin and granzymes, enabling a strong cytotoxic capacity. NK cells expressing high levels of CD56 and lacking the expression of CD16 are defined as CD56^{bright} NK cells. This subset displays lower KIR expression levels and is present with a frequency of around 10% of peripheral blood NK cells. CD56^{bright} NK cells release high amounts of cytokines, such as IFNγ, TNFa, IL-10 and IL-13 as their main effector function [18]. With the ability to detect and destroy virus-infected cells in early stages of infection, NK cells play a major role in immune defence against viral infections including infections with the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) and hepatitis C virus (HCV).

1.2.1 Effector functions and recognition of virus-infected cells

NK cells are able to recognize and eliminate abnormal and virus-infected cells in a cellcontact-dependant manner, without being sensitised prior to exposure. NK cells contribute to the innate immune response and the control of viral infections by exhibiting cytotoxic effector functions as well as by releasing cytokines. Furthermore, NK cells shape the response of other immune cell subsets by the production of cytokines and direct cell-cell interactions [20,21].

Cytotoxic effector functions of NK cells are mediated through different mechanisms, including the induction of apoptosis in target cells by binding to death receptors [22,23] and by antibody-dependant cytotoxicity (ADCC), mediated through the FcyRIII receptor CD16 [16]. Furthermore, cytotoxicity is mediated through exocytosis of cytotoxic granules containing perforin and granzymes [24]. To implement a tolerance against healthy tissue and to prevent tissue damage, NK cells are tightly regulated by the expression of an array of activating and inhibitory receptors. These receptors and their respective ligands enable NK cells to distinguish between harmless "self" and "non-self" and determine if NK cells become activated or remain quiescent [13]. Activating NK cell receptors can detect molecules such as stress-induced self-ligands or virus-induced non-self ligands [25,26]. Under normal conditions, all nucleated healthy host cells express human leukocyte antigen (HLA) class I molecules on the cell surface, which are recognized by most inhibitory NK cell receptors [27]. Inhibitory signals overcome the strength of activating signals, which subsequently leads to inhibition and a state of "tolerance" against normal healthy cells [28,29]. In the case of an infection, viruses tend to modulate the surface proteins of infected cells and this modifications are sensed by NK cells [30]. The downregulation of surface

molecules and the presentation of viral epitopes or self-stress epitopes by HLA class I interferes with the binding of inhibitory receptors, resulting in a loss of inhibitory signals ("missing-self") [28,31]. Simultaneously, activating ligands can be upregulated and activating signals become dominant, leading to an activation of the NK cell ("induced-self") and an elimination of the target cell [32] (Figure 1).



Figure 1: NK cell function. NK cell function is regulated by activating receptors binding to activating ligands and inhibitory receptors interacting mainly with HLA class I molecules on healthy cells. Under normal conditions, inhibitory signals are dominant and establish a state of "tolerance". On infected cells, HLA class I molecules are often downregulated or they present viral peptides that alter binding to NK cell receptors, and activating ligands are upregulated. This leads to a loss of inhibitory signals and increased activating signals, resulting in "missing-self recognition" and killing of infected cells.

1.2.2 NK cell receptors and their cellular ligands

NK cells express several functional and structural distinct groups of receptors that contribute to the tight regulation of NK cell effector function [16]. Beside the Fc receptor CD16, which is present on all CD56^{dim} peripheral blood NK cells, NK cells express three important receptor families. (i) The mainly activating natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs), including NKp30, NKp44 and NKp46. (ii) The natural killer group 2 (NKG2) receptors that are C-type lectin family receptors, having either activating (e.g. NKG2C/D) or inhibitory (NKG2A) functions and (iii) the predominantly inhibitory killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) (Figure 2) [13,16,33,34]. Each receptor recognizes specific ligands, which can be either self-molecules (HLA class I), stress induced self-ligands (MIC-A/B, ULBP) and non-self-ligands in the context of HLA class I or bacterial-, virus-derived and tumour cell ligands directly on the cell surface of target cells [26,34–37]. More recently, another group of NK cell receptors has emerged to be involved in balancing NK cell activity in human diseases such as cancer and infections. The nectin and nectin-like protein binding receptors CD226 (DNAM-1), T cell immunoreceptor with immunoglobulin and ITIM domains (TIGIT), CD96

(Tractile) [38] and, as described here and by others, the novel CD155 (Necl-5) binding receptor KIR2DL5 [39–41] (Figure 2).



Figure 2: NK cell receptors. NK cells express a large array of activating and inhibitory receptors that upon engagement can lead to inhibition or activation of NK cell effector functions. Beside the expression of the FcyRIII receptor CD16, NK cells express several important groups of receptors including natural killer group 2 receptors (NKp30, NKp44, NKp46), C-type lectin family receptors (NKG2A, NKG2C, NKG2D), killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) and the group of nectin/nectin-like receptors (DNAM-1, TIGIT, CD96).

Interactions between inhibitory NK cell receptors such as NKG2A and inhibitory KIRs with their respective self-HLA class I ligands result in functional maturation and self-tolerance of NK cells. This mechanism, called education or licensing, results in increased responsiveness of NK cells against target cells and a retained tolerance against healthy cells. Uneducated cells lacking the expression of inhibitory receptors or the engagement of inhibitory receptors with the specific ligands remain hyporesponsive and are less effective in killing target cells [42,43].

1.2.3 Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors and their ligands

KIRs are a family of NK cell receptors that are involved in the tight regulation of NK cell function during health and disease. The group of type I transmembrane glycoproteins are expressed on the surface of NK cells and a subset of T cells and can mediate either activating or inhibitory signals after interacting with specific HLA class I molecules on the

surface of other cells [44]. KIR genes are located on chromosome 19q13.4 and encode 15 highly polymorphic genes (KIR2DL1, KIR2DL2, KIR2DL3, KIR2DL4, KIR2DL5A, KIR2DL5B, KIR2SD1, KIR2DS2, KIR2DS3, KIR2DS4, KIR2DS5, KIR3DL1, KIR1DS1, KIR3DL2, KIR3DL3), which have been divided into two haplotypes, namely A and B. Both haplotypes are present in all human populations to a similar extend. While they share the presence of several inhibitory KIR genes, they mainly differ in the number of activating KIRs. Haplotype A has one activating KIR (KIR2DS4) and haplotype B can include up to five activating KIRs [44,45]. Furthermore, the inhibitory KIR2DL5 and KIR2DL2 are exclusively assigned to haplotype B [46]. The highly polymorphic KIR alleles lead to various KIR expression patterns between individuals and the high numbers of different KIRs expressed enable sensing of changes in HLA class I expression on target cells [47]. KIRs are highly polymorphic; however, they are structurally closely related. They are type I transmembrane glycoproteins which differ in the presence of two (KIR2D) or three (KIR3D) extracellular Ig-like domains and a short (S) or a long (L) intracellular tail, providing the basis for the KIR nomenclature. KIRs are either inhibitory or activating, depending on their intracellular composition. Inhibitory KIRs have a long cytoplasmic domain containing immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs (ITIMs), which recruit protein tyrosine phosphatases such as SHP1 or SHP2 upon ligand-mediated receptor crosslinking, leading to the transfer of inhibitory signals into the cell. In contrast, KIRs with short intracellular tails act as activating receptors and co-localize with adaptor molecules such as DAP12, that facilitate the activating signalling by immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activating motives (ITAMs) containing tyrosine residues that are phosphorylated upon activation [44] (Figure 3).

HLA class I molecules are grouped into classical (HLA-A, -B, -C) and non-classical (HLA-E, -F, -G) and are encoded on chromosome 6 [48]. KIRs mainly bind to classical HLA class I molecules, which are broadly expressed by almost every nucleated cell in the human body and are encoded by highly polymorphic genes. For most KIRs specific HLA class I molecules have been identified as functional ligands. KIR2DL1 and KIR2DL3 bind to HLA-C group 2 and group 1 molecules, respectively, and KIR3DL1 recognizes HLA-Bw4 molecules [45,49,50]. While most KIRs bind to classical HLA class I allotypes on the surface of normal healthy cells, a minority of KIRs also interact with non-classical KIR ligands. The activating KIR3DS1 is binding to open conformers (OCs) of HLA-F on the cell surface [51] and the structural and functional unconventional KIR2DL4 binds to HLA-G molecules [52]. KIR2DL4 contains a long intracellular tail that is associated with an ITAM-containing FcεRI-γ adaptor instead of a DAP12 protein, allowing the establishment of activating signals [53,54]. The structurally related but functional distinct inhibitory receptor KIR2DL5 is one of very few KIRs for which no HLA ligand has been identified so far. Recently, the poliovirus receptor (PVR, CD155) has been described as an interaction partner, making KIR2DL5 the first KIR

interacting with a non-HLA ligand [39–41]. More recently, KIR3DL3 has been described to interact with HHLA2, adding another KIR that binds to non-HLA molecules [55].



Figure 3: Interactions between KIRs and their cellular ligands. A KIRs are activating or inhibitory receptors characterized by a short cytoplasmic tail associated with an adapter protein (DAP12) containing immunoreceptor tyrosine-based activating motifs (ITAMs), or a long cytoplasmic tail with immunoreceptor tyrosine-based inhibitory motifs (ITIM), respectively. KIR2DL4 has a long intracellular tail that is associated with an ITAM-containing FccRI- γ adaptor, resulting in activating functions. KIRs further differ in their extracellular part by containing two or three extracellular domains. Classical KIR ligands are HLA class I molecules on the surface of other cells. KIR3DL3 and KIR2DL5 bind to the non-classical ligands HHLA2 and CD155, respectively. KIRs for which no ligands have been identified so far are marked in gray. **B** Signaling of activating KIRs in response to receptor crosslinking is mediated by phosphorylation of tyrosine residues within the ITAMs and a recruitment of Syk tyrosine kinases. Inhibitory signals are established by tyrosine phosphorylation of ITIMs and a recruitment of tyrosine phosphatases (SHP-1/2). KIR2DL4 represents an exception, as the receptor is associated with an ITAM containing adapter protein FccRI- γ enabling the establishment of activating signals.

1.2.3.1 KIR2DL5/CD155

KIR2DL5 (CD158f) is the most recently described KIR that is expressed by human T cells and NK cells [56]. KIR2DL5 was known as an orphan receptor with no identified ligands for a long time [57]. While the receptor shares similar structural patterns with other KIRs, its genetics are complicated by a duplication of the gene that is exclusively found in humans [58,59]. Like other KIRs, KIR2DL5 is genetically highly polymorphic and the 92 identified alleles (The Immuno Polymorphism Database, as of July 2022 [60]) are encoded by two different loci, designated as KIR2DL5A and KIR2DL5B, located on the telomeric and the centromeric part on chromosome 19 in the KIR locus, respectively [59]. KIR2DL5 genes are controlled by three structurally different promotor types, which, together with epigenetic modifications, define transcription and expression of the KIR2DL5 alleles [61]. While transcribed alleles are controlled by type I or type III promotors, silent KIR2DL5 genes are controlled by type II promotors [57,62]. In 2007, Estefania et al. generated the first monoclonal antibody directed against KIR2DL5 [63]. However, surface expression was mainly detected for molecules encoded by KIR2DL5A, in particular KIR2DL5A*001 [63]. It remains elusive if the KIR2DL5 antibody clone UP-R1 can only detect this allotype specifically or if other allotypes are not expressed on the cell surface. KIR2DL5 alleles exist in all ethnic populations with frequencies ranging between 26% and 86% and different contributions of the paralogues KIR2DL5A and KIR2DL5B. KIR2DL5 molecules are expressed by up to 15% of peripheral blood NK cells in healthy individuals encoding for KIR2DL5A*001 [57]. KIR2DL5 has a typical structure with two Ig-like domains of the D0-D2 type, which can also be found in the structurally closely related KIR2DL4 [56]. While KIR2DL4 binds to HLA-G [52], ligands for KIR2DL5 remained unknown for more than two decades. Therefore, the functional relevance of KIR2DL5 in human health and disease was not well understood. The cytoplasmic tail of KIR2DL5 contains a typical ITIM and an atypical ITIM, similar to an immunoreceptor tyrosine-based switch motif (ITSM) that is unique in the family of human KIRs [56]. Antibody crosslinking of naturally expressed KIR2DL5 led to inhibition of NK cell cytotoxicity [63]. Experiments using KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells demonstrated a SHP-2-dependant signalling upon receptor phosphorylation [64]. Recently, the nectin-like molecule CD155 (Necl-5, PVR) was described as a binding partner for KIR2DL5 by performing proteomic screenings [39,40], identifying one of the first KIRs that does interact with other proteins than HLA class I molecules. Additionally, heparan sulfate proteoglycans have been identified as binding partners for several KIRs containing a D0 domain, including KIR2DL5 [65].

CD155 is a nectin-like molecule, also known as Necl-5, and is encoded by the *poliovirus receptor (PVR)* gene. Nectin and nectin-like molecules are members of the immunoglobulin superfamily, playing an important role in cell adhesion, cell movement, proliferation and survival [66,67]. A group of Nectin and nectin-like molecules has recently been identified as important regulator of NK cell function by interacting with the NK cell receptors DNAM-1, TIGIT and CD96 [38] (Figure 4). The activating DNAM-1 was initially described as an adhesion molecule that is involved in the control of NK cell-mediated cytotoxicity and is intensively studied. DNAM-1 is expressed by most resting NK cells and its ligands are CD112 (Nectin-2) and CD155 (PVR) [68]. Both, CD112 and CD155 are also recognized by

the inhibitory receptor TIGIT, while the inhibitory and/or activating CD96 interacts with CD111 (Nectin-1), CD112 and CD155 [69-71], revealing a highly balanced system impacting NK cell function. CD155 is expressed in most adult organs at low levels and to a higher degree in regenerating liver tissues and on antigen-presenting cells (APCs) [72,73]. CD155 expression is regulated by cellular stress and is often upregulated in the setting of transformed cells and during viral infections [72,74,75]. Overexpression of CD155 in tumors is associated with enhanced tumor cell movement and proliferation, making it an unfavourable tumor marker as an indicator for cancer invasiveness and metastasis [76]. CD155 upregulation is mediated through several signalling pathways, including the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase and nuclear factor-kB (NFkB) pathways and the DNA damage responses (DDR) [72,74,77,78]. The later has especially been associated with changes in CD155 expression during viral infections, as the DNA damage sensors can detect foreign genetic material and function as a cell intrinsic immune pathway [79-81]. Furthermore, CD155 expression is upregulated on APCs in response to toll-like receptor activation [72]. In general, CD155 has an immune stimulating effect, especially by interacting with the activating receptor DNAM-1. Elevated CD155 expression levels on virus-infected cells potentially trigger DNAM-1-mediated NK cell recognition. Some viruses have evolved mechanisms to impair CD155 expression [82,83], potentially to counteract DNAM-1-dependant NK cell activation, further highlighting the importance of the interaction for the control of viral infections. Recently, the inhibitory KIR2DL5 has been described to also interact with CD155 [39,40], adding another NK cell receptor to this axis.



Figure 4: Interactions between NK cell receptors and nectin/nectin-like molecules. Nectin and nectin-like molecules contribute to the tight regulation of NK cell functions by interacting with inhibitory and activating NK cell receptors. The activating DNAM-1 receptor interacts with CD155 and CD112. CD96 expressed on NK cells can mediate both, activating or inhibitory signals after binding to CD111 and CD155. The inhibitory TIGIT receptor is a binding partner of CD155, CD112 and CD113, and KIR2DL5 binds to CD155 on the surface of other cells.

1.2.3.2 KIR3DS1/HLA-F

The activating KIR3DS1 is associated with the outcome of several human diseases [47,84]. The *KIR3DS1* gene is present with varying frequencies in all human populations and is encoded in the *KIR3DL1/S1* gene locus [85]. In comparison to most other KIRs, KIR3DS1 represents a less polymorphic variant [85] with 39 identified alleles in humans (The Immuno Polymorphism Database, as of July 2022 [60]). The frequency of KIR3DS1-expressing NK cells in one individual can range between 10-80%, also depending on homo- or heterozygosity of the KIR3DS1 allele [84]. While KIR3DL1 and KIR3DS1 share the same gene locus as well as a very similar extracellular domain, they differ fundamentally in functionality and ligand specificity. In contrast to the inhibitory KIR3DL1, KIR3DS1 is an activating receptor, mediating NK cell cytotoxicity and IFNγ production [86]. While KIR3DS1 represents the only activating KIR with three extracellular domains, it contains a typical short cytoplasmic tail that allows recruitment of DAP12 adaptor molecules establishing activating

Introduction

signals. Ligands for KIR3DL1 are well established, including the classical HLA class I molecules HLA-A and HLA-B with a Bw4 motif [49,87]. However, for KIR3DS1 specific ligands remained unknown, except one study describing a peptide-dependent binding of KIR3DS1 to HLA-B*57:01 [88]. Genetic association studies repeatedly highlighted a correlation of *KIR3DS1* and the disease outcome of HIV-1 infection in patients encoding for HLA-Bw4 [89,90], however, direct interactions between KIR3DS1 and HLA-Bw4 have not been described. Furthermore, KIR3DS1 has been linked to different outcomes of several other viral infections [51,91–95] as well as malignancies [96,97]. In 2018, Garcia-Beltran et al. showed a high affinity interaction of KIR3DS1 with open conformers (OCs) of the non-classical HLA-F molecule, leading to degranulation of KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells and production of antiviral cytokines [51].

HLA-F is less polymorphic compared to other HLA class I molecules and also differs in expression patterns [98]. While classical HLA class I molecules are broadly expressed on most cell types, HLA-F is described as a stress-induced self-molecule being upregulated on activated and virus-infected cells [51,93,99,100]. HLA class I complexes consist of a membrane-bound heavy chain, including three extracellular domains ($\alpha 1/2/3$) and an associated β_2 -microglobulin (β_2 m). The extracellular domains $\alpha 1$ and $\alpha 2$ form a binding groove, loaded with antigenic peptides (Figure 5) [101]. HLA class I molecules can also exist in a second structural form known as HLA class I OCs, consisting of the heavy chain without associated β_2 m or a bound peptide [102] (Figure 5). Several studies have suggested that HLA-F is dominantly expressed as OCs in response to cellular stress [103,104]. In comparison to other HLA class I molecules that are rather unstable as OCs, HLA-F OCs appear to be more stable [99,105]. Initially, HLA-F was one of the least studied HLA class I molecules, as the clinical relevance and biological function was poorly understood. In recent years, several studies have revealed an important function of HLA-F in combination with its newly discovered interaction partner KIR3DS1 in several infectious diseases [51,93-95,99,106].



Figure 5: Conformations of HLA class I molecules. Most KIRs bind to HLA class I molecules (HLA-A/-B/-C,-E,-G), which are mainly presented as complexes consisting of a membrane bound heavy-chain (α 1/2/3) associated with β_2 m and loaded with a peptide. HLA class I open conformers consists of only the alpha-heavy chain without β_2 m and peptide.

1.3 KIRs in viral infections

KIRs are involved in the tight regulation of the antiviral NK cell activity and contribute to the recognition of activated, stressed and infected cells [47]. The outcome of viral infections varies between individuals. Specific host genetic factors have been associated with different courses of viral diseases, including delayed progression to HIV-caused acquired immunodeficiency syndrome (AIDS) and a better control and increased rate of spontaneous clearance of HCV infection [107]. The KIR and HLA loci represent the most polymorphic regions within the human genome and allelic profiles are highly variable between individuals. Specific KIR-HLA combinations have been correlated with different outcomes of infectious diseases, autoimmunity and inflammatory disorders [108].

Little is known about the impact of *KIR2DL5* in the context of viral infections. A few studies suggest *KIR2DL5* to be beneficial for the course of HIV-1 infection [109,110], while others show a poor outcome of infection of HIV-1 and HCV infection [111,112]. A more intensively studied KIR in the context of viral infections is *KIR3DS1*. In several gene association studies, *KIR3DS1* has been associated with a protective effect against HIV-1 and HCV infection [91,113]. In combination with HLA-Bw4 it has been associated with spontaneous clearance of HCV infection [114] as well as with slower progression to AIDS [89,90]. More recent *in vitro* studies showed that KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells contribute to the control of HIV-1, HCV, HAdV and BKPyV infection by interacting with HLA-F on the surface of infected cells [51,93–95]. Furthermore, *KIR2DL3* together with its ligand *HLA-C1* was identified to be

associated with a protective effect and better clearance of HCV infection [114,115], while the combination of *KIR2DS3/HLA-C2* was identified to be a risk factor for developing chronic HCV infection [116]. Taking together, increasing numbers of studies observing disease associations implicate an important impact of KIR/ligand interactions for the outcome of HIV-1 and HCV infection.

1.4 Persistent viral infections

Viruses are small obligate intracellular infectious agents that can only replicate in living cells of a host organism such as humans. Persistent infections are caused by viruses establishing a latent or chronic infection after an early acute phase of the disease. These viruses are not cleared by infected individuals and remain in specific host cells. Among others, HIV, causing AIDS, and HCV, leading to chronic hepatitis C, are able to lead to persistent infection (Figure 6). Additional viruses causing chronic infections are adenoviruses (AdV), BK polyomavirus (BKPyV), hepatitis B virus (HBV) and the human cytomegalovirus (HCMV) [117].



Figure 6: Structure of the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV, left) and the hepatitis C virus (HCV, right). Both viruses are enveloped by a lipid membrane harbouring glycoproteins and contain a single-stranded RNA genome, which is associated with a nucleocapsid. The HIV genome is furthermore surrounded by a capsid and a matrix and encodes for several structural and accessory proteins as well as viral enzymes. The HCV genome encodes a polyprotein that is cleaved into structural and non-structural proteins.

1.4.1 Human immunodeficiency virus

HIV is a lentivirus and belongs to the family of retroviruses. HIV originally derived from nonhuman primates, has spread to human populations approximately in the late 19th or early 20th century and was first described in 1983 [118–120]. Left untreated, HIV infection causes

Introduction

a chronic infection ultimately leading to AIDS. In the end of 2020, over 37 million people were living with HIV and about 680.000 people died from HIV-related causes (WHO, as of June 2021 [121]), highlighting that HIV infection remains a major global health issue.

HIV mainly infects human immune cells that express the CD4 receptor, which primarily are CD4⁺ T lymphocytes, but also monocytes, macrophages and DCs [72]. Viral particles can be detected in several body fluids, such as blood, sperm, vaginal fluid and breast milk, leading to transmission of the virus mainly through sexual contact, mother-to-child transmission or through intravenous drug usage [122]. The course of infection can be divided in different phases. After an incubation time of about three weeks, the acute phase of the infection occurs, which is marked by flu-like symptoms and a high viral load together with a first decrease in CD4⁺ T cell numbers. Following the acute phase, HIV establishes the phase of clinical latency that is characterized by mild to no symptoms and a very low to not detectable viral loads in the blood plasma. During this phase, the CD4⁺ T cell counts drop below a critical level, initiating the development of AIDS [119]. Due to the massive destruction of immune cells, the immune systems becomes weakened and the infected individuals are more susceptible to opportunistic infections and AIDS-related cancer [123,124].

Antiretroviral therapy (ART) can slow down the spread of the virus and the development of AIDS. Since 1996, the highly active antiretroviral therapy (HAART) was introduced, which is a combination drug therapy targeting the viral life cycle. HAART can prevent AIDS almost completely and viral loads are decreased to undetectable levels, resulting in a diminished risk for further transmission [125]. Life expectancy and quality has improved strongly for people living with HIV under HAART. However, the lifelong treatment causes several side effects, such as metabolic diseases and liver and kidney dysfunction [126–128]. Furthermore, there is limited access to HAART for HIV-positive individuals living in developing countries and the high mutation rates of the virus harbour the risk of developing viral resistances to the therapy [129]. Taking this together, there is still a need to further unravel cellular and immunological mechanisms in HIV infection to find new targets for novel therapy approaches to treat HIV infection that can overcome current limitations of HAART. HIV is phylogenetically divided into two types, namely HIV-1 and HIV-2, which are further divided in several subtypes. Most HIV infections are caused by HIV-1 subtype M that has a high virulence and infectivity. Subtype M is further divided in nine genetically distinguished clades (A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, J and K), which have a different prevalence around the world [119]. In North America and Europe, HIV-1 M clade B is the most common and most frequently studied subtype [130]. HIV is a single-stranded enveloped RNA virus that is reverse transcribed into double-stranded DNA in the host cell. The viral reverse transcriptase is highly error-prone, introducing a high rate of mutations into the viral

Introduction

genome. Due to this high mutation rate, HIV is able to effectively escape the host immune response and to develop drug resistances [131,132]. Furthermore, viral DNA is integrated into the host cell genome, allowing the persistence of HIV in long-living resting T cells in a transcriptionally silent state [133]. These latently infected cells cannot be targeted by the currently common ARTs [134]. The HIV-1 genome is composed of nine genes including three genes encoding structural proteins and enzymes (gag, env and pol) and six genes encoding for accessory and regulatory proteins (vif, vpu, vpr, nef, tat, and rev). The highly conserved gag encodes for the matrix protein (p17), the nucleocapsid (p7) and the capsid (p24). Env is highly variable and encodes for the glycoproteins GP120 and GP41, which are involved in the attachment and the fusion of the particle with the target cell membrane. Pol encodes the viral enzymes (reverse transcriptase, protease and integrase) essential for the viral replication cycle. Tat and rev encode for proteins regulating viral transcription and protein expression. The accessory proteins encoded by vif, vpu, vpr and nef are indicated to mainly contribute to HIV infection by targeting cellular proteins to either redirect normal functions of the host protein or to inhibit the normal function of host factors by degradation or intracellular mislocalization [119,135]. Vif is critical for the infectivity of the viral particles and the multifunctional Vpr enhances viral replication. The viral protein u (Vpu) is involved in the efficient release of viral particles and facilitates degradation of CD4. Furthermore, vpu is involved in the downregulation of HLA-C and the antiviral factor tetherin from the surface of infected cells. Another protein important for viral fitness and remodelling of the host cell is the negative regulating factor (Nef). Nef is a membrane-associated protein expressed early in infection and mediates the downregulation of CD4, HLA-A, HLA-B and potentially CD155 surface expression to inhibit immune responses preventing recognition and killing of infected cells by HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells [41,82,135,136].

1.4.2 Hepatitis C virus

The 1989 identified HCV belongs to the family of flaviviridae and causes one of the most common infectious diseases. Globally, about 58 million people are living with chronic HCV infection and in 2019 an estimated 290.000 people died from HCV (WHO, as of June 2022 [137]). HCV infection often results in chronic hepatitis, leading to liver cirrhosis, liver cancer and ultimately the need for liver transplantation [138,139]. While most HCV-infected individuals develop a chronic infection, approximately 20% of the patients resolve acute infection in its early stage [138]. HCV transmission mainly occurs through blood-to-blood contact and primarily through parental exposure, contaminated blood products, medical equipment and intravenous drug use. In contrast to HIV-1, sexual transmission of HCV is reported to a lesser extent [140]. The primary targets of HCV are human hepatocytes [141].

The hepatotropic virus is non-cytopathic; however, during infection constant immune activation leads to severe liver damage [142]. In the acute phase of infection, viral load increases rapidly and the first line of response is driven by the innate immune system, including type I and type III interferon production by infected cells and immune cells like macrophages and DCs, leading to activation and regulation of other immune cells such as NK cells [143]. In general, NK cells are important effector cells during the acute phase of infection, as they are highly activated and show increased cytotoxicity and production of IFN γ [12]. Therefore, NK cells play an important role in preventing the establishment of chronic infection.

The development of novel therapy approaches using direct antiviral agents (DAA) enables a better clinical outcome in HCV infection with sustained virological responses of over 95% [144]. In contrast to previous treatments with Pegylated-Interferon- α and Ribavirin, DAA specifically target HCV-encoded proteins, resulting in cure from HCV infection [145].

HCV is an enveloped RNA virus, harbouring a single-stranded viral RNA that is surrounded by a nucleocapsid (core) and an envelope carrying the glycoproteins E1 and E2 (Figure 5). The viral genome encodes for a polyprotein that is cleaved into the structural proteins (Core, E1 and E2) and several non-structural proteins (NS1, NS2, NS4A, NS4B, NS5A, NS5B) including viral proteases, an RNA helicase and a RNA-dependent RNA polymerase [146]. Due to a high degree of sequence variations, the structural proteins are involved in different immune evasion mechanisms of HCV. The envelope is targeted by neutralizing antibodies and can, due to mutations in the expressing genes, facilitate the development of a persistent infection [147]. The non-structural proteins are essential for viral replication and represent the major target for DAA therapy [148]. The lack of proof-reading function of the RNAdependent RNA polymerase results in a high error rate, making the HCV genome highly variable and leading to the existence of several genotypes. Today, seven genotypes (1a, 1b, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6) and hundreds of subtypes are known. In Europe, the most prevalent variant is genotype 1. In general, genotype 1, 2, 4 and 5 are endemic in Africa, while the genotypes 3 and 6 are most common in Asia [149]. The high degree of variability, especially in the structural proteins, leads to the ability of HCV to adapt to the host immune system and to develop resistances to antiviral drugs.

2 Hypothesis and aims of the project

NK cells play an important role in regulating a coordinated immune control during viral infections and are associated with the outcomes of HIV-1 and HCV infection. In this thesis, I studied the antiviral activity of different NK cell populations in HIV-1 and HCV infection, especially with regards to KIR2DL5⁺ and KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells. To address a potential antiviral effect of these NK cell subsets, this thesis focused on two aims:

Aim 1: The validation of novel KIR2DL5 ligands and the assessment of functional consequences of interactions between KIR2DL5 and CD155 for KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells.

Aim 2: Investigating changes in KIR ligand surface expression levels during viral infections in order to unravel the mechanisms involved in antiviral activity of KIR2DL5 and KIR3DS1 expressing NK cells during HIV-1 and HCV infection.

It was previously suggested that HIV-1 is able to modulate CD155 expression levels on the surface of infected cells [80,82,150,151]. Furthermore, genetic studies showed an association between individuals encoding for *KIR3DS1* and a better outcome in HCV infection [91,96,114]. Therefore, the following hypotheses were tested:

Hypothesis 1: Interactions between KIR2DL5 and CD155 lead to reduced antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. HIV-1 downregulates CD155 to escape DNAM-1-dependent NK cell recognition, resulting in increased antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells.

Hypothesis 2: HCV infection induces an upregulation of the KIR3DS1 ligand HLA-F, leading to an increased viral inhibition by KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells.

Discussion

3 Discussion

NK cells are part of the innate immune system and play an important role in the early control of HIV-1 and HCV infection, enabling a fast response during the early stage of infection that can result in slower disease progression or prevention from the establishment of a chronic infection. During persistent viral infections caused by viruses such as HIV-1 and HCV, the host and virus are in a constant conflict between developing a sufficient antiviral immune response and the development of viral immune escape mechanisms [107]. Viruses tend to modulate the expression of surface molecules on infected cells, primarily to avoid immune recognition by cells of the innate and adaptive immune system. At the same time, infected cells alter their surface protein expression pattern by virus independent cell intrinsic mechanisms in response to viral infections. However, these changes are often sensed by specific immune cell subsets. Several NK cell populations, characterized by the expression of specific receptors such as KIRs, have been associated with a better control of viral replication and a better outcome in HIV-1 and HCV infection [47]. In this thesis, I aimed to assess the impact of viral infection-caused changes of surface levels of novel ligands for KIRs on the antiviral activity of different KIR⁺ NK cell populations. While most KIRs involved in antiviral activity of NK cells bind to classical HLA class I molecules, we hypothesized that KIRs binding to non-classical ligands, such as CD155 and HLA-F, display an additional important group of receptors contributing to the antiviral activity of NK cells.

The focus of the thesis was (i) to assess the antiviral potential of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells during HIV-1 infection regarding interactions of KIR2DL5 with the novel ligand CD155, and (ii) how interactions between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F contribute to the control of HCV replication. In study #1, we confirmed binding of KIR2DL5 to CD155 by performing a bead-based ligand screening and by using KIR2DL5 reporter cell lines. Furthermore, we investigated the functional consequences of the interaction and observed that effector functions of NK cells expressing KIR2DL5 are significantly inhibited by target cells expressing CD155, leading to decreased degranulation of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. HIV-1 significantly downregulated CD155 on the surface of infected cells using the viral protein Nef, resulting in increased antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells and a decreased HIV-1 replication in primary human CD4⁺ T cells *in vitro* [41].

In study #2, we found that the KIR3DS1 ligand HLA-F is upregulated on HCV-infected cells. The upregulation was observed *in vitro* by infecting the hepatoma cell line Huh7 with HCV as well as by using a chimeric humanized mouse models and primary liver tissue samples from HCV-infected individuals as *in vivo* models for HCV infection. Given the elevated HLA-F expression on HCV-infected cells, the role of KIR3DS1/HLA-F interactions in

controlling HCV replication was investigated. We observed stronger inhibition of HCV replication by KIR3DS1⁺ compared to KIR3DS1⁻ NK cells, providing a potential mechanism behind previous observations reporting a genetic association between *KIR3DS1* and spontaneous viral clearance in HCV-infected patients [91,94].

3.1 Impact of KIR2DL5-CD155 interactions on NK cell activity

The NK cell receptor KIR2DL5 was known as orphan receptor [57] until recently CD155 has been described as ligand [39,40]. Due to the lack of known interaction partners, the functional impact of KIR2DL5 for NK cells was not well understood. As KIR2DL5 shares a similar structure with other inhibitory KIRs, including the expression of an intracellular ITIM domain, KIR2DL5 was suggested to also contribute to inhibition of NK cells [57]. Experiments using KIR2DL5-transduced NK92 cells and primary NK cells revealed an inhibitory function by crosslinking the receptor with a KIR2DL5 specific antibody, leading to a comparable inhibition observed for KIR3DL1 [63]. Binding of KIR2DL5-Fc fusion proteins to several cell lines expressing different HLA class I allotypes resulted in broad binding, suggesting an HLA-independent interaction of KIR2DL5 with target cells [57]. This observation was supported by a study showing increased KIR2DL5 expression in a TAPdeficient patient [152]. TAP-deficiency leads to a loss of HLA class I surface expression [153], supporting the idea of a non-HLA ligand for KIR2DL5. Recently, it has been shown that several KIRs containing a D0 domain in the extracellular tail do interact with heparan sulfate, including KIR2DL5 [65]. However, functional consequences of the interaction for NK cells remain unknown. The interaction with heparan sulfate might explain a broad binding of KIR2DL5-Fc fusion constructs to several cell lines that we and others observed [57]. Pre-incubation of cell lines with a sulfate-free sulfation inhibition medium, that results in the absence of heparan sulfate on the cell surface as described by Klein et al. [65], led to an abrogation of the observed binding. In Figure 7, binding of KIR2DL5-Fc constructs to K562 cells that barely express CD155 on the cell surface is shown after cells were cultured in normal- or sulfate-free sulfation inhibition medium.



Figure 7: KIR2DL5-Fc construct binding to K562 cells with and without pre-incubation of the cells in sulfate-free sulfation inhibition medium. A K562 cells were incubated in normal cell culture medium and were stained with KIR2DL5-Fc constructs and a secondary IgG antibody (2ry) (red) or only with the 2ry antibody as a control (blue). **B** K562 cells were pre-incubated in sulfate-free sulfation inhibition medium to reduce heparan sulfate levels on the cell surface. Subsequently, cells were stained as described before.

Recently, the nectin-like molecule CD155 was described to be a binding partner of KIR2DL5 in a broad proteomic ligand screening [39], identifying the first KIR interacting with other molecules than HLA class I. Afterwards, the inhibitory KIR3DL3 has been shown to interact with HHLA2 [154], a molecule belonging the B7 protein family, adding a second KIR that binds to non-HLA ligands. The identification of non-HLA ligands for KIRs adds additional players to the complex regulation of NK cell functions, which so far have not been considered in most studies that investigated KIR-dependent NK cell function in health and disease.

During our studies, we showed binding of KIR2DL5 to CD155 and strong inhibition of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells upon CD155 binding [41]. As most other KIRs interact with HLA class I molecules, we additionally assessed binding of KIR2DL5 to HLA class I molecules. While KIR2DL3 showed strong interactions with its known ligands of the HLA-C1 family, KIR2DL5 did not strongly bind to any of the tested HLA molecules. However, one could interpret a weak interaction of KIR2DL5-Fc fusion proteins with some proteins of the HLA-C2 group. More specifically, we observed a possible slight interaction of KIR2DL5-Fc with HLA-C*06:02. However, compared to our positive control using KIR2DL3-Fc, the signal was very low. We conducted additional experiments to assess potential binding of KIR2DL5 to HLA-C*06:02, which showed the highest signal among all tested HLA class I molecules. We did not observe any interaction or functional activation (CD69 expression) in those follow-up experiments using KIR2DL5-expressing Jurkat reporter cells (KIR2DL5 JRC) and HLA-C*06:02-transduced 721.221 cells compared to the controls (Figure 8). We therefore

conclude that the minimal binding observed in the KIR2DL5-Fc ligand screening assays does not represent a biologically relevant interaction. However, additional experiments and a higher sample size are required to further elaborate potential interactions of KIR2DL5 with HLA class I molecules.



Figure 8: KIR2DL5 reporter cells are not activated upon co-cultivation with HLA-C*06:02expressing 721.221 cells. KIR2DL5-expressing Jurkat reporter cells (KIR2DL5 JRC) were cocultivated with anti-KIR2DL5-coated beads (positive control, gray), untransduced 721.221 cells (blue) and HLA-C*06:02-transduced 721.221 cells (red) or were left unstimulated (unstim., white). JRCs expressed a chimeric protein consisting of the extracellular domain of KIR2DL5 that was fused to an intracellular CD3 ζ chain. Activation of the JRCs was determined by CD69 upregulation that served as a readout for KIR2DL5 crosslinking. Graph shows values from one experiment (*n*=1).

However, a potential interaction of KIR2DL5 with HLA class I molecules could be modulated or dependent on peptides presented by the HLA class I molecules. Several studies have shown an influence of peptide loading on the binding affinity of KIRs to their respective HLA ligands [155–158]. The peptide repertoire presented by HLA molecules can vary between self-peptides and pathogen-induced or non-self-peptides [159]. Several viruses have developed mechanisms to mimic self-peptides of the host cell or to produce viral peptides that alter binding of NK receptors. For example, it was shown that presented HIV-1 epitopes can modulate binding of inhibitory KIRs, leading to escape from NK cell recognition. HLA-Cw*01:02-restricted HIV-1 p24 epitopes and variants presented by HLA-C*03:04 were sufficient to stabilize HLA-C and were recognized by KIR2DL2 leading to inhibition of KIR2DL2⁺ NK cells [156,157]. Furthermore, HLA-C*03:04-restricted HIV-1 p24 Gag sequence variants are associated with viral escape from KIR2DL3⁺ NK cells [158]. Also virus-independent peptides have been shown to modulate KIR binding, such as peptidespecific engagement of the activating NK cell receptor KIR2DS1 [155]. Altogether, it might be possible that KIR2DL5 binds to HLA molecules under specific conditions.

NK cell effector function is strongly regulated by activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors and among them, a group of receptors bind to molecules of the nectin and nectin-like family [38]. The interaction between KIR2DL5 and CD155 adds another axis to the complex regulation of NK cells by molecules of the nectin and nectin-like family, raising evidence that these interactions play an important role for NK cell function also during the course of infections. CD155 is often referred to as an NK cell activating ligand due to interactions with the activating receptor DNAM-1 [38,82]. However, two additional NK cell receptors that bind to CD155, namely CD96 and TIGIT possess inhibitory motives counterbalancing DNAM-1mediated activation of NK cells [38]. Functional consequences of interactions between CD96 and its ligands are not fully understood, as CD96 potentially can mediate inhibitory and activating signals [71]. DNAM-1 is expressed by most human peripheral blood NK cells [160] and is therefore co-expressed with KIR2DL5 (Figure 9). We observed that KIR2DL5-CD155-mediated inhibitory signals overcome possible activating signals introduced through DNAM-1, as degranulation (CD107a expression) of primary KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells in response to CD155⁺ target cells decreased compared to CD155⁻ target cells (Figure 9). Furthermore, TIGIT expression is comparable between KIR2DL5⁺ and KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells. However, only KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells showed decreased degranulation against CD155⁺ target cells, while TIGIT expression alone seems not to be sufficient to completely inhibit KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells (Figure 9). Of note, in our study we observed similar decrease in degranulation, when we incubated KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells with CD155-transduced compared to untransduced 721.221 target cells [41]. This observation indicates an important impact of KIR2DL5 for NK cell function and missing-self recognition of target cells by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells.



Figure 9: Expression patterns of CD155-binding NK cell receptors and NK cell degranulation in response to CD155⁻ (721.221) and CD155⁺ (Jurkat E6.1) target cells. NK cell receptor (KIR2DL5, DNAM-1, TIGIT) and CD107a expressions are depicted as histograms showing the fluorescence intensities on NK cells. Expression patterns are shown for KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells (unfilled) and KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells (filled) that were unstimulated (gray), co-incubated with CD155⁻ 721.221 cells (blue) or CD155⁺ Jurkat E6.1 cells (red).

A specific interaction between KIR2DL5 and CD155 was reported by using transfected cell lines and surface plasmon resonance (SPR) [39,40]. However, the affinity of KIR2DL5binding to CD155 remains currently unknown. In the initial screening identifying the novel interaction, the binding of CD155 to DNAM-1 and TIGIT was stronger compared to interactions with KIR2DL5 [39]. Even though the binding affinity of DNAM-1 to CD155 seems to be higher, we observed that inhibitory signals mediated through KIR2DL5 binding to CD155 were overcoming activating signals, which is in line with the dominant inhibition of NK cells mediated by HLA specific inhibitory KIRs [31]. While KIR2DL5 binds to a non-classical ligand, the functional features of the receptor seem to be similar to those of other ITIM-containing inhibitory KIRs.

KIR2DL5 is expressed on up to 10% of peripheral blood NK cells in healthy individuals encoding for the expressed *KIR2DL5A*001* gene [57], while other receptors recognizing CD155 exhibit a broader expression pattern [160,161]. To study KIR2DL5⁺ NK cell function, we either used KIR2DL5 specific antibodies to distinguish between KIR2DL5⁻ and KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells via flow cytometry, or generated NK cell clones either positive or negative for KIR2DL5 on the cell surface. In viral inhibition experiments we used NK cell clones to ensure that the NK cells employed were either 100% positive or negative for KIR2DL5 expression (Figure 10). This enabled a direct comparison of KIR2DL5⁺ and KIR2DL5⁻ NK cell function, without having mixed effects. Using NK cell clones furthermore enabled us to phenotypically characterize the NK cells for co-expression of the other known CD155-interacting NK cell receptors TIGIT, DNAM-1 and CD96. While the NK cell clones differed significantly in KIR2DL5 expression (p value = 0.002), no significant differences between the two groups for the other markers were observed (Figure 10).



Figure 10: Phenotyping of KIR2DL5⁻ and KIR2DL⁺ NK cell clones. KIR2DL5⁻ NK cell clones (blue) and KIR2DL5⁺ NK cell clones (red) were stained for KIR2DL5, TIGIT, DNAM-1 and CD96 expression. Receptor expression levels are depicted as histograms showing the fluorescence intensities.

The fact that only a minority of *KIR2DL5* genes are transcribed and even fewer are expressed on the cell surface (mainly KIR2DL5A*001) [57] may explain why a genetically polymorphic receptor interacts with a conserved molecule such as CD155. However, as discussed above, KIR2DL5 potentially also binds to more polymorphic ligands, such as HLA molecules, under specific conditions, e.g. a certain peptide repertoire.

It has been reported that KIR2DL5 expression is not correlated with the expression of other KIRs [56,63]. Furthermore, the existence of NK cell subsets expressing KIR2DL5 but no other inhibitory receptors like NKG2A or KIRs has been described [57]. This raises the question whether NK cells can be licensed via KIR2DL5 and more specifically through the interaction of KIR2DL5 with CD155. Mechanisms of NK cell education via interactions of NK cell receptors with non-classical and non-HLA ligands have been indicated [42]. The existence of NK cells only expressing KIR2DL5 as an inhibitory receptor indicates a capacity of KIR2DL5 to license NK cells. This assumption is further strengthened by the observation of increased numbers of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells and a retained cytotoxic capacity of resting NK cells in a patient with TAP-deficiency [57,152]. TAP-deficiency results in loss of HLA class I surface expression [153]. Therefore, an HLA class I-dependent education is not possible and the retained cytotoxic capacity together with increased KIR2DL5 levels indicate a KIR2DL5 and non-HLA class I-mediated education of those NK cells, potentially by interactions of KIR2DL5 with CD155. However, further functional analyses are required to unravel a potential impact of KIR2DL5 in combination with or without CD155 on NK cell education.

Discussion

3.2 KIR2DL5 in HIV-1 infection

Due to the fact that no functional ligands were known for a long time, little is known about the impact of KIR2DL5 on human health, the course of infections and the development of autoimmune diseases. In our study, we observed that the HIV-1-mediated downregulation of CD155 on infected cells results in an increased antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells, showing for the first time functional consequences of KIR2DL5-CD155 interactions in an *in vitro* infection model.

So far, only a few genetic studies have suggested associations between individuals encoding for KIR2DL5 and the outcome of infectious diseases. While in some studies the existence of a *KIR2DL5* gene was suggested to be beneficial for the outcome of infections, others observed an increased susceptibility to viral infections or a reduced response to treatments (table 1). Recent studies showed an association between KIR2DL5 and a reduced mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 in infants born by HIV-1-infected mothers [109] and in HIV-1-exposed but uninfected infants [110], supporting my hypothesis of the importance of KIR2DL5 antiviral activity. In contrast, another genetic study describes a higher susceptibility of KIR2DL5-positive individuals to viral infections such as HIV-1 [111]. Furthermore, there is evidence that KIR2DL5-positive individuals have a higher potential to spontaneously clear HBV infection [162,163]. Additional studies described an increased susceptibility to HCV [112] and non-response to antiviral treatment [164]. Interestingly, KIR2DL5 was associated with decreased susceptibility to HCMV infection [165]. This is in particular noteworthy as HCMV is able to downregulate CD155 [83], potentially representing an additional virus that is aiming to escape DNAM-1-mediated NK cell recognition and thereby becomes vulnerable to recognition by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. Further studies describe an increased susceptibility as well as a beneficial effect on the course of malaria infection [166,167], and an association with severe influenza A (H1N1) infections [168]. Nevertheless, as there was no discrimination between KIR2DL5A and KIR2DL5B alleles in most studies, the relevance of the results remains elusive. In future genetic association studies, a discrimination between the different KIR2DL5 gens should be considered with focus on the expressed KIR2DL5A*001. Furthermore, many of the before mentioned studies analyzed populations of different geographical regions. As KIR2DL5 allele frequencies vary between different populations [57], the results might not be applicable for all human populations.

Infection	Observation	Reference
	Decreased susceptibility	[110]
HIV-1	Decreased susceptibility	[109]
	Increased susceptibility	[111]
	Viral clearance	[162]
НВИ	Viral clearance	[163]
	Increased susceptibility	[112]
HCV	Decreased response to antiviral treatment	[164]
СМУ	Decreased susceptibility	[165]
Malaria	Increased susceptibility	[166]
Malaria	Beneficial for course of infection	[167]
Influenza A	Associated with severe pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 infections	[168]

Table 1: Genetic associations of *KIR2DL5* and infectious diseases:

In our studies, we focused on the impact of KIR2DL5 on HIV-1 infection by investigating the antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. Some tumors and viruses downmodulate HLA class I on the cell surface, mainly to evade recognition by cytotoxic T cells, and thereby become targets for NK cells. HIV-1 evolved several mechanisms to modulate the expression of surface proteins that act as activating ligands for immune cell receptors to impair immune recognition of infected cells, including the downregulation of HLA class I molecules and stress induced ligands such as the NKG2D ligands MICA, ULBP1 and ULBP2 [169–173]. HIV-1 encodes for the two accessory proteins Nef and Vpu, which primarily function to alter the presence and location of cell surface proteins to increase viral fitness and to escape immune recognition. We found that HIV-1 strains downmodulate CD155 on the surface of infected cells, which serves as a ligand for KIR2DL5 [41]. Other studies also suggested a modulation of CD155 by HIV-1. However, the impact of HIV-1 on CD155 levels was discussed controversially, as some studies described a downmodulation [82,150], while others showed increased levels of surface CD155 [80] or no changes at all [151]. As most experiments were performed by using cell lines and pseudotyped viruses, we decided to analyze the capability of lab-adapted and primary full-length HIV-1 strains to regulate CD155 surface levels on primary human CD4⁺ T cells. It might seem counterintuitive that virus-induced downregulation of CD155 renders cells more vulnerable to killing by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. However, downregulation of CD155 by HIV-1 has probably evolved to avoid DNAM-1-mediated NK recognition, at the same time rendering HIV-1-infected cells

Discussion

more vulnerable to KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. In additional experiments using Nef-deficient viruses, we observed that the viral protein Nef is involved in the downregulation of CD155 [41]. Nef is a membrane-associated protein expressed early in infection. Nef induces the downregulation of CD4 by recruiting the clathrin adaptor protein AP-2 leading to endocytosis of CD4 and ultimately lysosomal degradation (Figure 11). In addition, Nef downmodulates HLA class I molecules and especially HLA-A and HLA-B molecules from the cell surface to inhibit adaptive immune responses, preventing recognition and killing by HIV-specific CD8⁺ T cells [135] (Figure 11). Two mechanisms of Nef-mediated downregulation of HLA class I have been suggested. Nef might either mediate complex formation with AP-1 in the golgi aparatus, resulting in endocytosis and lysosomal degradation [174] and/or actively remove HLA class I molecules from the downmodulation of CD155 are unknown. However, there is evidence that Nef uses the same motifs to downregulate CD155 as for the downregulation of HLA class I molecules [82].



Figure 11: The viral protein Nef downregulates host-cell surface molecules to facilitate immune evasion. Nef induces downregulation of MHC class I molecules by binding to AP-1 and MHC-I, leading to endocytosis and lysosomal degradation. A potential additional mechanism is the downregulation directly from the cell surface by internalization and retention at the trans-golgi network. For the downregulation of CD4, Nef recruits AP-2 linking CD4 to clatherin-mediated endocytosis resulting in lysosmal degradation. The exact mechanism involved in Nef-mediated downregulation of CD155 is unknown.

In addition to Nef, it has been reported that the viral protein Vpu might also be involved in downregulation of CD155 [82,150], while others described no involvement of Vpu in CD155 modulation or exclusively for individual patient isolates [151,175]. Beside the effect of Nef on CD155 levels, we therefore also investigate Vpu-mediated downregulation of CD155 on infected cells, using Vpu-deficient and Nef/Vpu double knock out (KO) viruses of the primary patient isolate CH198 (Figure 12). Our data suggested a minor effect of Vpu on the cell surface expression of CD155, as CD155 levels were slightly (but not significantly) increased on cells infected with the Vpu-deficient virus compared to cells infected with the wild type virus. By using a Nef/Vpu double KO virus, this effect was more pronounced, indicating that Vpu together with Nef might be involved in the modulation of CD155 expression. However, substantially more experiments and data would be required to investigate possible functional consequences for NK cells.



Figure 12: Impact of HIV-1 Nef and Vpu on the downregulation of CD155 on infected CD4⁺ T cells. HIV-1 CH198 wild type (wt) was compared to Δ Nef, Δ Vpu and Δ Nef/ Δ Vpu mutant viruses and analyzed for their ability to downmodulate CD155. The relative change of CD155 expression is shown for wt (white), Δ Nef (red), Δ Vpu (blue) and Δ Nef/ Δ Vpu (grey) mutant viruses. Mann-Whitney test was used to calculate differences between the downregulation of CD155 by CH198 wt, Δ Nef, Δ Vpu and Δ Nef/ Δ Vpu mutant viruses.

The different viral strains analized in our study showed variations in the degree of CD155 downregulation. It is known that different HIV-1 strains exhibit varying potentials to modulate cell surface molecules on infected cells, including HLA class I and HLA-E [176–178]. A reason might be that viruses used within the study were isolated at different time points after infection, and therefore evolved under different immune pressures mediated by NK
cells or CD8⁺ T cells. In our panel we included a chronic patient isolate (CH293), which showed the lowest ability to downmodulate CD155, indicating no advantage to maintain this function at a later stage of infection, when the immune pressure is impaired. While the Vpudeficient HIV-1 strain was not sufficient to completely abrogate CD155 downregulation (Figure 12), the stong effect observed when infecting with a Nef/Vpu double KO virus might suggest a synergic effect of Nef and Vpu on the downregulatory capacity of HIV-1. This is in line with a rising evidence, that the viral proteins Nef and Vpu partially function synergistically in an effort to escape immune recognition. In addition to a potential involvment of Nef and Vpu in CD155 downregulation [41,82], both proteins have also been shown to be involved in the downregulation of CD4 and the escape from ADCC [179,180]. Additionally, the involvement of the early viral protein Nef together with the late viral protein Vpu might be a mechanism to ensure continuous downregulation. However, our data do not suggest a clear role of Vpu, and we therefore cannot draw any conclusions on a possible involvement of Vpu.

To further analyze the Nef-mediated downregulation of CD155, we investigated the antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells in an *in vitro* model. By co-culturing CD4⁺ T cells infected with wild type or Nef-deficient HIV-1 strains together with autologous KIR2DL5⁺ or KIR2DL5⁻ NK cell clones, we observed a significantly impaired inhibition of viral replication by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells in the absence of Nef compared to wild type viruses encoding for a functional Nef that downregulates CD155. KIR2DL5⁻ NK cell populations also showed a slightly but not significantly reduced inhibition of Nef-deficient Viruses. It has been described that Nef is important for viral replication and that Nef-deficient HIV-1 strains might therefore have a reduced replication capacity [176,181–184]. However, comparing the inhibition of viral replications, KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells showed a significantly lower antiviral activity against Nef-deficient viruses compared to KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells, indicating a KIR2DL5-specific effect independent from a possible reduced viral replication capacity of Nef-deficient viruses.

Taking this together, we conclude that HIV-1 wild type infection leads to a Nef-dependent downregulation of CD155 on infected CD4⁺ T cells, resulting in loss of inhibition and subsequent antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells (Figure 13, left). Nef-deficient HIV-1 is not capable of downregulating CD155 leading to inhibition of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells and a reduced antiviral activity (Figure 13, right).



Figure 13: HIV-1 Nef-mediated downregulation of CD155 results in antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. CD155 inhibits the antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells and is downmodulated by HIV-1 Nef protein. Downregulation of CD155 by HIV-1 wild-type results in loss of inhibition and enhanced antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells (left). Nef-deficient HIV-1 (Δ Nef) does not downregulate CD155, leading to inhibition and reduced antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells (right).

In addition to Nef and a possible involvement of Vpu, Vassena et al. suggested the viral protein Vpr to be also involved in modulating CD155 surface levels [80]. Unexpectedly, this study described a Vpr-mediated upregulation of CD155 expression on HIV-1-infected cells via an activation of the ATR-mediated DDR pathway [80]. Increasing evidence indicate that CD155 can function as a stress-induced molecule, upregulated upon induction of the DDR in several settings [74,185]. Vpr induces a G₂ cell-cycle arrest and the activation of the DDR, which is a highly conserved process and thought to be important for virus production [186,187]. One could speculate that the upregulation of CD155 is a consequence of the Vpr-mediated activation of the DDR, which is counteracted by Nef (and potentially Vpu) to avoid DNAM-1-mediated immune recognition [80].

While we focused on the consequences of CD155 downregulation on HIV-1-infected cells for KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells, another important CD155 binding partner is the inhibitory NK cell receptor TIGIT. TIGIT is up-regulated by NK cells in response to HIV infection [188,189]. However, Vendrame et al. observed that TIGIT does not directly participate in the anti-HIV response, as blocking of TIGIT had no effect on the anti-HIV response of NK cells [188]. To control for TIGIT expression on NK cells during our experiments assessing the antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells, we used NK cell clones that were separated into KIR2DL5⁺ and KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells, while TIGIT was expressed on both NK cell populations to the same extend (Figure 10), enabling the investigation of a KIR2DL5-specific effect.

Of note, HIV-1 does not only infect CD4⁺ T cells but also macrophages [190,191], which do constitutively express CD155 [192]. Also on macrophages CD155 levels were decreased

during HIV-1 infection (data not shown, unpublished), providing a potential additional site of action for KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells that requires further investigation.

Taking together, we showed that KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells can sense changes of CD155 levels on target cells, leading to increased antiviral activity in response do HIV-1 Nef-mediated downregulation of CD155. These findings demonstrate the importance of KIR2DL5-CD155 interactions for the anti-HIV-1 effector function of NK cells from KIR2DL5-positive individuals and furthermore indicate a relevance of the interaction for other viral infections and in cancer.

3.3 Impact of KIR3DS1-HLA-F interactions on HCV infection

NK cells play a key role in the early control of HCV infection [143]. Genetic association studies repeatedly showed an association between individuals encoding for the activating NK cell receptor KIR3DS1 and the disease outcome including spontaneous clearance of HCV infection and a reduced risk to develop hepatocellular carcinoma [91,96]. In our study, we investigated the underlying mechanisms involving the impact of KIR3DS1-HLA-F interactions on the KIR3DS1-mediated immune response of NK cells during HCV infection. We observed that the KIR3DS1 ligand HLA-F is upregulated on HCV-infected cells by using cell culture systems, humanized mice and primary liver tissue from HCV-infected patients [94]. Finally, we showed that KIR3DS1-HLA-F interactions contribute to the NK cell-mediated control of HCV [94].

In contrast to KIR2DL5 and most other KIRs, KIR3DS1 is genetically rather monomorphic [84]. Furthermore, HLA-F has a low polymorphism in comparison to other HLA class I molecules [99], implicating a conserved interaction between the two molecules. Both, KIR3DS1 as a monomorphic KIR and KIR2DL5 as more polymorphic KIR, which however is only expressed by very few alleles (mainly KIR2DL5A*001), indicate unique features in comparison to other highly polymorphic KIRs. KIR3DS1 binds to OCs of the non-classical HLA class I molecule HLA-F [51]. In contrast to other KIRs, KIR3DS1 as well as KIR2DL5 do interact with conserved ligands that are upregulated upon activation and cellular stress [74,100,185]. However, while CD155 is constantly expressed at low levels in many cells and tissues [193,194], the expression of HLA-F is tightly regulated and HLA-F is not present on the cell surface under normal conditions [100]. The fact that KIR3DS1 binds to OCs of HLA-F strengthens the assumption that the interaction between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F OCs is a conserved mechanism. Even though HLA-F OCs are stable at the cell surface, they do not present peptides, showing that the interaction is independent from any specific peptides or peptide variability. This makes viruses unable to abrogate the interaction by altering the peptide repertoire. The observed upregulation of HLA-F on HCV-infected cells in vitro and

in vivo is in line with other studies showing an upregulation of HLA-F in consequence of several other persistent viral infections including HIV-1, HAdV and BKPyV and a subsequent antiviral activity of KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells in response to infected cells [51,93-95]. Interestingly, all four viruses have the ability to downmodulate the expression of surface molecules to evade immune recognition and to establish persistent viral infections in humans, including the downregulation of NKG2D ligands [195]. HCV uses the viral proteins NS2 and NS5B to diminish MICA and MICB expression [196] and HIV-1 utilizes Nef to target MICA, ULBP1 and ULBP2 expression [197]. Furthermore, HIV-1 and HAdV are capable of downregulating HLA class I molecules from the surface of infected cells, leading to evasion of T and NK cell recognition [135,178,198,199]. However, HLA-F expression levels seem not to be modulated in order to avoid KIR3DS1-dependant NK cell recognition. Only HIV-1 might have evolved some degree of interference with HLA-F expression, as HIV slightly decreased KIR3DS1 ligand expression during late stage of infection, suggesting a potential evasion mechanism probably involving HIV-1 accessory proteins, similar to the mechanisms observed for the downregulation of HLA class I and NKG2D ligands like MIC-A [51]. In conclusion, KIR3DS1-HLA-F recognition seems not to represent a strong immune pressure, which would initiate the development of specific evasion mechanisms. A reason for that might be the lower frequencies of KIR3DS1 carriers, as KIR3DS1 is encoded by around 40% (ranging from 0.7% to 80%) of individuals in different populations [200]. The lower frequencies of KIR3DS1 compared to other more abundantly expressed KIRs might constitute a lower immune pressure for viruses, resulting in less immune evasion strategies to abrogate KIR3DS1-mediated NK cell activation. Additional in vitro and in vivo investigations are required to further evaluate the impact of KIR3DS1-HLA-F interaction on the course of other viral infections and to clarify whether viruses interfere with HLA-F expression. Nevertheless, KIR3DS1 seems to be an important factor for an improved antiviral response, as association studies describe KIR3DS1 alone and in combination with HLA-Bw4 to be beneficial in several viral infections (Table 2). HLA-Bw4 serves as a ligand for the inhibitory KIR3DL1, which is co-expressed by more than 90% of KIR3DS1⁺ individuals [50,85]. The described protective effect of KIR3DS1 in combination with HLA-Bw4 might therefore be explained by KIR3DL1-mediated licensing of KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells that subsequently become activated in response to HLA-F expression [201,202].

Infection	KIR (and HLA)	Observation	Reference
нсv	KIR3DS1	Viral clearance Sustained virological response	[91]
	KIR3DS1/HLA-Bw4	Viral clearance	[114]
ні	KIR3DS1/HLA-Bw4	Delayed progression to AIDS	[89]
	KIR3DL1/S1/HLA-Bw4	Slower disease progression	[90]
	KIR3DL1/S1/HLA-Bw4	Viral inhibition	[203]
	KIR3DS1/KIR3DS1	Viral resistance	[113]
НВV	KIR3DS1	Viral clearance	[162]
	KIR3DS1	Viral resistance Spontaneous remission	[204]
HPV	KIR3DS1	Viral resistance	[205]
ВКРуV	KIR3DS1	Viral resistance	[92]
EBV	KIR3DS1	Viral susceptibility	[206]
	KIR3DS1	Viral susceptibility	[207]
Dengue virus	KIR3DS1/KIR3DS1	Viral resistance	[208]
KSHV	KIR3DS1/HLA-Bw4	Viral clearance	[209]

Table 2: Genetic associations of *KIR3DS1* with viral infections:

In our study we observed that upon upregulation of HLA-F on HCV-infected hepatocytes KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells exhibited a higher capacity to inhibit viral replication *in vitro*, potentially leading to an improved clearance of HCV infection [94] (Figure 14, left). These findings provide a functional mechanism behind the before described genetic associations between a better outcome of HCV infection and individuals encoding for *KIR3DS1*. In contrast, KIR3DS1⁻ NK cells had a lower ability to inhibit viral replication, indicating that individuals lacking KIR3DS1 have a normal course of disease (Figure 14, right).



Figure 14: Interactions between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F contribute to the control of HCV infection by KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells. HLA-F surface expression is upregulated on HCV-infected hepatocytes. The upregulation can be recognized by KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells leading to antiviral activity and an improved clearance of HCV infection by individuals encoding for *KIR3DS1* (left). In contrast, patients lacking KIR3DS1 do not sense HLA-F upregulation and have a normal course of infection (right).

HLA-F expression is tightly regulated and the exact mechanisms behind it are not fully understood. Similar to the expression of CD155, there is increasing evidence that HLA-F surface expression is induced through activation and cellular stress [99], potentially adding another molecule to the family of stress-induced self-ligands such as MIC and ULBP [210,211]. Interestingly, both, expression of HLA-F and CD155 was found to be upregulated in a number of cancers and are described as poor prognostic markers [76,212,213], making them an interesting target for studying the influence of these molecules on NK cell activity in tumors.

We observed a clear upregulation of HLA-F on HCV-infected cells in all three infection models (cell culture, humanized mice and primary liver tissue) while HLA-F expression on uninfected bystander cells and liver biopsy sections from HCV^{neg} controls was very low or completely absent [94]. However, the mechanism leading to HLA-F surface expression during viral infections are not well known. HLA class I gene expression is among other mechanisms regulated trough the IFN-stimulated response element (ISRE) that serves as a regulatory element in the promoter of classical and non-classical HLA class I genes and is induced through IFN_Y [214,215]. An additional mechanism that is induced through IFN_Y and has been discussed to be able to induce HLA-F expression is the transcriptionally regulation via CIITA [215]. Furthermore, HLA-F gene expression can be induced by exogenous IFN_Y [216]. IFN_Y is a pro-inflammatory cytokine with important antiviral activity [217]. However, HCV infection is associated with IFN class I and III production by infected cells and less with high levels of IFN_Y [143]. Nevertheless, IFN_Y is produced by NK cells

during HCV infection [218–220]. Therefore, the involvement of ISRE and CIITA in HLA-F upregulation during HCV infection would be possible. Furthermore, it has been shown that classical HLA class I molecules are upregulated upon HCV infection that might suggest a related mechanism [221].

In comparison to classical HLA class I molecules, which are predominantly expressed at the cell surface as peptide loaded heavy chains associated with $\beta_2 m$, HLA-F is predominantly expressed as OCs [103,104]. While surface expression of classical HLA class I complexes is TAP dependent, HLA-F OC expression is TAP independent [222,223]. Furthermore, it has been suggested that the cytoplasmic tail of HLA-F has a unique structure and is essential for the export from the endoplasmic reticulum (ER) [211]. This might indicate that to date unknown mechanisms target specific structures of HLA-F upon cellular stress or activation leading to HLA-F surface expression, while the involvement of TAP dependent mechanisms is unlikely, especially for OCs. An additional theory that could explain the limited surface expression of HLA-F under normal conditions is the retention of HLA-F in the ER [216,224]. ER stress might initiate the transport of trapped HLA-F to the cell surface during specific conditions such as viral infections. Viruses are known to induce different ER stress [225]. As an example, HBV triggers different pathways of the unfolded protein response compared to HCV [226,227] and HLA-F surface expression is not upregulated during HBV infection (unpublished data from our group) but upon HCV infection [94], potentially representing another mechanism that could be involved in the upregulation of HLA-F surface levels during HCV infection. There is evidence that HLA-F expression might partially be regulated through the transcription factor NFkB [214] and that induction of NFkB during viral infection can lead to an upregulation of HLA-F [228]. Indeed, an induction of NFkB activation during HCV infection has been shown [229], providing an additional potential mechanism involved in HLA-F upregulation during HCV infection. In summary, surface expression on infected cells is probably induced by combined intrinsic and extrinsic factors.

The mechanisms involved in the modulation of surface expression of HLA-F during HCV infection do essentially differ from the direct regulation of CD155 expression employed by HIV-1. HCV does probably not actively interfere with HLA-F surface expression and the observed upregulation during infection is driven by host intrinsic factors due to infection and following activation of the infected cell, leading to increased susceptibility to recognition by KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells. In contrast, the modulation of CD155 surface expression during HIV-1 infection is a result of an active mechanism evolved by HIV-1 potentially in an effort to evade immune recognition by DNAM-1⁺ NK cells. DNAM-1 is expressed on most human NK cells [160], while KIR3DS1 expression is limited due to lower carrier frequencies and a limited

amount of NK cells expressing the receptor [84,230,231]. One could speculate that this leads to different immune pressures regarding the maintenance of viral fitness and may explain why CD155 expression but not HLA-F expression is targeted by the respective virus. Taking this together, more studies are required to unravel the factors that are involved in HLA-F upregulation during HCV and other viral infections.

3.4 Interactions between KIRs and non-classical ligands as potential targets for immunotherapeutic approaches

Based on the discovery of novel receptor-ligand interactions and their functional impact on NK cell activity, new targets for antiviral therapies can be identified and the respective receptor or ligand can be utilized for the development of novel therapy approaches, such as reagents blocking inhibitory KIRs or facilitating specific activation [94,232,233]. In this dissertation, we provide new insights into the regulation of KIR2DL5⁺ and KIR3DS1⁺ NK cell function by the interaction with non-classical KIR ligands and how these interactions can contribute to the control of HIV-1 and HCV infections. The newly described and here validated interactions between KIR2DL5 and CD155 reveal a new target for checkpoint inhibitors in multiple settings of immunotherapeutic approaches. Other inhibitory immune checkpoint receptors are already largely under investigation as potential targets to overcome NK cell and T cell inhibition during viral infections and cancer [234-236]. The inhibitory NK cell receptor TIGIT, which is also binding to CD155, has been proposed as a potential target for anti-HIV therapy [235]. It was shown that the blockade of TIGIT might be beneficial and increases antiviral effector functions [235]. During the course of infection, inhibitory receptors are often upregulated and effector cell functions become impaired [237,238]. Indeed, during HIV-1 infection an upregulation of TIGIT on infected cells has been reported [188,189]. As TIGIT also binds to CD112 [69], beside CD155 that is downregulated during HIV-1, the blockage of TIGIT might serve as a promising therapeutic approach. The interaction of KIR2DL5 with CD155 provides another promising target for therapeutic approaches. However, we hypothesize that the expression of KIR2DL5 is beneficial for patients with HIV-1 infection as the HIV-1-mediated downregulation of CD155 leads to a loss of inhibition and a missing self-recognition of HIV-1-infected cells by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. In future studies it has to be investigated whether individuals encoding for the expressed KIR2DL5A*001 gene have a higher potential to control HIV-1 infection leading to a slower disease progression. Therefore, large HIV cohort studies are required that distinguish specifically between expressed und unexpressed KIR2DL5 alleles to gather further insights into the antiviral potential of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. While CD155 is downregulated during HIV-1 infection, it is overexpressed in tumors [76]. With this, cancer

represents a second very important disease setting in which KIR2DL5-CD155 interactions might play an important role. Several clinical trials already investigate TIGIT blockade as immunotherapeutic approach in cancer [236]. In future studies, the consequences of elevated CD155 levels in tumors for KIR2DL5⁺ NK cell function should also be considered, as this might deliver another potential target for immunotherapeutic strategies, at least for patients expressing KIR2DL5.

In contrast to KIR2DL5, KIR3DS1 is an activating receptor. Therefore, the KIR3DS1-HLA-F axis represents a promising target for triggering specific activating signals. Several studies have shown that the adoptive transfer of antiviral effector cells can be used to facilitate the control of viral infections when other treatments fail or are not available [239-241]. Additionally, engineered chimeric antigen receptor (CAR) NK cells get rising attention, as they show some benefits compared to CAR-T cells, including low toxicity and easier manufacturing [242,243]. The adoptive transfer of KIR3DS1* NK cells or the use of CAR-NK cells might therefore be promising approaches for the treatment of severe viral infections or cancer. However, the use of adoptive KIR3DS1⁺ NK cells needs to be further investigated, as unspecific side effects due to HLA-F expression in other tissues at this point cannot be excluded and other immunoregulatory functions of KIR3DS1 have to be investigated. An additional promising approach for the treatment of viral infections, which come with an upregulation of HLA-F, is the use of KIR-Fc constructs. NK cells are able to recognize the chimeric constructs bound to HLA-F via CD16/FcyRIII that is expressed on NK cells. As KIR3DS1 is expressed by approximately 40% of humans [200], the use of KIR3DS1-Fc would enable CD16-mediated effector function against HLA-F expressing target cells also for patients genetically lacking KIR3DS1. Indeed, our in vitro assessment of NK cellmediated inhibition of HCV replication using KIR3DS1-Fc constructs resulted in an increased viral inhibition by KIR3DS1-negative donors [94]. Taking this together, the mentioned interactions might represent promising targets for new therapeutic approaches that require further careful investigation.

4 Conclusion

4 Conclusion

This thesis investigated the impact of novel interactions between KIRs and non-classical ligands on the antiviral activity of KIR-positive NK cell subsets. I demonstrated that CD155 serves as a functional binding partner of KIR2DL5 and that their interaction leads to decreased antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. Furthermore, we showed that HIV-1 downregulates CD155 on the surface of infected CD4⁺ T cells and that HLA-F is upregulated on the surface of hepatocytes following infection with HCV. Downregulation of the KIR2DL5 ligand CD155 during HIV-1 infection and upregulation of the KIR3DS1 ligand HLA-F resulted in increased antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ (missing-self recognition) and KIR3DS1⁺ NK cell (induced-self recognition), respectively. With this, both interactions are important for the regulation of NK cell function and contribute to the recognition of infected cells and the induction of antiviral NK cell activity. Furthermore, the anti-HIV-1 activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells demonstrates the ability of NK cells to counteract viral immune escape mechanisms. The KIR2DL5/CD155 axis reveals a novel checkpoint inhibitor target and the interaction between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F can be utilized to trigger activation. As presented in our study, KIR-Fc constructs might allow recognition of HLA-F-expressing cells also by NK cells of individuals not encoding for KIR3DS1, resulting in increased viral inhibition. In summary, this thesis demonstrates that NK cells expressing KIRs that interact with non-classical ligands contribute to the control of HIV-1 and HCV infection in vitro, indicating a potential role also for other disease settings such as other viral infections and cancer and for the development of novel immunotherapeutic treatments.

References

- 1. Vollmers S, Lobermeyer A, Niehrs A, Fittje P, Indenbirken D, Nakel J, et al. Host KIR/HLA-C Genotypes Determine HIV-Mediated Changes of the NK Cell Repertoire and Are Associated With Vpu Sequence Variations Impacting Downmodulation of HLA-C. Front Immunol. 2022;0: 3544. doi:10.3389/FIMMU.2022.922252
- Gonzalez S, González-Rodríguez AP, Suárez-Álvarez B, López-Soto A, Huergo-Zapico L, Lopez-Larrea C. Conceptual aspects of self and nonself discrimination. Self/Nonself - Immune Recognition and Signaling. Taylor & Francis; 2011. pp. 19– 25. doi:10.4161/self.2.1.15094
- 3. Rich RR, Chaplin DD. The Human Immune Response. Clinical Immunology. Elsevier; 2019. pp. 3-17.e1. doi:10.1016/b978-0-7020-6896-6.00001-6
- 4. Chaplin DD. Overview of the immune response. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 2010;125. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2009.12.980
- 5. Freud AG, Caligiuri MA. Human natural killer cell development. Immunological Reviews. Immunol Rev; 2006. pp. 56–72. doi:10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00451.x
- 6. Riera Romo M, Pérez-Martínez D, Castillo Ferrer C. Innate immunity in vertebrates: An overview. Immunology. 2016;148: 125–139. doi:10.1111/imm.12597
- Alberts B, Johnson A, Lewis J, Raff M, Roberts K, Walter P. The Adaptive Immune System. 2002 [cited 5 Jul 2022]. Available: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK21070/
- Williams MA, Bevan MJ. Effector and memory CTL differentiation. Annual Review of Immunology. Annu Rev Immunol; 2007. pp. 171–192. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.25.022106.141548
- 9. Nicholson LB. The immune system. Essays Biochem. 2016;60: 275–301. doi:10.1042/EBC20160017
- Altfeld M, Fadda L, Frleta D, Bhardwaj N. DCs and NK cells: Critical effectors in the immune response to HIV-1. Nature Reviews Immunology. Nature Publishing Group; 2011. pp. 176–186. doi:10.1038/nri2935
- 11. Jost S, Altfeld M. Control of human viral infections by natural killer cells. Annual Review of Immunology. Annu Rev Immunol; 2013. pp. 163–194. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100001
- 12. Nattermann J. NK cells in acute hepatitis C. Journal of Hepatology. Elsevier; 2011. pp. 265–267. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2011.01.005
- 13. Lanier LL. NK cell recognition. Annual Review of Immunology. Annu Rev Immunol; 2005. pp. 225–274. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.23.021704.115526
- 14. Björkström NK, Strunz B, Ljunggren HG. Natural killer cells in antiviral immunity. Nature Reviews Immunology. Nature Research; 2022. pp. 112–123. doi:10.1038/s41577-021-00558-3
- Lodoen MB, Lanier LL. Natural killer cells as an initial defense against pathogens. Current Opinion in Immunology. Curr Opin Immunol; 2006. pp. 391–398. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2006.05.002
- 16. Vivier E, Tomasello E, Baratin M, Walzer T, Ugolini S. Functions of natural killer cells. Nature Immunology. Nature Publishing Group; 2008. pp. 503–510.

doi:10.1038/ni1582

- 17. Yu J, Freud AG, Caligiuri MA. Location and cellular stages of natural killer cell development. Trends in Immunology. Trends Immunol; 2013. pp. 573–582. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.07.005
- Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Caligiuri MA. The biology of human natural killer-cell subsets. Trends in Immunology. Elsevier Current Trends; 2001. pp. 633–640. doi:10.1016/S1471-4906(01)02060-9
- 19. Mikulak J, Bruni E, Oriolo F, Di Vito C, Mavilio D. Hepatic natural killer cells: Organspecific sentinels of liver immune homeostasis and physiopathology. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2019. p. 946. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.00946
- 20. Moretta A. The dialogue between human natural killer cells and dendritic cells. Current Opinion in Immunology. Elsevier Current Trends; 2005. pp. 306–311. doi:10.1016/j.coi.2005.03.004
- Crome SQ, Lang PA, Lang KS, Ohashi PS. Natural killer cells regulate diverse T cell responses. Trends in Immunology. Elsevier Current Trends; 2013. pp. 342– 349. doi:10.1016/j.it.2013.03.002
- Smyth MJ, Cretney E, Kelly JM, Westwood JA, Street SEA, Yagita H, et al. Activation of NK cell cytotoxicity. Molecular Immunology. Elsevier Ltd; 2005. pp. 501–510. doi:10.1016/j.molimm.2004.07.034
- Zamai L, Ahmad M, Bennett IM, Azzoni L, Alnemri ES, Perussia B. Natural killer (NK) cell-mediated cytotoxicity: Differential use of TRAIL and Fas ligand by immature and mature primary human NK cells. J Exp Med. 1998;188: 2375–2380. doi:10.1084/jem.188.12.2375
- Cullen SP, Martin SJ. Mechanisms of granule-dependent killing. Cell Death and Differentiation. Nature Publishing Group; 2008. pp. 251–262. doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4402244
- 25. Lanier LL. NKG2D receptor and its ligands in host defense. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015;3: 575–582. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0098
- 26. Barrow AD, Martin CJ, Colonna M. The natural cytotoxicity receptors in health and disease. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2019. p. 909. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.00909
- 27. Kumar S. Natural killer cell cytotoxicity and its regulation by inhibitory receptors. Immunology. 2018;154: 383–393. doi:10.1111/imm.12921
- Raulet DH. Missing self recognition and self tolerance of natural killer (NK) cells. Seminars in Immunology. Semin Immunol; 2006. pp. 145–150. doi:10.1016/j.smim.2006.03.003
- 29. Raulet DH, Vance RE. Self-tolerance of natural killer cells. Nature Reviews Immunology. Nat Rev Immunol; 2006. pp. 520–531. doi:10.1038/nri1863
- 30. Lodoen MB, Lanier LL. Viral modulation of NK cell immunity. Nature Reviews Microbiology. Nat Rev Microbiol; 2005. pp. 59–69. doi:10.1038/nrmicro1066
- Long EO, Kim HS, Liu D, Peterson ME, Rajagopalan S. Controlling natural killer cell responses: integration of signals for activation and inhibition. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013;31: 227–58. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075005

- Long EO, Rajagopalan S. Stress signals activate natural killer cells. Journal of Experimental Medicine. The Rockefeller University Press; 2002. pp. 1399–1402. doi:10.1084/jem.20021747
- Ljunggren HG, Kärre K. In search of the "missing self": MHC molecules and NK cell recognition. Immunol Today. 1990;11: 237–244. doi:10.1016/0167-5699(90)90097-S
- Parham P, Moffett A. Variable NK cell receptors and their MHC class i ligands in immunity, reproduction and human evolution. Nature Reviews Immunology. Nat Rev Immunol; 2013. pp. 133–144. doi:10.1038/nri3370
- Raulet DH, Guerra N. Oncogenic stress sensed by the immune system: Role of natural killer cell receptors. Nature Reviews Immunology. Nature Publishing Group; 2009. pp. 568–580. doi:10.1038/nri2604
- Horowitz A, Stegmann KA, Riley EM. Activation of natural killer cells during microbial infections. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media SA; 2012. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2011.00088
- Cerwenka A, Lanier LL. Ligands for natural killer cell receptors: Redundancy or specificity. Immunological Reviews. Immunol Rev; 2001. pp. 158–169. doi:10.1034/j.1600-065X.2001.1810113.x
- Martinet L, Smyth MJ. Balancing natural killer cell activation through paired receptors. Nature Reviews Immunology. Nature Publishing Group; 2015. pp. 243– 254. doi:10.1038/nri3799
- Husain B, Ramani SR, Chiang E, Lehoux I, Paduchuri S, Arena TA, et al. A platform for extracellular interactome discovery identifies novel functional binding partners for the immune receptors B7-H3/CD276 and PVR/CD155. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2019;18: 2310–2323. doi:10.1074/mcp.TIR119.001433
- 40. Wojtowicz WM, Vielmetter J, Fernandes RA, Siepe DH, Eastman CL, Chisholm GB, et al. A Human IgSF Cell-Surface Interactome Reveals a Complex Network of Protein-Protein Interactions. Cell. 2020;182: 1027-1043.e17. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2020.07.025
- 41. Fittje P, Hœlzemer A, Garcia-Beltran WF, Vollmers S, Niehrs A, Hagemann K, et al. HIV-1 Nef-mediated downregulation of CD155 results in viral restriction by KIR2DL5+ NK cells. Evans DT, editor. PLOS Pathog. 2022;18: e1010572. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1010572
- 42. He Y, Tian Z. NK cell education via nonclassical MHC and non-MHC ligands. Cellular and Molecular Immunology. Chinese Soc Immunology; 2017. pp. 321–330. doi:10.1038/cmi.2016.26
- 43. Elliott JM, Yokoyama WM. Unifying concepts of MHC-dependent natural killer cell education. Trends in Immunology. Trends Immunol; 2011. pp. 364–372. doi:10.1016/j.it.2011.06.001
- 44. Campbell KS, Purdy AK. Structure/function of human killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors: Lessons from polymorphisms, evolution, crystal structures and mutations. Immunology. Wiley-Blackwell; 2011. pp. 315–325. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2010.03398.x
- 45. Carrington M, Norman P. The KIR Gene Cluster. National Center for Biotechnology Information (US); 2003. Available: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK10135/

- 46. Middleton D, Gonzelez F. The extensive polymorphism of KIR genes. Immunology. Wiley-Blackwell; 2010. pp. 8–19. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2009.03208.x
- 47. Khakoo SI, Jamil KM. KIR/HLA interactions and pathogen immunity. Journal of Biomedicine and Biotechnology. J Biomed Biotechnol; 2011. doi:10.1155/2011/298348
- 48. Charles A Janeway J, Travers P, Walport M, Shlomchik MJ. The major histocompatibility complex and its functions. 2001 [cited 6 Jul 2022]. Available: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK27156/
- 49. Winter CC, Gumperz JE, Parham P, Long EO, Wagtmann N. Direct binding and functional transfer of NK cell inhibitory receptors reveal novel patterns of HLA-C allotype recognition. J Immunol. 1998;15: 571–7.
- 50. Wagtmann N, Rajagopalan S, Winter CC, Peruui M, Long EO. Killer cell inhibitory receptors specific for HLA-C and HLA-B identified by direct binding and by functional transfer. Immunity. 1995;3: 801–809. doi:10.1016/1074-7613(95)90069-1
- 51. Garcia-Beltran WF, Hölzemer A, Martrus G, Chung AW, Pacheco Y, Simoneau CR, et al. Open conformers of HLA-F are high-affinity ligands of the activating NK-cell receptor KIR3DS1. Nat Immunol. 2016;17: 1067–1074. doi:10.1038/ni.3513
- 52. Rajagopalan S, Long EO. KIR2DL4 (CD158d): An activation receptor for HLA-G. Front Immunol. 2012;3. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00258
- 53. Shahjahan Miah SM, Hughes TL, Campbell KS. KIR2DL4 Differentially Signals Downstream Functions in Human NK Cells through Distinct Structural Modules. J Immunol. 2008;180: 2922–2932. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.180.5.2922
- 54. Kikuchi-Maki A, Catina TL, Campbell KS. Cutting Edge: KIR2DL4 Transduces Signals into Human NK Cells through Association with the Fc Receptor γ Protein. J Immunol. 2005;174: 3859–3863. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.174.7.3859
- 55. Bhatt RS, Berjis A, Konge JC, Mahoney KM, Klee AN, Freeman SS, et al. KIR3DL3 is an inhibitory receptor for HHLA2 that mediates an alternative immunoinhibitory pathway to PD1. Cancer Immunol Res. 2021;9: 156–169. doi:10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-20-0315
- 56. Vilches C, Rajalingam R, Uhrberg M, Gardiner CM, Young NT, Parham P. KIR2DL5, a Novel Killer-Cell Receptor with a D0-D2 Configuration of Ig-Like Domains. J Immunol. 2000;164: 5797–5804. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.11.5797
- 57. Cisneros E, Moraru M, Gómez-Lozano N, López-Botet M, Vilches C. KIR2DL5: An orphan inhibitory receptor displaying complex patterns of polymorphism and expression. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media SA; 2012. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00289
- Vilches C, Gardiner CM, Parham P. Gene Structure and Promoter Variation of Expressed and Nonexpressed Variants of the KIR2DL5 Gene . J Immunol. 2000;165: 6416–6421. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.11.6416
- 59. Gómez-Lozano N, Gardiner CM, Parham P, Vilches C. Some human KIR haplotypes contain two KIR2DL5 genes: KIR2DL5A and KIR2DL5B. Immunogenetics. 2002;54: 314–319. doi:10.1007/s00251-002-0476-2
- 60. IPD-KIR Database. [cited 12 Jul 2022]. Available: https://www.ebi.ac.uk/ipd/kir/alleles/

- 61. Gómez-Lozano N, Trompeter HI, de Pablo R, Estefanía E, Uhrberg M, Vilches C. Epigenetic silencing of potentially functional KIR2DL5 alleles: Implications for the acquisition of KIR repertoires by NK cells. Eur J Immunol. 2007;37: 1954–1965. doi:10.1002/eji.200737277
- 62. Du Z, Sharma SK, Spellman S, Reed EF, Rajalingam R. KIR2DL5 alleles mark certain combination of activating KIR genes. Genes Immun. 2008;9: 470–480. doi:10.1038/gene.2008.39
- Estefanía E, Flores R, Gómez-Lozano N, Aguilar H, López-Botet M, Vilches C. Human KIR2DL5 Is an Inhibitory Receptor Expressed on the Surface of NK and T Lymphocyte Subsets. J Immunol. 2007;178: 4402–4410. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4402
- 64. Yusa S, Catina TL, Campbell KS. KIR2DL5 Can Inhibit Human NK Cell Activation Via Recruitment of Src Homology Region 2-Containing Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase-2 (SHP-2). J Immunol. 2004;172: 7385–7392. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.12.7385
- Klein K, Hölzemer A, Wang T, Kim TE, Dugan HL, Jost S, et al. A Genome-Wide CRISPR/Cas9-Based Screen Identifies Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycans as Ligands of Killer-Cell Immunoglobulin-Like Receptors. Front Immunol. 2021;12. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2021.798235
- 66. Miyoshi J, Takai Y. Nectin and nectin-like molecules: Biology and pathology. American Journal of Nephrology. Am J Nephrol; 2007. pp. 590–604. doi:10.1159/000108103
- 67. Takai Y, Miyoshi J, Ikeda W, Ogita H. Nectins and nectin-like molecules: Roles in contact inhibition of cell movement and proliferation. Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology. Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol; 2008. pp. 603–615. doi:10.1038/nrm2457
- 68. De Andrade LF, Smyth MJ, Martinet L. DNAM-1 control of natural killer cells functions through nectin and nectin-like proteins. Immunology and Cell Biology. Nature Publishing Group; 2014. pp. 237–244. doi:10.1038/icb.2013.95
- 69. Stanietsky N, Simic H, Arapovic J, Toporik A, Levy O, Novik A, et al. The interaction of TIGIT with PVR and PVRL2 inhibits human NK cell cytotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106: 17858–17863. doi:10.1073/pnas.0903474106
- 70. Fuchs A, Cella M, Giurisato E, Shaw AS, Colonna M. Cutting Edge: CD96 (Tactile) Promotes NK Cell-Target Cell Adhesion by Interacting with the Poliovirus Receptor (CD155). J Immunol. 2004;172: 3994–3998. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.7.3994
- 71. Georgiev H, Ravens I, Papadogianni G, Bernhardt G. Coming of age: CD96 emerges as modulator of immune responses. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2018. p. 1072. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.01072
- 72. Kamran N, Takai Y, Miyoshi J, Biswas SK, Wong JSB, Gasser S. Toll-Like Receptor Ligands Induce Expression of the Costimulatory Molecule CD155 on Antigen-Presenting Cells. Lenz LL, editor. PLoS One. 2013;8: e54406. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0054406
- Maier MK, Seth S, Czeloth N, Qiu Q, Ravens I, Kremmer E, et al. The adhesion receptor CD155 determines the magnitude of humoral immune responses against orally ingested antigens. Eur J Immunol. 2007;37: 2214–2225. doi:10.1002/eji.200737072

- Ardolino M, Zingoni A, Cerboni C, Cecere F, Soriani A, Iannitto ML, et al. DNAM-1 ligand expression on Ag-stimulated T lymphocytes is mediated by ROS-dependent activation of DNA-damage response: Relevance for NK-T cell interaction. Blood. 2011;117: 4778–4786. doi:10.1182/blood-2010-08-300954
- Carlsten M, Norell H, Bryceson YT, Poschke I, Schedvins K, Ljunggren H-G, et al. Primary Human Tumor Cells Expressing CD155 Impair Tumor Targeting by Down-Regulating DNAM-1 on NK Cells. J Immunol. 2009;183: 4921–4930. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0901226
- 76. Molfetta R, Zitti B, Lecce M, Milito ND, Stabile H, Fionda C, et al. Cd155: A multifunctional molecule in tumor progression. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. MDPI AG; 2020. doi:10.3390/ijms21030922
- 77. Solecki D, Wimmer E, Lipp M, Bernhardt G. Identification and characterization of the cis-acting elements of the human CD155 gene core promoter. J Biol Chem. 1999;274: 1791–1800. doi:10.1074/jbc.274.3.1791
- 78. Escalante NK, Von Rossum A, Lee M, Choy JC. CD155 on human vascular endothelial cells attenuates the acquisition of effector functions in CD8 T cells. Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol. 2011;31: 1177–1184. doi:10.1161/ATVBAHA.111.224162
- 79. Bowers JR, Readler JM, Sharma P, Excoffon KJDA. Poliovirus Receptor: More than a simple viral receptor. Virus Research. Elsevier B.V.; 2017. pp. 1–6. doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2017.09.001
- Vassena L, Giuliani E, Matusali G, Cohen ÉA, Doria M. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr protein upregulates PVR via activation of the ATR-mediated DNA damage response pathway. J Gen Virol. 2013;94: 2664–2669. doi:10.1099/vir.0.055541-0
- 81. Cerboni C, Fionda C, Soriani A, Zingoni A, Doria M, Cippitelli M, et al. The DNA damage response: A common pathway in the regulation of NKG2D and DNAM-1 ligand expression in normal, infected, and cancer cells. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2014. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00508
- Matusali G, Potestà M, Santoni A, Cerboni C, Doria M. The Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Nef and Vpu Proteins Downregulate the Natural Killer Cell-Activating Ligand PVR. J Virol. 2012;86: 4496–4504. doi:10.1128/jvi.05788-11
- 83. Tomasec P, Wang ECY, Davison AJ, Vojtesek B, Armstrong M, Griffin C, et al. Downregulation of natural killer cell-activating ligang CD155 by human cytomegalovirus UL141. Nat Immunol. 2005;6: 181–188. doi:10.1038/ni1156
- 84. Körner C, Altfeld M. Role of KIR3DS1 in human diseases. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media SA; 2012. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2012.00326
- Parham P, Norman PJ, Abi-Rached L, Guethlein LA. Variable NK Cell Receptors Exemplified by Human KIR3DL1/S1. J Immunol. 2011;187: 11–19. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0902332
- Carr WH, Rosen DB, Arase H, Nixon DF, Michaelsson J, Lanier LL. Cutting Edge: KIR3DS1, a Gene Implicated in Resistance to Progression to AIDS, Encodes a DAP12-Associated Receptor Expressed on NK Cells That Triggers NK Cell Activation. J Immunol. 2007;178: 647–651. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.2.647

- Cella M, Longo A, Ferrara GB, Strominger JL, Colonna M. NK3-specific natural killer cells are selectively inhibited by Bw4-positive HLA alleles with isoleucine 80. J Exp Med. 1994;180: 1235–1242. doi:10.1084/jem.180.4.1235
- O'Connor GM, Vivian JP, Gostick E, Pymm P, Lafont BAP, Price DA, et al. Peptide-Dependent Recognition of HLA-B*57:01 by KIR3DS1. J Virol. 2015;89: 5213–5221. doi:10.1128/jvi.03586-14
- Martin MP, Gao X, Lee JH, Nelson GW, Detels R, Goedert JJ, et al. Epistatic interaction between KIR3DS1 and HLA-B delays the progression to AIDS. Nat Genet. 2002;31: 429–434. doi:10.1038/ng934
- 90. Jiang Y, Chen O, Cui C, Zhao B, Han X, Zhang Z, et al. KIR3DS1/L1 and HLA-Bw4-80I are associated with HIV disease progression among HIV typical progressors and long-term nonprogressors. BMC Infect Dis. 2013;13. doi:10.1186/1471-2334-13-405
- 91. Rivero-Juarez A, Gonzalez R, Camacho A, Manzanares-Martin B, Caruz A, Martinez-Peinado A, et al. Natural Killer KIR3DS1 Is Closely Associated with HCV Viral Clearance and Sustained Virological Response in HIV/HCV Patients. PLoS One. 2013;8. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0061992
- 92. Trydzenskaya H, Juerchott K, Lachmann N, Kotsch K, Kunert K, Weist B, et al. The genetic predisposition of natural killer cell to BK virus-associated nephropathy in renal transplant patients. Kidney Int. 2013;84: 359–365. doi:10.1038/ki.2013.59
- Koyro TF, Kraus E, Lunemann S, Hölzemer A, Wulf S, Jung J, et al. Upregulation of HLA-F expression by BK polyomavirus infection induces immune recognition by KIR3DS1-positive natural killer cells. Kidney Int. 2020 [cited 18 Feb 2021]. doi:10.1016/j.kint.2020.12.014
- 94. Lunemann S, Schöbel A, Kah J, Fittje P, Hölzemer A, Langeneckert AE, et al. Interactions Between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F Activate Natural Killer Cells to Control HCV Replication in Cell Culture. Gastroenterology. 2018;155: 1366-1371.e3. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.019
- 95. Jung JM, Ching W, Baumdick ME, Hofmann-Sieber H, Bosse JB, Koyro T, et al. KIR3DS1 directs NK cell–mediated protection against human adenovirus infections. Sci Immunol. 2021;6. doi:10.1126/sciimmunol.abe2942
- 96. López-Vázquez A, Rodrigo L, Martínez-Borra J, Pérez R, Rodríguez M, Fdez-Morera JL, et al. Protective effect of the HLA-Bw4I80 epitope and the killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor 3DS1 gene against the development of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with hepatitis C virus infection. J Infect Dis. 2005;192: 162– 165. doi:10.1086/430351
- 97. Carrington M, Wang S, Martin MP, Gao X, Schiffman M, Cheng J, et al. Hierarchy of resistance to cervical neoplasia mediated by combinations of killer immunoglobulin-like receptor and human leukocyte antigen loci. J Exp Med. 2005;201: 1069–1075. doi:10.1084/jem.20042158
- 98. Pyo CW, Williams LM, Moore Y, Hyodo H, Li SS, Zhao LP, et al. HLA-E, HLA-F, and HLA-G polymorphism: Genomic sequence defines haplotype structure and variation spanning the nonclassical class I genes. Immunogenetics. 2006;58: 241–251. doi:10.1007/s00251-005-0076-z
- 99. Lin A, Yan WH. The emerging roles of human leukocyte antigen-F in immune

modulation and viral infection. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2019. p. 964. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2019.00964

- 100. Lee N, Ishitani A, Geraghty DE. HLA-F is a surface marker on activated lymphocytes. Eur J Immunol. 2010;40: 2308–2318. doi:10.1002/eji.201040348
- Colombani J. Conserved and variable structures in HLA class I molecules: a review. Tissue Antigens. 1990;35: 103–113. doi:10.1111/j.1399-0039.1990.tb01765.x
- Arosa FA, Santos SG, Powis SJ. Open conformers: the hidden face of MHC-I molecules. Trends in Immunology. Trends Immunol; 2007. pp. 115–123. doi:10.1016/j.it.2007.01.002
- 103. Hölzemer A, Garcia-Beltran WF, Altfeld M. Natural killer cell interactions with classical and non-classical human leukocyte antigen class I in HIV-1 Infection. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2017. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.01496
- 104. Goodridge JP, Burian A, Lee N, Geraghty DE. HLA-F Complex without Peptide Binds to MHC Class I Protein in the Open Conformer Form. J Immunol. 2010;184: 6199–6208. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1000078
- 105. Burian A, Wang KL, Finton KAK, Lee N, Ishitani A, Strong RK, et al. HLA-F and MHC-I Open Conformers Bind Natural Killer Cell Ig-Like Receptor KIR3DS1. Allen RL, editor. PLoS One. 2016;11: e0163297. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0163297
- 106. Kiani Z, Bruneau J, Geraghty DE, Bernard NF. HLA-F on Autologous HIV-Infected Cells Activates Primary NK Cells Expressing the Activating Killer Immunoglobulin-Like Receptor KIR3DS1. J Virol. 2019;93. doi:10.1128/jvi.00933-19
- 107. Lanier LL. Evolutionary struggles between NK cells and viruses. Nature Reviews Immunology. Nature Publishing Group; 2008. pp. 259–268. doi:10.1038/nri2276
- 108. Single RM, Martin MP, Gao X, Meyer D, Yeager M, Kidd JR, et al. Global diversity and evidence for coevolution of KIR and HLA. Nat Genet. 2007;39: 1114–1119. doi:10.1038/ng2077
- 109. Omosun YO, Blackstock AJ, Williamson J, Van Eijk AM, Ayisi J, Otieno J, et al. Association of maternal KIR gene content polymorphisms with reduction in perinatal transmission of HIV-1. PLoS One. 2018;13. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0191733
- Luc-Aimé KS, Louis-Marie Y, Gabriel LE, Yengo CK, Esemu Livo F, Assob NJC. Killer-Cell Immunoglobulin-Like Receptors (KIR) in HIV-Exposed Infants in Cameroon. J Immunol Res. 2021;2021. doi:10.1155/2021/9053280
- 111. Zwolińska K, Błachowicz O, Tomczyk T, Knysz B, Gąsiorowski J, Zalewska M, et al. The effects of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor (KIR) genes on susceptibility to HIV-1 infection in the Polish population. Immunogenetics. 2016;68: 327–337. doi:10.1007/s00251-016-0906-1
- Ursu L, Calenic B, Diculescu M, Dima A, Constantinescu I. HLA Alleles and KIR Genes in Romanian Patients with Chronic Hepatitis C. J Gastrointestin Liver Dis. 2020;29: 595–601. doi:10.15403/jgld-2546
- Boulet S, Sharafi S, Simic N, Bruneau J, Routy JP, Tsoukas CM, et al. Increased proportion of KIR3DS1 homozygotes in HIV-exposed uninfected individuals. AIDS. 2008;22: 595–599. doi:10.1097/QAD.0b013e3282f56b23

- 114. Khakoo SI, Thio CL, Martin MP, Brooks CR, Gao X, Astemborski J, et al. HLA and NK cell inhibitory receptor genes in resolving hepatitis C virus infection. Science (80-). 2004;305: 872–874. doi:10.1126/science.1097670
- 115. Knapp S, Usama Warshow, Hegazy D, Brackenbury L, Guha IN, Fowell A, et al. Consistent beneficial effects of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor 2dl3 and group 1 human leukocyte antigen-c following exposure to hepatitis c virus. Hepatology. 2010;51: 1168–1175. doi:10.1002/hep.23477
- 116. Dring MM, Morrison MH, McSharry BP, Guinan KJ, Hagan R, O'Farrelly C, et al. Innate immune genes synergize to predict increased risk of chronic disease in hepatitis C virus infection. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2011;108: 5736–5741. doi:10.1073/pnas.1016358108
- 117. Boldogh I, Albrecht T, Porter DD. Persistent Viral Infections. Medical Microbiology. University of Texas Medical Branch at Galveston; 1996. Available: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/21413348
- 118. Barré-Sinoussi F, Chermann JC, Rey F, Nugeyre MT, Chamaret S, Gruest J, et al. Isolation of a T-lymphotropic retrovirus from a patient at risk for acquired immune deficiency syndrome (AIDS). Science (80-). 1983;220: 868–871. doi:10.1126/science.6189183
- 119. Seitz R. Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV). Transfus Med Hemotherapy. 2016;43: 203–222. doi:10.1159/000445852
- Gao F, Balles E, Robertson DL, Chen Y, Rodenburg CM, Michael SF, et al. Origin of HIV-1 in the chimpanzee Pan troglodytes troglodytes. Nature. 1999;397: 436– 441. doi:10.1038/17130
- 121. HIV/AIDS. [cited 12 Jul 2022]. Available: https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/detail/hiv-aids
- Barré-Sinoussi F. HIV: A discovery opening the road to novel scientific knowledge and global health improvement. Virology. 2010;397: 255–259. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2009.08.033
- 123. Anderson J. Infections in HIV disease. Clinical Medicine. Royal College of Physicians; 2001. pp. 292–295. doi:10.7861/clinmedicine.1-4-292
- Grogg KL, Miller RF, Dogan A. HIV infection and lymphoma. Journal of Clinical Pathology. BMJ Publishing Group; 2007. pp. 1365–1372. doi:10.1136/jcp.2007.051953
- 125. Arts EJ, Hazuda DJ. HIV-1 antiretroviral drug therapy. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a007161
- Montessori V, Press N, Harris M, Akagi L, Montaner JSG. Adverse effects of antiretroviral therapy for HIV infection. CMAJ. Canadian Medical Association; 2004. pp. 229–238. Available: /pmc/articles/PMC315530/
- Núñez M. Hepatotoxicity of antiretrovirals: Incidence, mechanisms and management. Journal of Hepatology. J Hepatol; 2006. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2005.11.027
- 128. Kalyesubula R, Perazella MA. Nephrotoxicity of HAART. AIDS Research and Treatment. Hindawi Limited; 2011. p. 11. doi:10.1155/2011/562790

- 129. Iyidogan P, Anderson KS. Current perspectives on HIV-1 antiretroviral drug resistance. Viruses. MDPI AG; 2014. pp. 4095–4139. doi:10.3390/v6104095
- 130. Junqueira DM, de Matos Almeida SE. HIV-1 subtype B: Traces of a pandemic. Virology. Academic Press Inc.; 2016. pp. 173–184. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2016.05.003
- Ferguson MR, Rojo DR, Von Lindern JJ, O'Brien WA. HIV-1 replication cycle. Clinics in Laboratory Medicine. Clin Lab Med; 2002. pp. 611–635. doi:10.1016/S0272-2712(02)00015-X
- Cuevas JM, Geller R, Garijo R, López-Aldeguer J, Sanjuán R. Extremely High Mutation Rate of HIV-1 In Vivo. PLoS Biol. 2015;13. doi:10.1371/journal.pbio.1002251
- 133. Craigie R, Bushman FD. HIV DNA integration. Cold Spring Harb Perspect Med. 2012;2. doi:10.1101/cshperspect.a006890
- 134. Finzi D, Blankson J, Siliciano JD, Margolick JB, Chadwick K, Pierson T, et al. Latent infection of CD4+ T cells provides a mechanism for lifelong persistence of HIV-1, even in patients on effective combination therapy. Nat Med. 1999;5: 512– 517. doi:10.1038/8394
- 135. Sugden SM, Bego MG, Pham TNQ, Cohen ÉA. Remodeling of the host cell plasma membrane by HIV-1 nef and Vpu: A strategy to ensure viral fitness and persistence. Viruses. MDPI AG; 2016. doi:10.3390/v8030067
- 136. Laguette N, Benkirane M. Shaping of the host cell by viral accessory proteins. Front Microbiol. 2015;6: 142. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2015.00142
- 137. Hepatitis C. [cited 11 Jul 2022]. Available: https://www.who.int/news-room/factsheets/detail/hepatitis-c
- 138. Webster DP, Klenerman P, Dusheiko GM. Hepatitis C. The Lancet. Lancet Publishing Group; 2015. pp. 1124–1135. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)62401-6
- 139. Perz JF, Armstrong GL, Farrington LA, Hutin YJF, Bell BP. The contributions of hepatitis B virus and hepatitis C virus infections to cirrhosis and primary liver cancer worldwide. J Hepatol. 2006;45: 529–538. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2006.05.013
- 140. World Health Organization. Global health sector strategy on viral hepatitis 2016-2021. Towards ending viral hepatitis. In: World Health Organization [Internet]. 2016. Available: https://apps.who.int/iris/handle/10665/246177
- 141. Farquhar MJ, McKeating JA. Primary hepatocytes as targets for Hepatitis C virus replication. Journal of Viral Hepatitis. Wiley-Blackwell; 2008. pp. 849–854. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2893.2008.01051.x
- 142. Mengshol JA, Golden-Mason L, Rosen HR. Mechanisms of disease: HCV-induced liver injury. Nature Clinical Practice Gastroenterology and Hepatology. Nat Clin Pract Gastroenterol Hepatol; 2007. pp. 622–634. doi:10.1038/ncpgasthep0961
- Heim MH, Thimme R. Innate and adaptive immune responses in HCV infections. Journal of Hepatology. Elsevier B.V.; 2014. pp. S14–S25. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2014.06.035
- 144. Krassenburg LAP, Zanjir WR, Georgie F, Stotland E, Janssen HLA, Hansen BE, et al. Evaluation of Sustained Virologic Response as a Relevant Surrogate Endpoint for Long-term Outcomes of Hepatitis C Virus Infection. Clin Infect Dis. 2021;72:

780-786. doi:10.1093/cid/ciaa144

- 145. Rosen HR. Chronic Hepatitis C Infection. N Engl J Med. 2011;364: 2429–2438. doi:10.1056/nejmcp1006613
- 146. Chevaliez S, Pawlotsky J-M. HCV Genome and Life Cycle. Horizon Bioscience; 2006. Available: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK1630/
- 147. Yost SA, Wang Y, Marcotrigiano J. Hepatitis C Virus Envelope Glycoproteins: A Balancing Act of Order and Disorder. Front Immunol. 2018;9: 1917. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.01917
- 148. Asselah T, Marcellin P. Interferon free therapy with direct acting antivirals for HCV. Liver Int. 2013;33: 93–104. doi:10.1111/liv.12076
- 149. Simmonds P, Bukh J, Combet C, Deléage G, Enomoto N, Feinstone S, et al. Consensus proposals for a unified system of nomenclature of hepatitis C virus genotypes. Hepatology. 2005;42: 962–973. doi:10.1002/hep.20819
- 150. Bolduan S, Reif T, Schindler M, Schubert U. HIV-1 Vpu mediated downregulation of CD155 requires alanine residues 10, 14 and 18 of the transmembrane domain. Virology. 2014;464–465: 375–384. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2014.07.034
- 151. Davis ZB, Sowrirajan B, Cogswell A, Ward JP, Planelles V, Barker E. CD155 on HIV-Infected Cells Is Not Modulated by HIV-1 Vpu and Nef but Synergizes with NKG2D Ligands to Trigger NK Cell Lysis of Autologous Primary HIV-Infected Cells. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2017;33: 93–100. doi:10.1089/aid.2015.0375
- Zimmer, J., Poli, A., Villa-Forte, A., Hentges, F., Vilches, C., and de la Salle H. A new case of TAP deficiency with cytotoxic NK cells (abstract). Tissue Antigens. 2009; 386–386.
- 153. De La Salle H, Zimmer J, Fricker D, Angenieux C, Cazenave JP, Okubo M, et al. HLA class I deficiencies due to mutations in subunit 1 of the peptide transporter TAP1. J Clin Invest. 1999;103: R9. doi:10.1172/jci5687
- 154. Wei Y, Ren X, Galbo PM, Moerdler S, Wang H, Alejandro Sica R, et al. KIR3DL3-HHLA2 is a human immunosuppressive pathway and a therapeutic target. Sci Immunol. 2021;6. doi:10.1126/sciimmunol.abf9792
- 155. Chapel A, Garcia-Beltran WF, Hölzemer A, Ziegler M, Lunemann S, Martrus G, et al. Peptide-specific engagement of the activating NK cell receptor KIR2DS1. Sci Rep. 2017;7. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-02449-x
- 156. Fadda L, Körner C, Kumar S, van Teijlingen NH, Piechocka-Trocha A, Carrington M, et al. HLA-Cw*0102-Restricted HIV-1 p24 Epitope Variants Can Modulate the Binding of the Inhibitory KIR2DL2 Receptor and Primary NK Cell Function. Silvestri G, editor. PLoS Pathog. 2012;8: e1002805. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1002805
- 157. Van Teijlingen NH, Hölzemer A, Körner C, García-Beltrán WF, Schafer JL, Fadda L, et al. Sequence variations in HIV-1 p24 Gag-derived epitopes can alter binding of KIR2DL2 to HLA-C*03: 04 and modulate primary natural killer cell function. AIDS. 2014;28: 1399–1408. doi:10.1097/QAD.00000000000284
- 158. Hölzemer A, Thobakgale CF, Jimenez Cruz CA, Garcia-Beltran WF, Carlson JM, van Teijlingen NH, et al. Selection of an HLA-C*03:04-Restricted HIV-1 p24 Gag Sequence Variant Is Associated with Viral Escape from KIR2DL3+ Natural Killer Cells: Data from an Observational Cohort in South Africa. Carr A, editor. PLOS

Med. 2015;12: e1001900. doi:10.1371/journal.pmed.1001900

- 159. Spencer CT, Bezbradica JS, Ramos MG, Arico CD, Conant SB, Gilchuk P, et al. Viral infection causes a shift in the self peptide repertoire presented by human MHC class I molecules. Proteomics - Clin Appl. 2015;9: 1035–1052. doi:10.1002/prca.201500106
- 160. Shibuya A, Campbell D, Hannum C, Yssel H, Franz-Bacon K, McClanashan T, et al. DNAM-1, a novel adhesion molecule involved in the cytolytic function of T lymphocytes. Immunity. 1996;4: 573–581. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)70060-4
- 161. Manieri NA, Chiang EY, Grogan JL. TIGIT: A Key Inhibitor of the Cancer Immunity Cycle. Trends in Immunology. Elsevier Ltd; 2017. pp. 20–28. doi:10.1016/j.it.2016.10.002
- 162. Lu ZM, Jiao YL, Feng ZL, Wu CX, Dong ZF, Zhang BC, et al. Polymorphisms of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor gene: Possible association with susceptibility to or clearance of hepatitis B virus infection in Chinese Han population. Croat Med J. 2007;48: 800–806. doi:10.3325/cmj.2007.6.800
- 163. Shah-Hosseini A, Jafari M, Mohammadi A, Sanaei R, Alavian SM, Doosti-Irani A, et al. The impact of KIR–HLA genotype on hepatitis B virus clearance in Iranian infected individuals. Med Microbiol Immunol. 2017;206: 463–470. doi:10.1007/s00430-017-0522-1
- 164. Carneiro VL, Lemaire DC, Bendicho MT, Souza SL, Cavalcante LN, Angelo AL, et al. Natural killer cell receptor and HLA-C gene polymorphisms among patients with hepatitis C: A comparison between sustained virological responders and non-responders. Liver Int. 2010;30: 567–573. doi:10.1111/j.1478-3231.2010.02212.x
- 165. Alvarado-Hernández DL, Benítez-Sánchez A, Rodríguez-Cuevas JS, Rosales-Saavedra T, Guerra-Palomares SE, Comas-García A, et al. Killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors and cytomegalovirus reactivation during late pregnancy. Int J Immunogenet. 2016;43: 189–199. doi:10.1111/iji.12271
- 166. Tukwasibwe S, Traherne JA, Chazara O, Jayaraman J, Trowsdale J, Moffett A, et al. Diversity of KIR genes and their HLA-C ligands in Ugandan populations with historically varied malaria transmission intensity. Malar J. 2021;20. doi:10.1186/s12936-021-03652-y
- 167. Olaniyan SA, Amodu OK, Yindom LM, Conway DJ, Aka P, Bakare AA, et al. Killercell immunoglobulin-like receptors and falciparum malaria in southwest Nigeria. Hum Immunol. 2014;75: 816–821. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2014.06.002
- 168. Aranda-Romo S, Garcia-Sepulveda CA, Comas-García A, Lovato-Salas F, Salgado-Bustamante M, Gómez-Gómez A, et al. Killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIR) in severe A (H1N1) 2009 influenza infections. Immunogenetics. 2012;64: 653–662. doi:10.1007/s00251-012-0623-3
- Collins KL, Chen BK, Kalams SA, Walker BD, Baltimore D. HIV-1 Nef protein protects infected primary cells against killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Nature. 1998;391: 397–401. doi:10.1038/34929
- 170. Cohen GB, Gandhi RT, Davis DM, Mandelboim O, Chen BK, Strominger JL, et al. The selective downregulation of class I major histocompatibility complex proteins by HIV-1 protects HIV-infected cells from NK cells. Immunity. 1999;10: 661–671. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80065-5

- 171. Barker E, Evans DT. HLA-C Downmodulation by HIV-1 Vpu. Cell Host and Microbe. Cell Press; 2016. pp. 570–571. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2016.04.023
- 172. Cerboni C, Neri F, Casartelli N, Zingoni A, Cosman D, Rossi P, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus 1 Nef protein downmodulates the ligands of the activating receptor NKG2D and inhibits natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity. J Gen Virol. 2007;88: 242–250. doi:10.1099/vir.0.82125-0
- 173. Tremblay-McLean A, Bruneau J, Lebouché B, Lisovsky I, Song R, Bernard NF. Expression profiles of ligands for activating natural killer cell receptors on HIV infected and uninfected CD4+ T cells. Viruses. 2017;9. doi:10.3390/v9100295
- 174. Schwartz O, Maréchal V, Le Gall S, Lemonnier F, Heard JM. Endocytosis of major histocompatibility complex class I molecules is induced by the HIV-1 Nef protein. Nat Med. 1996;2: 338–342. doi:10.1038/nm0396-338
- 175. Galaski J, Ahmad F, Tibroni N, Pujol FM, Müller B, Schmidt RE, et al. Cell surface downregulation of NK cell ligands by patient-derived HIV-1 Vpu and Nef alleles. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2016;72: 1–10. doi:10.1097/QAI.0000000000000917
- 176. Carl S, Greenough TC, Krumbiegel M, Greenberg M, Skowronski J, Sullivan JL, et al. Modulation of Different Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Nef Functions during Progression to AIDS. J Virol. 2001;75: 3657–3665. doi:10.1128/jvi.75.8.3657-3665.2001
- 177. Bachtel ND, Umviligihozo G, Pickering S, Mota TM, Liang H, Del Prete GQ, et al. HLA-C downregulation by HIV-1 adapts to host HLA genotype. PLoS Pathog. 2018;14. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1007257
- 178. van Stigt Thans T, Akko JI, Niehrs A, Garcia-Beltran WF, Richert L, Stürzel CM, et al. Primary HIV-1 Strains Use Nef To Downmodulate HLA-E Surface Expression. J Virol. 2019;93. doi:10.1128/jvi.00719-19
- 179. Wolf Lindwasser O, Chaudhuri R, Bonifacino J. Mechanisms of CD4 Downregulation by the Nef and Vpu Proteins of Primate Immunodeficiency Viruses. Curr Mol Med. 2007;7: 171–184. doi:10.2174/156652407780059177
- 180. Pham TNQ, Lukhele S, Hajjar F, Routy JP, Cohen ÉA. HIV Nef and Vpu protect HIV-infected CD4+ T cells from antibody-mediated cell lysis through downmodulation of CD4 and BST2. Retrovirology. 2014;11: 15. doi:10.1186/1742-4690-11-15
- 181. Chowers MY, Spina CA, Kwoh TJ, Fitch NJ, Richman DD, Guatelli JC. Optimal infectivity in vitro of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 requires an intact nef gene. J Virol. 1994;68: 2906–2914. doi:10.1128/jvi.68.5.2906-2914.1994
- 182. Spina CA, Kwoh TJ, Chowers MY, Guatelli JC, Richman DD. The importance of nef in the induction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication from primary quiescent CD4 lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1994;179: 115–123. doi:10.1084/jem.179.1.115
- 183. Lundquist CA, Tobiume M, Zhou J, Unutmaz D, Aiken C. Nef-Mediated Downregulation of CD4 Enhances Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Replication in Primary T Lymphocytes. J Virol. 2002;76: 4625–4633. doi:10.1128/jvi.76.9.4625-4633.2002
- 184. Münch J, Rajan D, Schindler M, Specht A, Rücker E, Novembre FJ, et al. Nef-Mediated Enhancement of Virion Infectivity and Stimulation of Viral Replication Are

Fundamental Properties of Primate Lentiviruses. J Virol. 2007;81: 13852–13864. doi:10.1128/jvi.00904-07

- 185. Soriani A, Zingoni A, Cerboni C, Lannitto ML, Ricciardi MR, Gialleonardo V Di, et al. ATM-ATR-dependent up-regulation of DNAM-1 and NKG2D ligands on multiple myeloma cells by therapeutic agents results in enhanced NK-cell susceptibility and is associated with a senescent phenotype. Blood. 2009;113: 3503–3511. doi:10.1182/blood-2008-08-173914
- 186. Goh WC, Rogel ME, Matthew Kinsey C, Michael SF, Fultz PN, Nowak MA, et al. HIV-1 Vpr increases viral expression by manipulation of the cell cycle: A mechanism for selection of Vpr in vivo. Nat Med. 1998;4: 65–71. doi:10.1038/nm0198-065
- Andersen JL, Le Rouzic E, Planelles V. HIV-1 Vpr: Mechanisms of G2 arrest and apoptosis. Experimental and Molecular Pathology. NIH Public Access; 2008. pp. 2– 10. doi:10.1016/j.yexmp.2008.03.015
- 188. Vendrame E, Seiler C, Ranganath T, Zhao NQ, Vergara R, Alary M, et al. TIGIT is upregulated by HIV-1 infection and marks a highly functional adaptive and mature subset of natural killer cells. AIDS. 2020;34: 801–813. doi:10.1097/QAD.00000000002488
- 189. Yin X, Liu T, Wang Z, Ma M, Lei J, Zhang Z, et al. Expression of the inhibitory receptor tigit is up-regulated specifically on nk cells with cd226 activating receptor from HIV-infected individuals. Front Immunol. 2018;9: 2341. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2018.02341
- 190. Kruize Z, Kootstra NA. The Role of Macrophages in HIV-1 Persistence and Pathogenesis. Frontiers in Microbiology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2019. p. 2828. doi:10.3389/fmicb.2019.02828
- 191. Campbell JH, Hearps AC, Martin GE, Williams KC, Crowe SM. The importance of monocytes and macrophages in HIV pathogenesis,treatment,and cure. AIDS. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2014. pp. 2175–2187. doi:10.1097/QAD.000000000000408
- 192. Chan CJ, Martinet L, Gilfillan S, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Chow MT, Town L, et al. The receptors CD96 and CD226 oppose each other in the regulation of natural killer cell functions. Nat Immunol. 2014;15: 431–438. doi:10.1038/ni.2850
- 193. Mendelsohn CL, Wimmer E, Racaniello VR. Cellular receptor for poliovirus: Molecular cloning, nucleotide sequence, and expression of a new member of the immunoglobulin superfamily. Cell. 1989;56: 855–865. doi:10.1016/0092-8674(89)90690-9
- 194. Koike S, Horie H, Ise I, Okitsu A, Yoshida M, Iizuka N, et al. The poliovirus receptor protein is produced both as membrane-bound and secreted forms. EMBO J. 1990;9: 3217–3224. doi:10.1002/j.1460-2075.1990.tb07520.x
- 195. Ma Y, Li X, Kuang E. Viral evasion of natural killer cell activation. Viruses. MDPI AG; 2016. doi:10.3390/v8040095
- 196. Kim H, Bose SK, Meyer K, Ray R. Hepatitis C Virus Impairs Natural Killer Cell-Mediated Augmentation of Complement Synthesis. J Virol. 2014;88: 2564–2571. doi:10.1128/jvi.02988-13
- 197. Cerboni C, Neri F, Casartelli N, Zingoni A, Cosman D, Rossi P, et al. Human

immunodeficiency virus 1 Nef protein downmodulates the ligands of the activating receptor NKG2D and inhibits natural killer cell-mediated cytotoxicity. J Gen Virol. 2007;88: 242–250. doi:10.1099/vir.0.82125-0

- Hansen TH, Bouvier M. MHC class i antigen presentation: Learning from viral evasion strategies. Nature Reviews Immunology. Nature Publishing Group; 2009. pp. 503–513. doi:10.1038/nri2575
- 199. Derrien M, Pizzato N, Dolcini G, Menu E, Chaouat G, Lenfant F, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus 1 downregulates cell surface expression of the nonclassical major histocompatibility class I molecule HLA-G1. J Gen Virol. 2004;85: 1945–1954. doi:10.1099/vir.0.79867-0
- 200. González-Galarza FF, Takeshita LYC, Santos EJM, Kempson F, Maia MHT, Da Silva ALS, et al. Allele frequency net 2015 update: New features for HLA epitopes, KIR and disease and HLA adverse drug reaction associations. Nucleic Acids Res. 2015;43: D784–D788. doi:10.1093/nar/gku1166
- 201. Boudreau JE, Le Luduec J-B, Hsu KC. KIR3DL1 and HLA-Bw4 Allotypes Predict The Extent Of NK Cell Licensing. Blood. 2013;122: 1043–1043. doi:10.1182/blood.v122.21.1043.1043
- Parsons MS, Zipperlen K, Gallant M, Grant M. Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor 3DL1 licenses CD16-mediated effector functions of natural killer cells. J Leukoc Biol. 2010;88: 905–912. doi:10.1189/jlb.1009687
- 203. Song R, Lisovsky I, Lebouché B, Routy J-P, Bruneau J, Bernard NF. HIV Protective KIR3DL1/S1-HLA-B Genotypes Influence NK Cell-Mediated Inhibition of HIV Replication in Autologous CD4 Targets. Desrosiers RC, editor. PLoS Pathog. 2014;10: e1003867. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1003867
- 204. Kibar F, Ozturk OG, Ulu A, Erken E, Inal S, Dinkci S, et al. Role of KIR genes and genotypes in susceptibility to or protection against hepatitis B virus infection in a Turkish cohort. Med Sci Monit. 2014;20: 28–34. doi:10.12659/MSM.889893
- 205. Bonagura VR, Du Z, Ashouri E, Luo L, Hatam LJ, DeVoti JA, et al. Activating killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors 3DS1 and 2DS1 protect against developing the severe form of recurrent respiratory papillomatosis. Hum Immunol. 2010;71: 212–219. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2009.10.009
- 206. Huo L, Jiang MY, Li Q, Zhu YP. Novel association of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor genes with EBV-infectious diseases in children. Biomedical and Environmental Sciences. Elsevier Ltd; 2015. pp. 303–307. doi:10.3967/bes2015.042
- 207. Qiang Q, Zhengde X, Chunyan L, Zhizhuo H, Junmei X, Junhong A, et al. Killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor gene polymorphisms predispose susceptibility to Epstein-Barr virus associated hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis in Chinese children. Microbiol Immunol. 2012;56: 378–384. doi:10.1111/j.1348-0421.2012.00443.x
- 208. Alagarasu K, Bachal R V., Shah PS, Cecilia D. Profile of killer cell immunoglobulinlike receptor and its human leucocyte antigen ligands in dengue-infected patients from Western India. Int J Immunogenet. 2015;42: 432–438. doi:10.1111/iji.12231
- 209. Goedert JJ, Martin MP, Vitale F, Lauria C, Whitby D, Qi Y, et al. Risk of classic kaposi sarcoma with combinations of killer immunoglobulin-like receptor and human

leukocyte antigen loci: A population-based case-control study. J Infect Dis. 2016;213: 432–438. doi:10.1093/infdis/jiv413

- Eagle RA, Traherne JA, Ashiru O, Wills MR, Trowsdale J. Regulation of NKG2D Ligand Gene Expression. Hum Immunol. 2006;67: 159–169. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2006.02.015
- 211. Boyle LH, Gillingham AK, Munro S, Trowsdale J. Selective Export of HLA-F by Its Cytoplasmic Tail. J Immunol. 2006;176: 6464–6472. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.11.6464
- 212. Harada A, Ishigami S, Kijima Y, Nakajo A, Arigami T, Kurahara H, et al. Clinical implication of human leukocyte antigen (<scp>HLA</scp>)- <scp>F</scp> expression in breast cancer. Pathol Int. 2015;65: 569–574. doi:10.1111/pin.12343
- 213. Xu Y, Han H, Zhang F, Lv S, Li Z, Fang Z. Lesion human leukocyte antigen-F expression is associated with a poor prognosis in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. Oncol Lett. 2015;9: 300–304. doi:10.3892/ol.2014.2686
- Gobin SJP, Van Den Elsen PJ. Transcriptional regulation of the MHC class lb genes HLA-E, HLA-F and HLA-G. Human Immunology. Elsevier; 2000. pp. 1102– 1107. doi:10.1016/S0198-8859(00)00198-1
- 215. Gobin SJ, van Zutphen M, Woltman AM van den EP. Transactivation of classical and nonclassical HLA class I genes through the IFN-stimulated response element. J Immunol. 1999;1: 1428–34.
- 216. Wainwright SD, Biro PA, Holmes CH. HLA-F Is a Predominantly Empty, Intracellular, TAP-Associated MHC Class Ib Protein with a Restricted Expression Pattern. J Immunol. 2000;164: 319–328. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.164.1.319
- Kak G, Raza M, Tiwari BK. Interferon-gamma (IFN-γ): Exploring its implications in infectious diseases. Biomolecular Concepts. Walter de Gruyter GmbH; 2018. pp. 64–79. doi:10.1515/bmc-2018-0007
- 218. Lee J, Tian Y, Chan ST, Kim JY, Cho C, Ou J hsiung J. TNF-α Induced by Hepatitis C Virus via TLR7 and TLR8 in Hepatocytes Supports Interferon Signaling via an Autocrine Mechanism. PLoS Pathog. 2015;11. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004937
- 219. Zhang S, Saha B, Kodys K, Szabo G. IFN-γ production by human natural killer cells in response to HCV-infected hepatoma cells is dependent on accessory cells. J Hepatol. 2013;59: 442–449. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2013.04.022
- 220. Sung PS, Shin EC. Interferon response in hepatitis C virus-infected hepatocytes: Issues to consider in the era of direct-acting antivirals. Int J Mol Sci. 2020;21: 2583. doi:10.3390/ijms21072583
- 221. Herzer K, Falk CS, Encke J, Eichhorst ST, Ulsenheimer A, Seliger B, et al. Upregulation of Major Histocompatibility Complex Class I on Liver Cells by Hepatitis C Virus Core Protein via p53 and TAP1 Impairs Natural Killer Cell Cytotoxicity. J Virol. 2003;77: 8299–8309. doi:10.1128/jvi.77.15.8299-8309.2003
- 222. Lee N, Geraghty DE. HLA-F Surface Expression on B Cell and Monocyte Cell Lines Is Partially Independent from Tapasin and Completely Independent from TAP. J Immunol. 2003;171: 5264–5271. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.10.5264
- 223. Belicha-Villanueva A, McEvoy S, Cycon K, Ferrone S, Gollnick SO, Bangia N. Differential contribution of TAP and tapasin to HLA class I antigen expression.

Immunology. 2008;124: 112–120. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2567.2007.02746.x

- 224. Lepin EJM, Bastin JM, Allan DSJ, Roncador G, Braud VM, Mason DY, et al. Functional characterization of HLA-F and binding of HLA-F tetramers to ILT2 and ILT4 receptors. Eur J Immunol. 2000;30: 3552–3561. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200012)30:12<3552::AID-IMMU3552>3.0.CO;2-L
- 225. Lin JH, Walter P, Yen TSB. Endoplasmic reticulum stress in disease pathogenesis. Annual Review of Pathology: Mechanisms of Disease. NIH Public Access; 2008. pp. 399–425. doi:10.1146/annurev.pathmechdis.3.121806.151434
- 226. Li B, Gao B, Ye L, Han X, Wang W, Kong L, et al. Hepatitis B virus X protein (HBx) activates ATF6 and IRE1-XBP1 pathways of unfolded protein response. Virus Res. 2007;124: 44–49. doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2006.09.011
- 227. Tardif KD, Waris G, Siddiqui A. Hepatitis C virus, ER stress, and oxidative stress. Trends Microbiol. 2005;13: 159–163. doi:10.1016/j.tim.2005.02.004
- 228. Kumar G, Date OS, Kim KS, Manjunath R. Infection of human amniotic and endothelial cells by Japanese encephalitis virus: Increased expression of HLA-F. Virology. 2014;471: 29–37. doi:10.1016/j.virol.2014.09.022
- 229. Tai DI, Tsai SL, Chen YM, Chuang YL, Peng CY, Sheen IS, et al. Activation of nuclear factor κB in hepatitis C virus infection: Implications for pathogenesis and hepatocarcinogenesis. Hepatology. 2000;31: 656–664. doi:10.1002/hep.510310316
- O'Connor GM, Guinan KJ, Cunningham RT, Middleton D, Parham P, Gardiner CM. Functional Polymorphism of the KIR3DL1/S1 Receptor on Human NK Cells. J Immunol. 2007;178: 235–241. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.1.235
- 231. Pascal V, Yamada E, Martin MP, Alter G, Altfeld M, Metcalf JA, et al. Detection of KIR3DS1 on the Cell Surface of Peripheral Blood NK Cells Facilitates Identification of a Novel Null Allele and Assessment of KIR3DS1 Expression during HIV-1 Infection. J Immunol. 2007;179: 1625–1633. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.179.3.1625
- Battistella M, Janin A, Jean-Louis F, Collomb C, Leboeuf C, Sicard H, et al. KIR3DL2 (CD158k) is a potential therapeutic target in primary cutaneous anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Br J Dermatol. 2016;175: 325–333. doi:10.1111/bjd.14626
- 233. Benson DM, Cohen AD, Jagannath S, Munshi NC, Spitzer G, Hofmeister CC, et al. A phase I trial of the anti-KIR antibody IPH2101 and lenalidomide in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Clin Cancer Res. 2015;21: 4055–4061. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-15-0304
- 234. Khan M, Arooj S, Wang H. NK Cell-Based Immune Checkpoint Inhibition. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2020. p. 167. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2020.00167
- 235. Holder KA, Grant MD. TIGIT Blockade: A Multipronged Approach to Target the HIV Reservoir. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2020;10: 175. doi:10.3389/fcimb.2020.00175
- 236. Chauvin JM, Zarour HM. TIGIT in cancer immunotherapy. Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer. BMJ Publishing Group; 2020. doi:10.1136/jitc-2020-000957
- 237. Bi J, Tian Z. NK cell exhaustion. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media S.A.; 2017. p. 760. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2017.00760
- 238. Wherry EJ, Ha SJ, Kaech SM, Haining WN, Sarkar S, Kalia V, et al. Molecular

Signature of CD8+ T Cell Exhaustion during Chronic Viral Infection. Immunity. 2007;27: 670–684. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2007.09.006

- 239. Ottaviano G, Chiesa R, Feuchtinger T, Vickers MA, Dickinson A, Gennery AR, et al. Adoptive T cell therapy strategies for viral infections in patients receiving haematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Cells. MDPI; 2019. p. 47. doi:10.3390/cells8010047
- 240. Kaeuferle T, Krauss R, Blaeschke F, Willier S, Feuchtinger T. Strategies of adoptive T -cell transfer to treat refractory viral infections post allogeneic stem cell transplantation. Journal of Hematology and Oncology. BioMed Central Ltd.; 2019. doi:10.1186/s13045-019-0701-1
- 241. Icheva V, Kayser S, Wolff D, Tuve S, Kyzirakos C, Bethge W, et al. Adoptive transfer of Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) nuclear antigen 1-specific T cells as treatment for EBV reactivation and lymphoproliferative disorders after allogeneic stem-cell transplantation. J Clin Oncol. 2013;31: 39–48. doi:10.1200/JCO.2011.39.8495
- 242. Shah N, Li L, McCarty J, Kaur I, Yvon E, Shaim H, et al. Phase I study of cord blood-derived natural killer cells combined with autologous stem cell transplantation in multiple myeloma. Br J Haematol. 2017;177: 457–466. doi:10.1111/bjh.14570
- 243. Klingemann H. Are natural killer cells superior CAR drivers? Oncoimmunology. 2014;3. doi:10.4161/onci.28147

List of figures

Figure 1: NK cell function
Figure 2: NK cell receptors 4
Figure 3: Interactions between KIRs and their cellular ligands
Figure 4: Interactions between NK cell receptors and nectin/nectin-like molecules9
Figure 5: Conformations of HLA class I molecules11
Figure 6: Structure of the human immunodeficiency virus (HIV, left) and the hepatitis C
virus (HCV, right)12
Figure 7: KIR2DL5-Fc construct binding to K562 cells with and without pre-incubation of
the cells in sulfate-free sulfation inhibition medium19
Figure 8: KIR2DL5 reporter cells are not activated upon co-cultivation with HLA-C*06:02
expressing 721.221 cells
Figure 9: Expression patterns of CD155 binding NK cell receptors and NK cell
degranulation in response to CD155 ⁻ (721.221) and CD155 ⁺ (Jurkat E6.1) target cells22
Figure 10: Phenotyping of KIR2DL5 ⁻ and KIR2DL ⁺ NK cell clones23
Figure 11: The viral protein Nef downregulates host-cell surface molecules to facilitate
immune evasion26
Figure 12: Impact of HIV-1 Nef and Vpu on the downregulation of CD155 on infected
CD4 ⁺ T cells
Figure 13: HIV-1 Nef-mediated downregulation of CD155 results in antiviral activity of
KIR2DL5 ⁺ NK cells
Figure 14: Interactions between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F contribute to the control of HCV
infection by KIR3DS1 ⁺ NK cells

List of tables

Table 1: Genetic associations of <i>KIR2DL5</i> and infectious diseases.	25
Table 2: Genetic associations of <i>KIR3DS1</i> with viral infections	32

Acknowledgments

Acknowledgments

Firstly, I would like to thank Marcus Altfeld for supervising me and for being a great mentor with excellent scientific advices and continuous support.

Thanks to Sebastian L., Angelique, Gloria, Annika N., Christian and Wilfredo for scientific discussions and advice and their mental support.

Special thanks to Sarah and Kerri for being awesome and for the endless support, the teamwork and our friendship.

Thanks to Annika A., Rosi, Sven, Chris, Johannes, Andy, Tobi, Leonore, Benedetta, Kristina, Sébastien, Martin and all other members of the Altfeld lab for the scientific and emotional support and for many wonderful moments and conversations.

Thanks to Heike, Arne and Jana for their exceptional technical support.

Thanks to Thomas Dobner for being the second reviewer of my dissertation.

Last but not least, I want to thank Lukas, my sister and my parents for their encouragement and mental support during the whole time.

Illustrations created with BioRender.com

Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Declaration under oath

Hiermit erkläre ich an Eides statt, dass ich die vorliegende Dissertationsschrift selbst verfasst und keine anderen als die angegebenen Quellen und Hilfsmittel benutzt habe. *I hereby declare, under oath, that I have written the present dissertation on my own and have not used any resources or aids other than those acknowledged.*

Hamburg, 15th of July 2022

Pi- Gitte

City and date

signature student

Appendix

Participation in publications

Publication #1 "HIV-1 Nef-mediated downregulation of CD155 results in viral restriction by KIR2DL5+ NK cells", DOI: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1010572

I was involved in the design and realization of the experiments, data analysis and presentation and writing of the manuscript.

Publication #2 "Interactions Between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F Activate Natural Killer Cells to Control HCV Replication in Cell Culture", DOI: 10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.019 *I contributed to the rebuttal of this paper by acquiring and analyzing additional experimental data.*

Hamburg, 15th of July 2022

U. Co al

City and date

signature supervisor

Appendix

1. Reprinted from Fittje P, Hoelzemer A, Garcia-Beltran WF, Vollmers S, Niehrs A, Hagemann K, Martrus G, Körner C, Kirchhoff F, Sauter D, Altfeld M. HIV-1 Nef-mediated downregulation of CD155 results in viral restriction by KIR2DL5+ NK cells. *PLoS Pathog.* 2022 Jun 24;18(6) with permission from PLOS Pathogens.

2. Reprinted from Lunemann S, Schöbel A, Kah J, <u>Fittje P</u>, Hölzemer A, Langeneckert AE, Hess LU, Poch T, Martrus G, Garcia-Beltran WF, Körner C, Ziegler AE, Richert L, Oldhafer KJ, Schulze Zur Wiesch J, Schramm C, Dandri M, Herker E, Altfeld M. Interactions Between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F Activate Natural Killer Cells to Control HCV Replication in Cell Culture. *Gastroenterology*. 2018 Nov;155(5):1366-1371 with permission from Elsevier.



Citation: Fittje P, Hælzemer A, Garcia-Beltran WF, Vollmers S, Niehrs A, Hagemann K, et al. (2022) HIV-1 Nef-mediated downregulation of CD155 results in viral restriction by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. PLoS Pathog 18(6): e1010572. https://doi.org/ 10.1371/journal.ppat.1010572

Editor: David T. Evans, University of Wisconsin, UNITED STATES

Received: November 3, 2021

Accepted: May 5, 2022

Published: June 24, 2022

Copyright: © 2022 Fittje et al. This is an open access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License, which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author and source are credited.

Data Availability Statement: The primary data sets generated during the present study are stored in the central data repository of the Leibniz Institute of Virology, and are available on request (vorstandsreferat@leibniz-liv.de). All other relevant data are within the paper and its supporting information files.

Funding: These studies were supported by the German Center for Infection Research (DZIF) grant 2021ff TTU 04.820 KTR8003026 to M.A., a Hector Foundation award to M.A., by the DZIF grant TTU

RESEARCH ARTICLE

HIV-1 Nef-mediated downregulation of CD155 results in viral restriction by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells

Pia Fittje¹, Angelique Hœlzemer^{1,2,3}, Wilfredo F. Garcia-Beltran^{1,4}, Sarah Vollmers¹, Annika Niehrs¹, Kerri Hagemann¹, Glòria Martrus¹, Christian Körner¹, Frank Kirchhoff⁵, Daniel Sauter⁶, Marcus Altfeld^{1,3}*

 Leibniz Institute of Virology (LIV), Hamburg, Germany, 2 First Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany, 3 German Center for Infection Research (DZIF), Partner Site Hamburg-Lübeck-Borstel-Riems, Hamburg, Germany,
 Department of Pathology, Massachusetts General Hospital/Harvard Medical School, Boston, Massachusetts, United States of America, 5 Institute of Molecular Virology, Ulm University Medical Center, Ulm, Germany, 6 Institute for Medical Virology and Epidemiology of Viral Diseases, University Hospital Tübingen, Tübingen, Germany

* marcus.altfeld@leibniz-liv.de

Abstract

Antiviral NK cell activity is regulated through the interaction of activating and inhibitory NK cell receptors with their ligands on infected cells. HLA class I molecules serve as ligands for most killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs), but no HLA class I ligands for the inhibitory NK cell receptor KIR2DL5 have been identified to date. Using a NK cell receptor/ligand screening approach, we observed no strong binding of KIR2DL5 to HLA class I or class II molecules, but confirmed that KIR2DL5 binds to the poliovirus receptor (PVR, CD155). Functional studies using primary human NK cells revealed a significantly decreased degranulation of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells in response to CD155-expressing target cells. We subsequently investigated the role of KIR2DL5/CD155 interactions in HIV-1 infection, and showed that multiple HIV-1 strains significantly decreased CD155 expression levels on HIV-1infected primary human CD4⁺ T cells via a Nef-dependent mechanism. Co-culture of NK cells with HIV-1-infected CD4⁺ T cells revealed enhanced anti-viral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells against wild-type versus Nef-deficient viruses, indicating that HIV-1-mediated downregulation of CD155 renders infected cells more susceptible to recognition by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. These data show that CD155 suppresses the antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells and is downmodulated by HIV-1 Nef protein as potential trade-off counteracting activating NK cell ligands, demonstrating the ability of NK cells to counteract immune escape mechanisms employed by HIV-1.

Author summary

HIV infection remains a global health emergency that has caused around 36 million deaths. NK cells play an important role in the control of HIV-1 infections, and are able to detect and destroy infected cells using a large array of activating and inhibitory receptors, including KIRs. Here we demonstrate that CD155 serves as a functional interaction

01.709; 8009701709 to A.H., the DFG grant KO 5139/3-1 to SV, and D.S. was supported by the Heisenberg Program and Priority Program SPP 1923 of the German Research Foundation. The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

Competing interests: The authors have declared that no competing interests exist.

partner for the inhibitory NK cell receptor KIR2DL5, and that KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells are inhibited by CD155-expressing target cells. CD155 surface expression on HIV-1-infected CD4⁺ T cells was downregulated by the HIV-1 Nef protein, resulting in increased antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells through the loss of inhibitory signals. Taken together, these studies demonstrate functional consequences of the novel interaction between KIR2DL5 and CD155 for the antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells during HIV-1 infection.

Introduction

Natural killer (NK) cells are important antiviral effector cells of the innate immune system. NK cells can recognize virus-infected cells through activating receptors and the loss of engagement of inhibitory receptors [1], enabling both tolerance against self and effective immune responses against virus-infected and tumor cells [2]. One important NK cell receptor family is the group of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs), which contains several structurally related activating and inhibitory receptors. To date, all described functional ligands for KIRs constitute HLA class I molecules, including KIR2DL1 and KIR2DL3 binding to HLA-C group 2 and 1, respectively, and KIR3DL1 binding to HLA-Bw4 molecules [3-5]. While for most KIRs a functional ligand has been defined, the inhibitory KIR2DL5 was long considered an "orphan" receptor [6]. Like other KIRs, KIR2DL5 is genetically polymorphic and due to a duplication of the gene in humans encoded by two different loci on chromosome 19 designated as KIR2DL5A and KIR2DL5B. However, surface expression has been mainly detected for molecules encoded by the KIR2DL5A alleles [6,7]. Recently, the poliovirus receptor (PVR/ CD155) has been described as a binding partner for KIR2DL5 [8,9], potentially identifying a KIR not to interact with HLA class I molecules. Given the well-established functional interactions of CD155 with the activating NK cell receptors DNAM-1 [10] and CD96 [11] and the inhibitory NK cell receptor TIGIT [12], the newly described binding of KIR2DL5 to CD155 suggests a complex regulation of NK cell activity by CD155. However, the functional consequences of KIR2DL5-CD155 interactions for primary NK cells and their antiviral activity remained unknown.

Viruses have evolved multiple strategies to evade immune cell recognition, including mechanisms to reduce the surface expression of ligands for immune cells on infected cells. These processes include the downregulation of HLA class I molecules by the HIV-1 accessory proteins Nef and Vpu to evade CD8⁺ T cell recognition. While Nef is involved in the downregulation of HLA-A and -B, Vpu reduces the surface expression of HLA-C on HIV-1-infected cells [13–16]. However, downregulation of HLA class I molecules can result in enhanced "missingself" recognition of infected cells by NK cells through the loss of inhibitory signals mediated by inhibitory NK cell receptors binding to HLA class I [17,18]. In addition, HIV-1 can evade NK cell recognition by decreasing surface expression-levels of ligands for activating NK cell receptors such as MICA and MICB [19,20] that serve as ligands for the C-type lectin receptor NKG2D [21]. Recent data have suggested that CD155 surface expression can also be downmodulated by HIV-1, involving the viral proteins Nef and/or Vpu, probably to evade DNAM-1-dependant NK cell recognition of infected cells [22-25]. However, modulation of CD155 surface expression by HIV-1 remains incompletely understood, as some studies also suggest an upregulation [26] or no modulation of CD155 expression [20,27]. As the recently described interaction between KIR2DL5 and CD155 indicates a more complex regulation of NK cell function through CD155, we investigated the functional consequences of HIV-1-mediated

regulation of CD155 expression for KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. We show that CD155 serves as an important functional ligand for the inhibitory NK cell receptor KIR2DL5 that can inhibit primary human KIR2DL5⁺ NK cell activity. HIV-1 strains decreased CD155 expression levels on HIV-1-infected CD4⁺ T cells through a Nef-dependent mechanism, potentially in an effort to evade DNAM-1-mediated recognition by NK cells. However, this resulted in better *in vitro* inhibition of replication of wild-type viral strains by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells compared to Δ Nef viruses. Taken together, this study provides new functional insights into the interaction between KIR2DL5 and CD155, and the consequences for antiviral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells during HIV-1 infection.

Results

KIR2DL5 represents an additional binding partner for CD155

KIR2DL5 is an inhibitory NK cell receptor for which functional ligands are not well defined. To assess potential binding of KIR2DL5 to various HLA class I and HLA class II molecules, we performed a bead-based screening assay. NK cell receptor Fc fusion constructs, consisting of the extracellular domain of an NK cell receptor fused to an IgG1 Fc domain, were used to stain HLA-coated beads using an array of color-coded beads coated with 97 different HLA class I and 95 HLA class II molecules [28]. The NK cell receptor KIR2DL3 that recognizes HLA-C group 1 (HLA-C1) molecules [4] was used as a positive control for the HLA class I binding assay, and the lymphocyte activation gene 3 (LAG-3) protein, which is a high affinity ligand for HLA class II molecules [29], served as a positive control for the HLA class II screen (Fig 1A). While the KIR2DL3-Fc construct did interact with HLA-C1, KIR2DL5-Fc showed no strong binding to any of the investigated HLA class I molecules. Furthermore, LAG-3 was interacting with all HLA class II molecules, while KIR2DL5 did not bind to any of the HLA class II-coated beads (Fig 1A).

Nectin and nectin-like molecules play an important regulatory role for NK cell function by interacting with several NK cell receptors including TIGIT, DNAM-1 and CD96 [30]. To investigate whether members of the KIR family do also bind to nectin(-like) molecules, bind-ing of TIGIT-, DNAM-1-, CD96- and KIR- (KIR2DL1, KIR2DL3, KIR2DL4, KIR2DL5 and KIR3DL1) Fc constructs to CD112 (Nectin-2)- and CD155 (PVR)-coated beads was determined. Beads coated with biotin served as negative control. These experiments confirmed previously described binding of nectin(-like) molecules to TIGIT, DNAM-1 and CD96 [10–12]. TIGIT and DNAM-1 exhibited the strongest interaction with CD155 and also bound to CD112 with lower affinity. CD96 is an intermediate affinity ligand for CD155 [30], and we also observed CD96-Fc construct binding to CD155 and no binding to CD112. Most investigated KIR-Fc constructs (KIR2DL1, KIR2DL3, KIR2DL4 and KIR3DL1) did not show any interaction with biotin-, CD112- or CD155-coated beads. However, KIR2DL5-Fc constructs exhibited binding to CD155, showing a slightly lower binding signal compared to DNAM-1 and TIGIT (Figs 1B and S1). Taken together, these data demonstrate that KIR2DL5, unlike other KIRs, does not strongly interact with HLA class I molecules, but binds to CD155.

CD155 serves as a functional ligand for KIR2DL5

While binding of KIR2DL5 to CD155 has previously been shown [8,9], we were interested in investigating the functional consequences of this interaction for primary NK cells. We therefore generated a KIR2DL5-expressing reporter cell line to further validate the interaction on a cellular basis by fusing the extracellular domain of KIR2DL5 to the intracellular part of the CD3 ζ chain and stably expressing the chimeric construct within Jurkat cells. KIR2DL5 receptor binding to respective ligands can be determined based on CD69-upregulation on the


Fig 1. Binding of KIR-, TIGIT-, DNAM-1- and CD96-Fc constructs to HLA class I-, HLA class II- and nectin(-like)-coated beads. (A) KIR2DL5-Fc construct binding to HLA class I-coated and HLA class II-coated beads was measured by using a PE-labeled anti-IgG antibody and is shown as median fluorescence intensity (MFI). Each dot represents an individual HLA class I or class II allotype. Binding of KIR2DL5-Fc constructs was assessed in triplicates (*n* = 3). MFIs are shown as mean values for each HLA allotype. The 97 HLA class I allotypes as well as the 95 HLA class II allotypes were grouped according to the different subsets HLA-A, HLA-C1, HLA-C2, HLA-Bw4, HLA-Bw6 (HLA class I) and HLA-DR, HLA-DQ, HLA-DP (HLA class II). Negative control beads (white) were not coated with HLA antigen, positive control beads (black) were coated with purified human IgG. Black bars represent the mean of each HLA group and error bars show the standard deviation. (B) NK cell receptor Fc construct binding to CD112 (Nectin-2) and CD155 (PVR) was measured by flow cytometry. Binding of KIR2DL3, KIR2DL5, TIGIT, DNAM-1 and CD96 to biotin (neg. control), CD112 and CD155 was assessed as MFI in three independent experiments (*n* = 3). The mean values of the experiments are shown as black bars and standard deviations are depicted as error bars.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1010572.g001

surface of the KIR2DL5^{\(\zeta\)} reporter cells. Reporter cell lines transfected with KIR2DL1^{\(\zeta\)}, KIR2DL3ζ and KIR3DL1ζ were used as controls. KIRζ reporter cells were co-incubated with CD155-coated beads as well as with anti-KIR- (pos. control), biotin- (neg. control) and CD112-coated beads. All tested reporter cell lines (KIR2DL1ζ, KIR2DL3ζ, KIR2DL5ζ and KIR3DL1ζ) upregulated CD69 expression upon co-incubation with their respective anti-KIR antibody (pos. control beads; compared to unstimulated controls) and showed no functional response to biotin-coated beads (neg. control beads) (Fig 2A and 2B). Only KIR2DL5 reporter cells showed a significant upregulation of CD69 expression upon incubation with CD155-coated beads compared to the co-incubation with negative control beads (biotin) or beads coated with CD112 (p < 0.01) (Figs 2A, 2B and S2). Blocking experiments using antibodies directed against KIR2DL5 or a respective isotype control were performed. The isotype antibody did not influence reporter cell activation following co-incubation with anti-KIR2DL5- and CD155-coated beads, whereas the anti-KIR2DL5 antibody significantly abrogated CD69 upregulation on KIR2DL5 ζ reporter cells (p < 0.05) (Fig 2C). Taken together, these data demonstrate that the interaction between KIR2DL5 and CD155 results in the functional activation of KIR2DL5^C reporter cells.

KIR2DL5⁺ primary human NK cells are inhibited by CD155-expressing target cells

To determine the consequences of interactions between KIR2DL5 and CD155 for primary human KIR2DL5⁺ NK cell function, NK cell degranulation upon co-incubation with 721.221



Fig 2. KIR2DL5 ζ **-expressing reporter cells are activated by interacting with CD155.** (A) Reporter cell activity was determined by the upregulation of CD69 on the surface of KIR2DL1 ζ , KIR2DL3 ζ , KIR2DL5 ζ and KIR3DL1 ζ reporter cells during co-incubation with beads coated with anti-KIR2DL1, anti-KIR2DL3, anti-KIR2DL5 or anti-KIR3DL1, respectively, (pos. controls), biotin (neg. control), CD112 or CD155. Plots represent one out of six experiments and only the respective anti-KIR positive control is shown. (B) Percentage of CD69⁺ reporter cells after co-incubation with the indicated antibodies, biotin and nectin(-like) molecules. Plots show the results of six independent experiments (n = 6) with the mean value for each condition (black bar) and error bars depicting the standard error of the mean. Background activation (no target control) was subtracted from all samples. Mann-Whitney test was used to statistically analyze the difference in CD69 expression of CD155-, CD112- and biotin-stimulated cells (p = 0.0022). (C) Reporter cell activity of KIR2DL5 ζ cells was assessed after incubating cells with purified anti-KIR2DL5 or mouse IgG isotype control antibody prior to co-incubation with anti-KIR2DL5, biotin-, CD155- and CD112-coated beads. The percentage of CD69⁺ cells following incubation without beads (no target control) was subtracted from all samples. Reporter cell activity was determined in four independent experiments (n = 4). Lines between dots connect the matching samples incubated with the IgG isotype antibody or with purified anti-KIR2DL5. Mann-Whitney test was used to calculate statistical significance of differences in reporter cell activation through co-incubation with CD155-coated beads with and without KIR2DL5 blocking antibody (p = 0.0286).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1010572.g002

cells, which do not express CD155 at the cell surface, and transduced 721.221 cells overexpressing CD155 (S3 Fig), was assessed. NK cells of a *KIR2DL5A**001-positive donor and a donor completely lacking KIR2DL5 genetically were co-cultured with CD155⁺ or CD155⁻ target cells, and CD107a expression levels on KIR2DL5⁻ and KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells served as readout for NK cell degranulation in response to the different target cells (Fig 3A). All NK cell populations (KIR2DL5⁺, KIR2DL5⁺ and NK cells from *KIR2DL5*-negative donors) showed increased CD107a expression after co-incubation with CD155⁺ 721.221 cells (Fig 3B). When co-incubating NK cells with CD155⁺ 721.221 cells, KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells expressed significantly lower CD107a levels compared to KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells (p < 0.01) and NK cells of *KIR2DL5*-negative



Fig 3. Primary human KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells are inhibited by CD155-expressing target cells. (A) Degranulation of KIR2DL5⁺ (red) and KIR2DL5⁻ (blue) NK cells was defined as percentage of CD107a⁺ NK cells after co-incubation with CD155⁻ 721.221 target cells, CD155⁺ 721.221 target cells or left unstimulated. Plots show one representative experiment out of five independent experiments. (B) Percentage of CD107a-positive NK cells after co-incubation with target cells is shown as indicated before. Bars indicate mean values with standard deviations of KIR2DL5⁺ donors (*n* = 5 from 5 donors) and *KIR2DL5*-negative donors (*n* = 4 from 2 donors). Mann-Whitney test was used to calculate statistical significance of differences in CD107a levels (KIR2DL5⁺ versus KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells p = 0.008; *KIR2DL5*- negative versus KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells p = 0.016; KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells co-cultured with CD155⁺ or CD155⁺ target cells p = 0.008).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1010572.g003

donors (p < 0.02), and compared to KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells co-cultured with CD155⁻ target cells (p < 0.01) (Fig 3A and 3B). Taken together, these data show that interactions between CD155 and KIR2DL5 result in functional inhibition of primary human KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells.

HIV-1 mediates Nef-dependent down regulation of CD155 on HIV-1-infected CD4 $^{\rm +}$ T cells

HIV-1 has developed several mechanisms to evade innate and adaptive immune responses by modulating the expression of cell surface molecules such as HLA class I [14,15,31]. Previous studies have suggested that HIV-1 can also modulate protein expression levels of CD155 on the surface of infected cells. However, CD155 expression in HIV-1 infection is under debate, as some studies described a downregulation [22–25] whereas others reported no effect or an upregulation [20,26,27]. While most previous studies used tumor-transformed cell lines as infection models and/or pseudotyped HIV-1 particles, we decided to determine how genuine

HIV-1 strains, including primary transmitted-founder HIV-1 infectious molecular clones (IMCs), impact CD155 expression on primary CD4⁺ T cells. Freshly isolated human CD4⁺ T cells were infected with cell line-adapted (NL4-3 and JR-CSF) or primary (CH077, CH164, CH185, CH198, CH236, CH293) HIV-1 strains and median fluorescence intensity (MFI) levels of HLA class I (HLA-I), HLA-E, tetherin and CD155 were compared between HIV-1-infected p24 Gag⁺ CD4^{dim} cells and uninfected p24 Gag⁻ CD4⁺ cells within the same experimental tube (Figs 4A and S4). In line with previous studies [31-33], CD4⁺ T cells infected with different HIV-1 strains exhibited lower expression levels of HLA-I, HLA-E and tetherin than uninfected cells, indicating downregulation of these molecules by HIV-1 (exemplarily shown for the HIV-1 strain CH077 in Fig 4A). Similarly, the expression levels of CD155 were significantly decreased on HIV-1-infected cells compared to uninfected CD4⁺ T cells, and this downregulation was observed for all investigated laboratory-adapted and primary HIV-1 strains (Fig 4B). CD155 levels on uninfected bystander cells were similar to those on mock-infected CD4⁺ T cells of the same donor, which were treated the same but without adding virus (Fig 4A and 4B). CD155 levels depicted as relative change for the different HIV-1 strains are shown in Fig 4B and revealed the strongest downregulation of CD155 on CD4⁺ T cells infected with CH077, CH198 and NL4-3. Taken together, laboratory-adapted and primary HIV-1 strains downmodulate CD155 from the surface of primary human HIV-1-infected CD4⁺ T cells.

The HIV-1 accessory protein Nef is known to mediate downregulation of HLA-I cell surface expression [31], and was previously also suggested to be involved in CD155 modulation [22,24]. To investigate whether Nef contributes to the modulation of CD155 by CH077, CH198 and NL4-3, which showed the strongest downregulation of CD155, we used the respective wild type (wt) and Nef-defective mutant (Δ Nef) viruses to infect CD4⁺ T cells. As Nef also targets CD4 surface expression, Δ Nef-infected CD4⁺ T cells were defined as p24 Gag⁺ tetherin⁻ CD4⁺ T cells. All three tested HIV-1 wt strains induced downregulation of HLA-ABC on the surface of infected CD4⁺ T cells, which was not observed or less pronounced when infecting cells with the respective Δ Nef mutant viruses (Fig 4C). While the wild type viruses also downmodulated CD155 as described above, the Δ Nef mutants did not downregulate CD155 expression to the same extent (p < 0.01) (Fig 4C). These data demonstrate that the accessory HIV-1 protein Nef is involved in the downregulation of CD155 from the surface of infected primary human CD4⁺ T cells.

Reduced *in vitro* inhibition of HIV-1 replication by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells against Nef-deficient strains

To evaluate the consequences of CD155-downregulation for the antiviral capacity of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells, we co-incubated HIV-1 CH198 and NL4-3-infected (wt and Δ Nef) CD4⁺ T cells with autologous KIR2DL5⁺ or KIR2DL5⁻ NK cell clones. While KIR2DL5⁺ and KIR2DL5⁻ NK cell clones differed significantly in the expression of KIR2DL5 (KIR2DL5 median fluorescence intensity (MFI) for KIR2DL5⁺ NK cell clones: 400; KIR2DL5 MFI for KIR2DL5⁻ NK cell clones: 8; p < 0.0001), expression of TIGIT, DNAM-1 and CD96 was similar between the clones (p > 0.1). After a co-incubation of 7 days, viral inhibition was assessed by quantifying the percentage of p24⁺ cells. KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells exhibited a significantly higher inhibition of viral replication of CH198 and NL4-3 wt viruses compared to the respective Δ Nef viruses (p < 0.01), while only a small effect (NL4-3) or no effect (CH198) was observed for KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells (Fig 5A and 5B). These data indicate that the ability of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells to inhibit HIV-1 replication in vitro is significantly affected by Nef-mediated regulation of CD155, while the ability of KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells is not. This was further supported by the observation that inhibition of replication of Δ Nef CH198 (lacking the ability to downregulate



Fig 4. HIV-1 mediates downregulation of CD155 on infected CD4⁺ **T cells in a Nef-dependent manner.** (A) Expression levels of HLA-ABC, HLA-E, CD155 and tetherin were compared between HIV-1-infected (CH077) and uninfected CD4⁺ T cells. HIV-1-infected cells were determined by gating on $p24^+$ CD4^{dim} cells and uninfected cells were defined as $p24^-$ and CD4⁺. Histograms show surface expression of the indicated molecules

on HIV-1-infected (red), uninfected (blue) and mock infected (black) $CD4^+T$ cells. Dot plots display surface expression of HLA-ABC, HLA-E, CD155 and tetherin on p24⁻ and p24⁺ CD3⁺ T cells. (B) Modulation of CD155 expression on HIV-1-infected CD4⁺ T cells was assessed by using different HIV-1 cell line-adapted (NL4-3, JR-CSF) and primary strains (CH077, CH164, CH185, CH198, CH236, CH293). Mock-infected cells served as a control. The left graph shows CD155 expression on uninfected (blue) compared to infected (red) cells depicted as MFI. Each dot represents the result of one independent experiment. The right graph shows the median relative change (%) of CD155 expression mediated by the different HIV-1 strains, which was calculated as (MFI infected–MFI uninfected)/MFI uninfected × 100. HIV-1 strains (NL4-3, JR-CSF, CH077, CH164, CH185, CH198 and CH236) showed a significant downregulation of CD155 on infected cells (NL4-3, CH077, CH164, CH198 p = 0.016; JR-CSF, CH185, CH198 and CH236) showed a significant downregulation of CD155 on infected cells (NL4-3, CH077, CH164, CH198 p = 0.03), calculated by performing the Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test. Samples <150 cells were excluded, resulting in varying numbers of donors per condition. (C) HIV-1 wild type (wt) strains that showed the strongest CD155 downregulation (NL4-3, CH077, CH198) were compared to Δ Nef mutant viruses and analyzed for their ability to downmodulate HLA-ABC and CD155. Expression levels depicted as MFI are shown for mock (black), wt virus (red) and Δ Nef virus (white) infected CD4⁺ T cells (n = 5). The median relative change of CD155 expression is shown for wt (red) and Δ Nef mutant viruses (white). Mann-Whitney test was used to calculate statistical significance of differences between the downregulation of CD155 by HIV-1 wt and Δ Nef mutant viruses (p = 0.008).

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1010572.g004



Fig 5. Inhibition of HIV-1 replication by KIR2DL5⁺ and KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells. Anti-viral activity of KIR2DL5⁺ and KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells was evaluated by co-culture of KIR2DL5⁺ and KIR2DL5⁻ NK cell clones with HIV-1 CH198 (A) and NL4-3 (B) wt and Δ Nef virus infected autologous CD4⁺ T cells. Graphs show the percentage of viral inhibition based on the percentage of p24⁺ CD4⁺ T cells in co-culture with NK cells compared to the CD4⁺ T cell only control where no NK cells were added. Viral inhibition was calculated as 100⁺(1-(percentage of p24⁺ CD4⁺ T cells with NK cells/ percentage of p24⁺ CD4⁺ T cells without NK cells)). Mann-Whitney test was used to calculate statistical significance of differences in viral inhibition between wt and Δ Nef viruses (CH198: p = 0.009; NL4-3: p = 0.008). Data were obtained by using six (for CH198 viral inhibition) and five (for NL4-3 viral inhibition) KIR2DL5⁺ and six/five KIR2DL5⁻ NK cell clones from two donors (CH198: *n* = 6; NL4-3: *n* = 5) and results are shown as mean values with SD.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1010572.g005

CD155) was significantly lower by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells compared to KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells (p < 0.02) (Fig 5A). Inhibition of replication of Δ Nef NL4-3 by NK cells was more variable (Fig 5B). Taken together, these data demonstrate a significant impact of changes in CD155 expression observed between wild type and Δ Nef strains for the ability of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells to inhibit viral replication *in vitro*.

Discussion

The different members of the KIR family contribute to the tight regulation of NK cell function by mediating inhibitory or activating signals through interactions with HLA class I. The inhibitory NK cell receptor KIR2DL5 is the most recently identified human KIR for which a ligand was not identified for almost two decades [6,34]. Due to the fact that ligands remained unknown, the functional relevance of KIR2DL5-expressing NK cells in human diseases is poorly understood. Recently, the nectin-like molecule CD155 was reported to interact with KIR2DL5 [8,9], making KIR2DL5 the first KIR that binds to other proteins than HLA class I molecules. Here, we demonstrate that CD155 serves as a functional ligand of KIR2DL5, mediating inhibitory signals resulting in decreased activity of primary KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells against CD155-expressing target cells. Furthermore, we show that the viral protein Nef decreases CD155 expression levels on HIV-1-infected primary human CD4⁺ T cells, leading to better inhibition of the *in vitro* replication of wild type HIV-1 strains compared to Nef-deficient strains by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. Taken together, these data demonstrate that KIR2DL5 is an important binding partner of CD155, modulating KIR2DL5⁺ NK cell-mediated immune responses against HIV-1-infected target cells.

The family of nectin and nectin-like molecules has been identified as a group of ligands for inhibitory and activating NK cell receptors, thereby contributing to the regulation of NK cell function [30]. CD155 is a member of the immunoglobulin superfamily and has central roles in cell adhesion and immune responses [30]. While the binding of CD155 to the activating NK cell receptors DNAM-1 [10] and CD96 [11] as well as to the inhibitory receptor TIGIT [12] is well established, the here described functional interaction between CD155 and the inhibitory NK cell receptor KIR2DL5 adds another axis to the complex regulation of NK cells by CD155. KIRs are known to interact with several of the highly polymorphic HLA class I molecules on the surface of normal cells, keeping NK cell effector functions tightly regulated. In contrast to other KIRs, including the structural closely related KIR2DL4 [6,35], KIR2DL5 is the first KIR for which no strong binding to any of the tested HLA molecules has been observed, indicating that HLA class I and class II might not represent the main binding partners for KIR2DL5. KIR2DL5 genes are present in all human populations with frequencies ranging between 26% and 86%, and are expressed on up to 10% of total NK cells in healthy individuals encoding for KIR2DL5 [6]. Like other KIRs, KIR2DL5 is genetically polymorphic, and due to a duplication of the gene in humans, encoded by two gene loci (KIR2DL5A and KIR2DL5B). The fact that only a minority of allotypes, mainly KIR2DL5A allotypes and most prevalent KIR2DL5A*001, have been shown to be expressed on the cell surface [6,7] may explain the interaction of a receptor encoded by a polymorphic gene with a conserved ligand such as CD155. However, binding of other KIRs to HLA class I can be modulated by specific peptides loaded to HLA class I [36–39], and it is therefore possible that KIR2DL5 might bind to HLA molecules under specific conditions. Previously, KIR2DL5 was suggested to mediate inhibitory signals [7,8,40]; however, due to the lack of a well-defined cellular ligand the functional role of KIR2DL5 in the settings of infection or inflammation remained poorly understood. Here, we show inhibition of primary KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells mediated through the CD155-KIR2DL5 axis using KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells isolated from donors encoding for KIR2DL5A. The establishment of KIR2DL5 as an

inhibitory receptor binding CD155, although to a lesser extent than DNAM-1 and TIGIT, emphasizes the complex regulation of NK cell function by nectin and nectin-like molecules during health and disease.

Many viruses avoid recognition by immune cells through the modulation of surface expression of activating ligands. HIV-1 evades NK cell- and T cell-mediated immune responses through several mechanisms, including the downregulation of HLA class I molecules and stress-induced ligands on the surface of infected cells [13,14,16,19,20]. Here, we show that HIV-1 strains are also capable of downregulating CD155 on the surface of infected CD4⁺ T cells, as previously reported [22-25]. In addition to the shown effects of Nef on CD155 expression, other studies have suggested an impact of Vpu on the downregulation of CD155 [22-24]. However, a Vpu-mediated regulation of CD155 remains controversial, as some studies described an involvement of Vpu [22,23] and some did not [27]. Furthermore, it has been shown that while Nef reliably downregulates CD155, the impact of Vpu varied between different HIV-1 strains [24]. CD155 serves as a binding partner of the activating NK cell receptor DNAM-1 [10]. Thus, downregulation of CD155 by HIV-1 has probably evolved in an effort to avoid DNAM-1-mediated NK cell recognition. The newly described interaction between the inhibitory KIR2DL5 and CD155 therefore has functional consequences for KIR2DL5⁺ NK cell responses against HIV-1. Due to the Nef-dependent downregulation of CD155 by HIV-1, infected cells became more vulnerable to recognition by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells, which resulted in enhanced inhibition of replication of HIV-1 wt strains compared to HIV-1 Δ Nef strains by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. Although it has been described that Nef-defective HIV-1 strains might have an overall lower replication capacity [41-45], KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells showed a significantly decreased inhibition of replication of Nef-deficient CH198 IMCs compared to KIR2DL5⁻ NK cells, indicating a KIR2DL5-dependent effect. Individuals encoding for the expressed KIR2-DL5A gene might therefore have an advantage in controlling HIV-1 replication. A recent study revealed an association between KIR2DL5 and reduced mother-to-child transmission of HIV-1 in infants born by HIV-1-infected mothers [46], supporting a protective role for KIR2DL5. Given the limited expression of KIR2DL5 on the cell surface, future studies need to discriminate between KIR2DL5A and KIR2DL5B genotypes when studying implications of KIR2DL5 expression on transmission and disease outcomes, and investigate this in the context of TIGIT, as it has been reported that TIGIT expression is upregulated on NK cells during HIV-1-infection [47,48]. Furthermore, KIR2DL5 has been suggested to be beneficial for the outcome of several other infectious diseases, and might also play a role in the outcome of cancer, as CD155 is known to be overexpressed in tumors [49-53].

In this study, we provide novel insights into the regulation of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cell function by interactions with the newly described ligand CD155, revealing a novel checkpoint inhibitor target for immunotherapeutic approaches. Furthermore, we demonstrate that HIV-1-mediated downregulation of CD155 can result in enhanced *in vitro* inhibition of HIV-1 replication by KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells. While the inhibitory receptor TIGIT, which is expressed on T and NK cells and also binds to CD155, is already investigated as a target in anti-tumor [54] and anti-HIV-1 [55] therapies, the inhibitory interactions between CD155 and KIR2DL5 might represent a second axis that can be targeted by future therapeutic approaches.

Materials and methods

Ethics statement

Peripheral blood samples were obtained from healthy blood donors recruited at the University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany. These donors provided written informed consent and studies were approved by the ethical committee of the Ärztekammer Hamburg (PV4780). All participants were adults.

Primary cells and cell lines

Primary human peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from whole blood donations from healthy donors by performing density-gradient centrifugation. Isolated PBMCs were washed and cultured in complete R10 medium (RPMI-1640 medium (Sigma) supplemented with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS, Sigma)). PBMCs were directly used for experiments or cell populations such as NK cells and CD4⁺ T cells were isolated as indicated in detail below. Enriched NK cells were cultured overnight in complete medium supplemented with 1 ng/ml IL-15 before they were used in functional assays. HEK293T cells (American Type Culture Collection (ATCC), Cat#CRL-11268) were cultured in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium (DMEM (Life Technologies)) supplemented with 10% FBS (D10). Jurkat E6.1 (ATCC, Cat#TIB-152), B-LCL 721.221 (RRID: CVCL_6263) [56] and RPMI-8866 (RRID:CVCL_1668) cells were maintained in complete R10 medium. Jurkat reporter cells are derived from the Jurkat clone E6.1 and lack the expression of β_2 -microglobulin (β_2 m-KO) [57]. Cells were engineered to express KIR ζ chimeric constructs as previously described [57]. The KIR2DL1ζ, KIR2DL3ζ and KIR3DL1ζ cells were generated previously [36,57]. KIR2DL5 ζ constructs were generated by fusing the extracellular and transmembrane domain of KIR2DL5 to the intracellular CD3⁽ chain. Constructs for Jurkat reporter cells and constructs for generating CD155-expressing 721.221 cells were obtained from GeneArt GeneSynthesis (Thermo Fisher) and cloned into a lentiviral transfer vector encoding for a puromycin resistance. To generate Jurkat reporter cells and 721.221 cells expressing the gene of interest, cells were lentivirally transduced. To this end, HEK293T cells were transfected with a VSV-G envelope vector (pHEF-VSVG; NIH AIDS Reagent Program), an HIV-1 Gag-Pol packaging vector (psPAX2; NIH AIDS Reagent Program) and the transfer vector (p SFFV-IRES-Puro (pSIP)-ZsGreen) carrying the gene of interest by using Lipofectamine 3000 (Life Technologies). Lentiviral supernatant was harvested after 48 hours and used to transduce β_2 m-KO Jurkat cells and 721.221 cells. After 3 days, cells were selected in 1 µg/ml puromycin (Sigma-Aldrich). Cells were cultured in complete R10 medium and maintained with 1 µg/ml puromycin.

Recombinant human KIR-Fc construct binding to ligand-coated beads

Streptavidin Dynabeads (Thermo Fisher Scientific) were coated with either 200 pmol biotinylated protein or 10 µg biotinylated IgG/mg Dynabeads. Ligand-screening was performed by coating with biotinylated CD155 (PVR) (AcroBiosystems), CD112 (Nectin-2) (BPSBiosciences) or biotin as a negative control and anti-KIR2DL5 as a positive control. To screen for interactions with HLA class I and class II molecules, the LABScreen Single Antigen Class I and II kits (OneLambda) were used. Negative control beads were not coated with HLA antigens and positive control beads were coated with purified human IgG. Recombinant human Fc constructs (KIR2DL1-Fc, KIR2DL3-Fc, KIR2DL4-Fc, KIR2DL5-Fc, KIR3DL1-Fc, CD96-Fc, DNAM-1-Fc, LAG-3-Fc, PVR(CD155)-Fc, TIGIT-Fc) (R&D Systems) were diluted to 250 µg/ ml in PBS and co-incubated with coated beads for 15 min at 4°C at a final concentration of 25 µg/ml. Samples were washed and bead-bound Fc constructs were detected by a staining with F(ab)2 goat-anti-human IgG PE secondary antibody (Life Technologies) for 15 min at 4°C. Interactions between Fc construct and peptide-coated beads were either quantified by flow cytometry (LSR Fortessa (BD Biosciences)) or by using the Luminex xMAP technology on a Bio-Plex 200 (Bio-Rad Laboratories).

KIRζ reporter cell assay

Streptavidin Dynabeads were coated with biotinylated PVR (CD155), Nectin-2 (CD112), biotin, anti-KIR2DL1, anti-KIR2DL3, anti-KIR2DL5 and anti-KIR3DL1 as described before. 2.5 x 10⁴ cells of each reporter cell line were seeded into a well of a tissue culture-treated 96-well plate and co-incubated with 10 µl of the protein-coated beads for 5 h at 37°C/5% CO₂ in a final volume of 200 µl. For blocking experiments, prior to co-incubation with beads, KIR2DL5⁺ JRC were blocked for 30 min with 30 µg/ml purified anti-KIR2DL5 or 30 µg/ml purified IgG1 isotype control antibody. Blocking antibodies remained in the wells during the whole assay. After co-incubation, cells were washed with PBS and stained with the viability dye LIVE/ DEAD Fixable Near-IR (Life Technologies), anti-CD3-BUV395 (clone UCHT1, BD Biosciences), anti-CD69-BV421 (clone FN50, Biolegend) and the appropriate KIR antibody conjugated to PE (anti-KIR2DL1-PE (clone REA284), anti-KIR2DL3-PE (clone REA147), anti-KIR2DL5-PE (clone UP-R1), anti-KIR3DL1-PE (clone DX9) (Miltenyi). Cells were fixed in CellFix (BD Biosciences) and CD69 expression as a readout for KIR crosslinking was analyzed by flow cytometry.

NK cell degranulation assay

NK cell degranulation upon co-incubation with target cells was determined by the expression of CD107a on the cell surface, which serves as a surrogate marker for NK cell degranulation [58]. In brief, overnight cultured NK cells enriched with the EasySep human NK cell enrichment kit (StemCell Technologies) from PBMCs from *KIR2DL5A*001*-positive donors or donors lacking KIR2DL5 genetically were co-cultured with CD155-expressing (CD155-transduced 721.221) or CD155-nonexpressing (721.221) target cells at an effector to target ratio of 1:2 in 200 μ l complete R10 for 4 h at 37°C. During co-incubation, each well contained 2 μ l anti-CD107a (clone LAMP-1, Biolegend) and 25 μ /ml Brefeldin A. Cells were subsequently stained with LIVE/DEAD Fixable Near-IR and with the following antibodies: anti-CD3-BUV395 (clone UCHT1, BD), anti-CD16-PE-Cy7 (clone 3G8, Biolegend), anti-CD56-BV785 (clone NCAM16.1, BD), anti-KIR2DL5-PE (clone UP-R1, Biolegend) for 15 min at RT and fixed with CellFix (BD) before flow cytometric acquisition.

Enrichment and stimulation of primary human CD4⁺ T cells

 $CD4^+$ T cells were isolated from fresh PBMCs trough negative selection with the EasySep human CD4 T cell enrichment kit (StemCell Technologies) according to the manufacturer's protocol. After isolation, cells were cultured in complete R10 medium supplemented with 100U / ml IL-2 (Peprotech) and stimulated with anti-CD3/anti-CD28 Dynabeads (Life Technologies) for 3 days at 37°C / 5% CO₂ at a bead to cell ratio of 1:2. Before infecting the stimulated cells, beads were washed out.

Generation of HIV-1 virus stock from infectious molecular clones

HIV-1 viral stocks were produced as described previously [32]. In brief, plasmids harboring the full length proviral genome of infectious molecular clones of the primary strains CH077, CH164, CH185, CH198, CH236, CH293 (kindly provided by the Beatrice Hahn and John Kappes Laboratories) and the cell line-adapted strains NL4-3 and JR-CSF (National Institutes of Health (NIH); catalog no. 114 and 2708) as well as the respective Δnef mutants, which were generated previously [32], were used to transfect HEK293T cells. Therefore, 24 µg of DNA was diluted in Opti-MEM for a Lipofectamine 3000 transfection (Life Technologies) of HEK293T

cells in a T75 flask according to manufacturer's protocol. Samples were filled up to 10 ml with fresh cell culture medium (D10) and lentiviral particles were harvested 48 h after transfection. The supernatant was centrifuged at 500 x g, filtered through a 0.45 nm filter and concentrated by using Lenti-X concentrator (Clontech Labs). Viral stocks were aliquoted and stored at -80°C until further use.

Infection of primary human CD4⁺ T cells with HIV-1 viral stocks

Stimulated CD4⁺ T cells were resuspended in the respective HIV-1 viral stock (Table 1) or in cell culture medium (mock control) and cells were spinfected for 2 h at 1.200 x g and 37°C. After spinfection, viral supernatant was removed and fresh complete medium (R10) supplemented with 100 U IL-2/ml was added to the cells. The infected cells were incubated for 72 h at 37°C/5% CO₂ until antibody stainings for flow cytometry analysis took place. CD4⁺ T cells used for long-term co-culture with NK cell clones were infected for 4 h at 37°C without centrifugation to increase cell viability.

Flow cytometry analysis of surface markers and intracellular staining of HIV-1-infected CD4⁺ T cells

To assess cell surface expression of proteins, flow cytometry was performed. Cells were washed with PBS and subsequently stained with the viability dye LIVE/DEAD Fixable Near-IR (Life Technologies) and with the antibodies anti-CD3-BUV395 (clone UCHT1, BD), anti-CD4-BV711 (clone RPA-T4, Biolegend), anti-CD155-PE (clone SKIL4, Biolegend), anti-HLA-ABC-Pe-Cy7 (clone W6/32, Biolegend), anti-HLA-E-BV421 (clone 3D12, Biolegend), anti-tetherin-APC (clone RS38E, Biolegend) and anti-IgG1-PE isotype control (clone MOPC21, Biolegend) for 15 min at RT. After washing the cells with PBS, an intracellular staining was performed. In brief, cells were incubated in BD Cytofix/Cytoperm for 20 min at 4°C, washed with BD Perm/Wash buffer and stained with anti-p24-FITC (clone KC57, Beckman Coulter) for 20 min. After another washing step, cells were fixed in BD Cellfix and analyzed by flow cytometry (BD LSR Fortessa). HIV-1-infected cells were defined as p24 Gag⁺ CD4^{dim} and uninfected as p24 Gag⁺ cD4⁺ cells. Cells infected with HIV-1 Δ Nef mutant viruses were defined as p24 Gag⁺ and tetherin⁻ cell, as Nef-deficient viruses are not able to downregulate CD4.

Generation of NK cell clones

NK cell clones were generated as described previously [63]. In brief, NK cells were enriched from PBMCs isolated from a *KIR2DL5A**001-positive healthy donor and were subcloned by fluorescence activated cell sorting (FACS). Single NK cells, either expressing or not expressing

Group	Virus	Subtype	Source (reference)
Cell line-adapted strains	NL4-3	В	Infectious molecular clone [59]
	JR-CSF	В	Infectious molecular clone
Primary strains	CH077	В	Infectious molecular clone (founder) [60]
	CH164	С	Infectious molecular clone (founder) [61]
	CH185	С	Infectious molecular clone (founder) [61]
	CH198	С	Infectious molecular clone (founder) [61]
	CH236	С	Infectious molecular clone (founder) [62]
	CH293	С	Infectious molecular clone (chronic) [61]

Table 1. HIV-1 strains used in this study.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1010572.t001

KIR2DL5, were sorted into 96-well plates and cultured for 14 days in the presents of irradiated allogenic PBMCs and 8866 feeder cells at a ratio of 10:1 in NK cell cloning medium supplemented with 1 μ g/ml phytohaemagglutinin (PHA (Invitrogen)). Cloning medium consisted of RPMI medium supplemented with 5% human serum (Sigma-Aldrich), 10% FBS (Sigma-Aldrich), 1X MEM-NEAA (Gibco), 1X sodium pyruvate (Gibco), 1X (2 mM) L-glutamine (Sigma-Aldrich), 100 μ g/mL Primocin (Invivogen) and 200 U/mL IL-2 (Roche). After 14 days, outgrowing cells were transferred to a 48-well plate and cultured in NK cell cloning medium with frequent medium exchange and further expansion.

NK cell co-cultivation with autologous HIV-1-infected CD4⁺ T cells

To analyze the antiviral potential of KIR2DL5⁺ NK cells, CD4⁺ T cells from the same donor from which NK cell clones were generated were stimulated and infected with HIV-1 CH198 or NL4-3, as described above. After 4 h of infection, CD4⁺ T cells were co-incubated with autologous KIR2DL5⁺ or KIR2DL5⁻ NK cell clones at an effector to target ratio of 2:1 in 300 µl complete R10 medium supplemented with 100 U/ml IL-2 (Peprotech) for 7 days. 100 µl of cell culture supernatant was replaced by fresh medium every 2 days. After 7 days, antibody staining with anti-CD3, anti-CD4, anti-tetherin, anti-CD16, anti-CD56 and intracellular staining with anti-p24 was performed and cells were analyzed by flow cytometry.

Data analysis

Flow cytometry data were acquired on a BD LSR Fortessa (Biosciences) in the core facility

Flow Cytometry at the Leibniz Institute of Virology and analyzed using FlowJo software 10.7.1 (BD Biosciences). Data were statistically analyzed and graphically displayed in Graphpad Prism 9.0.1. Statistical analysis were performed using the non-parametric Mann-Whitney test or the Wilcoxon matched-pairs signed rank test for paired samples. If not indicated otherwise, mean values with standard deviations (SD) are shown for each group.

Supporting information

S1 Fig. KIR-Fc construct binding to CD155-coated beads. KIR-Fc construct binding to biotin, CD112 and CD155 measured by flow cytometry. Binding of KIR2DL1, KIR2DL4 or KIR3DL1 to biotin (neg. control), CD112 or CD155 was assessed as median fluorescence intensity (MFI) in three independent experiments (n = 3). The mean values of the experiments are shown as black bars and standard deviation is depicted as error bars. (TIF)

S2 Fig. Gating strategy to define CD69 expression on KIR Jurkat reporter cells. Gating strategy for flow cytometric analyses of CD69 expression on Jurkat reporter cells. Jurkat cells were first defined by forward scatter area (FSC-A) and side scatter area (SSC-A) characteristics. After doublet exclusion using forward scatter area (FSC-A) and forward scatter height (FSC-H), viable cells were identified as negative for LIVE/DEAD Near-IR staining (viability dye). Subsequently, gating on CD69 for the different conditions was performed (exemplary shown for co-incubation of Jurkat cells with biotin-, anti-KIR2DL5- or CD155-coated beads). (TIF)

S3 Fig. CD155 surface expression on 721.221 cells. Flow histogram shows expression levels of CD155 on the cell surface of parental 721.221 (CD155⁻) (white) and transduced 721.221 (CD155⁺) (gray) cells measured by using an anti-CD155 antibody. (TIF)

S4 Fig. HIV-1-mediated downregulation of CD155. CD155 expression levels were compared between HIV-1-infected (red) and uninfected (blue) CD4⁺ T cells. HIV-1-infected cells were determined by gating on p24⁺ CD4^{dim} cells and uninfected cells were defined as p24⁻ and CD4⁺. Histogram shows CD155 surface expression on HIV-1-infected (red), uninfected (blue) and mock-infected (black) CD4⁺ T cells, including isotype controls (HIV⁺ dashed black, HIV⁻ dashed grey).

(TIF)

Acknowledgments

We thank the donors and the coordinators of the Healthy Cohort Hamburg (HCHH) and the flow cytometry core facility of the Leibniz Institute of Virology (LIV). We are also grateful to Beatrice Hahn and John C. Kappes for providing proviral HIV-1 molecular clones. We would also like to thank Christopher T. Ford for his help in generating viral stocks of the infectious molecular clones tested here.

Author Contributions

Conceptualization: Pia Fittje, Angelique Hœlzemer, Wilfredo F. Garcia-Beltran, Marcus Altfeld.

Data curation: Marcus Altfeld.

Formal analysis: Pia Fittje.

Funding acquisition: Christian Körner, Marcus Altfeld.

Investigation: Pia Fittje, Sarah Vollmers, Annika Niehrs, Kerri Hagemann.

Methodology: Pia Fittje, Angelique Hœlzemer, Wilfredo F. Garcia-Beltran, Sarah Vollmers, Annika Niehrs, Glòria Martrus, Christian Körner.

Project administration: Marcus Altfeld.

Resources: Angelique Hœlzemer, Wilfredo F. Garcia-Beltran, Frank Kirchhoff, Daniel Sauter.

Supervision: Marcus Altfeld.

Validation: Pia Fittje, Angelique Hœlzemer, Glòria Martrus, Christian Körner, Marcus Altfeld.

Visualization: Pia Fittje.

Writing - original draft: Pia Fittje.

Writing – review & editing: Angelique Hœlzemer, Wilfredo F. Garcia-Beltran, Sarah Vollmers, Annika Niehrs, Kerri Hagemann, Glòria Martrus, Christian Körner, Frank Kirchhoff, Daniel Sauter, Marcus Altfeld.

References

- 1. Jost S, Altfeld M. Control of human viral infections by natural killer cells. Annu Rev Immunol; 2013. pp. 163–194. https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100001 PMID: 23298212
- Long EO, Kim HS, Liu D, Peterson ME, Rajagopalan S. Controlling natural killer cell responses: integration of signals for activation and inhibition. Annu Rev Immunol. 2013; 31: 227–58. https://doi.org/10. 1146/annurev-immunol-020711-075005 PMID: 23516982
- Carrington M, Norman P. The KIR Gene Cluster. National Center for Biotechnology Information (US); 2003.

- Winter CC, Gumperz JE, Parham P, Long EO, Wagtmann N. Direct binding and functional transfer of NK cell inhibitory receptors reveal novel patterns of HLA-C allotype recognition. J Immunol. 1998; 15: 571–7. PMID: 9670929
- Wagtmann N, Rajagopalan S, Winter CC, Peruui M, Long EO. Killer cell inhibitory receptors specific for HLA-C and HLA-B identified by direct binding and by functional transfer. Immunity. 1995; 3: 801–809. https://doi.org/10.1016/1074-7613(95)90069-1 PMID: 8777725
- Cisneros E, Moraru M, Gómez-Lozano N, López-Botet M, Vilches C. KIR2DL5: An orphan inhibitory receptor displaying complex patterns of polymorphism and expression. Frontiers in Immunology. Frontiers Media SA; 2012. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2012.00289 PMID: 23060877
- Estefanía E, Flores R, Gómez-Lozano N, Aguilar H, López-Botet M, Vilches C. Human KIR2DL5 Is an Inhibitory Receptor Expressed on the Surface of NK and T Lymphocyte Subsets. J Immunol. 2007; 178: 4402–4410. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4402 PMID: 17371997
- Husain B, Ramani SR, Chiang E, Lehoux I, Paduchuri S, Arena TA, et al. A platform for extracellular interactome discovery identifies novel functional binding partners for the immune receptors B7-H3/ CD276 and PVR/CD155. Mol Cell Proteomics. 2019; 18: 2310–2323. https://doi.org/10.1074/mcp. TIR119.001433 PMID: 31308249
- Wojtowicz WM, Vielmetter J, Fernandes RA, Siepe DH, Eastman CL, Chisholm GB, et al. A Human IgSF Cell-Surface Interactome Reveals a Complex Network of Protein-Protein Interactions. Cell. 2020; 182: 1027–1043.e17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cell.2020.07.025 PMID: 32822567
- Bottino C, Castriconi R, Pende D, Rivera P, Nanni M, Carnemolla B, et al. Identification of PVR (CD155) and Nectin-2 (CD112) as cell surface ligands for the human DNAM-1 (CD226) activating molecule. J Exp Med. 2003; 198: 557–567. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.20030788 PMID: 12913096
- Fuchs A, Cella M, Giurisato E, Shaw AS, Colonna M. Cutting Edge: CD96 (Tactile) Promotes NK Cell-Target Cell Adhesion by Interacting with the Poliovirus Receptor (CD155). J Immunol. 2004; 172: 3994– 3998. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.172.7.3994 PMID: 15034010
- Stanietsky N, Simic H, Arapovic J, Toporik A, Levy O, Novik A, et al. The interaction of TIGIT with PVR and PVRL2 inhibits human NK cell cytotoxicity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009; 106: 17858–17863. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.0903474106 PMID: 19815499
- Collins KL, Chen BK, Kalams SA, Walker BD, Baltimore D. HIV-1 Nef protein protects infected primary cells against killing by cytotoxic T lymphocytes. Nature. 1998; 391: 397–401. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> 34929 PMID: 9450757
- Cohen GB, Gandhi RT, Davis DM, Mandelboim O, Chen BK, Strominger JL, et al. The selective downregulation of class I major histocompatibility complex proteins by HIV-1 protects HIV-infected cells from NK cells. Immunity. 1999; 10: 661–671. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s1074-7613(00)80065-5</u> PMID: 10403641
- Apps R, Del Prete GQ, Chatterjee P, Lara A, Brumme ZL, Brockman MA, et al. HIV-1 Vpu Mediates HLA-C Downregulation. Cell Host Microbe. 2016; 19: 686–695. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2016.04</u>. 005 PMID: 27173934
- Barker E, Evans DT. HLA-C Downmodulation by HIV-1 Vpu. Cell Host and Microbe. Cell Press; 2016. pp. 570–571. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chom.2016.04.023 PMID: 27173922
- Raulet DH. Missing self recognition and self tolerance of natural killer (NK) cells. Seminars in Immunology. Semin Immunol; 2006. pp. 145–150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.smim.2006.03.003 PMID: 16740393
- Mikulak J, Oriolo F, Zaghi E, Di Vito C, Mavilio D. Natural killer cells in HIV-1 infection and therapy. AIDS. Lippincott Williams and Wilkins; 2017. pp. 2317–2330. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD. 00000000001645 PMID: 28926399
- Cerboni C, Neri F, Casartelli N, Zingoni A, Cosman D, Rossi P, et al. Human immunodeficiency virus 1 Nef protein downmodulates the ligands of the activating receptor NKG2D and inhibits natural killer cellmediated cytotoxicity. J Gen Virol. 2007; 88: 242–250. <u>https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.82125-0</u> PMID: 17170457
- Tremblay-McLean A, Bruneau J, Lebouché B, Lisovsky I, Song R, Bernard NF. Expression profiles of ligands for activating natural killer cell receptors on HIV infected and uninfected CD4+ T cells. Viruses. 2017; 9. https://doi.org/10.3390/v9100295 PMID: 29023371
- 21. Lanier LL. NKG2D receptor and its ligands in host defense. Cancer Immunol Res. 2015; 3: 575–582. https://doi.org/10.1158/2326-6066.CIR-15-0098 PMID: 26041808
- Matusali G, Potestà M, Santoni A, Cerboni C, Doria M. The Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Nef and Vpu Proteins Downregulate the Natural Killer Cell-Activating Ligand PVR. J Virol. 2012; 86: 4496– 4504. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.05788-11 PMID: 22301152

- 23. Bolduan S, Reif T, Schindler M, Schubert U. HIV-1 Vpu mediated downregulation of CD155 requires alanine residues 10, 14 and 18 of the transmembrane domain. Virology. 2014;464–465: 375–384. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.virol.2014.07.034 PMID: 25113908
- Galaski J, Ahmad F, Tibroni N, Pujol FM, Müller B, Schmidt RE, et al. Cell surface downregulation of NK cell ligands by patient-derived HIV-1 Vpu and Nef alleles. J Acquir Immune Defic Syndr. 2016; 72: 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAI.0000000000917 PMID: 26656785
- Prévost J, Pickering S, Mumby MJ, Medjahed H, Gendron-Lepage G, Delgado GG, et al. Upregulation of BST-2 by type i interferons reduces the capacity of Vpu to protect HIV-1-infected cells from NK cell responses. MBio. 2019;10. https://doi.org/10.1128/mBio.01113-19 PMID: 31213558
- Vassena L, Giuliani E, Matusali G, Cohen ÉA, Doria M. The human immunodeficiency virus type 1 Vpr protein upregulates PVR via activation of the ATR-mediated DNA damage response pathway. J Gen Virol. 2013; 94: 2664–2669. https://doi.org/10.1099/vir.0.055541-0 PMID: 24045107
- Davis ZB, Sowrirajan B, Cogswell A, Ward JP, Planelles V, Barker E. CD155 on HIV-Infected Cells Is Not Modulated by HIV-1 Vpu and Nef but Synergizes with NKG2D Ligands to Trigger NK Cell Lysis of Autologous Primary HIV-Infected Cells. AIDS Res Hum Retroviruses. 2017; 33: 93–100. https://doi.org/ 10.1089/AID.2015.0375 PMID: 27296670
- Niehrs A, Garcia-Beltran WF, Norman PJ, Watson GM, Hölzemer A, Chapel A, et al. A subset of HLA-DP molecules serve as ligands for the natural cytotoxicity receptor NKp44. Nature Immunology. Nature Publishing Group; 2019. pp. 1129–1137. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41590-019-0448-4 PMID: 31358998
- Andreae S, Buisson S, Triebel F. MHC class II signal transduction in human dendritic cells induced by a natural ligand, the LAG-3 protein (CD223). Blood. 2003; 102: 2130–2137. <u>https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2003-01-0273 PMID: 12775570</u>
- Martinet L, Smyth MJ. Balancing natural killer cell activation through paired receptors. Nature Reviews Immunology. Nature Publishing Group; 2015. pp. 243–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nri3799</u> PMID: 25743219
- Roeth JF, Kasper MR, Filzen TM, Collins KL. HIV-1 Nef disrupts MHC-I trafficking by recruiting AP-1 to the MHC-I cytoplasmic tail. J Cell Biol. 2004; 167: 903–913. <u>https://doi.org/10.1083/jcb.200407031</u> PMID: 15569716
- 32. van Stigt Thans T, Akko JI, Niehrs A, Garcia-Beltran WF, Richert L, Stürzel CM, et al. Primary HIV-1 Strains Use Nef To Downmodulate HLA-E Surface Expression. J Virol. 2019;93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00719-19</u> PMID: 31375574
- Neil SJD, Zang T, Bieniasz PD. Tetherin inhibits retrovirus release and is antagonized by HIV-1 Vpu. Nature. 2008; 451: 425–430. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature06553 PMID: 18200009
- Vilches C, Rajalingam R, Uhrberg M, Gardiner CM, Young NT, Parham P. KIR2DL5, a Novel Killer-Cell Receptor with a D0-D2 Configuration of Ig-Like Domains. J Immunol. 2000; 164: 5797–5804. <u>https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.164.11.5797 PMID: 10820258</u>
- Rajagopalan S, Long EO. KIR2DL4 (CD158d): An activation receptor for HLA-G. Front Immunol. 2012;3.
- 36. Chapel A, Garcia-Beltran WF, Hölzemer A, Ziegler M, Lunemann S, Martrus G, et al. Peptide-specific engagement of the activating NK cell receptor KIR2DS1. Sci Rep. 2017; 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/</u> s41598-017-02449-x PMID: 28546555
- 37. Fadda L, Körner C, Kumar S, van Teijlingen NH, Piechocka-Trocha A, Carrington M, et al. HLA-Cw*0102-Restricted HIV-1 p24 Epitope Variants Can Modulate the Binding of the Inhibitory KIR2DL2 Receptor and Primary NK Cell Function. PLoS Pathog. 2012; 8: e1002805. https://doi.org/10.1371/ journal.ppat.1002805 PMID: 22807681
- Van Teijlingen NH, Hölzemer A, Körner C, García-Beltrán WF, Schafer JL, Fadda L, et al. Sequence variations in HIV-1 p24 Gag-derived epitopes can alter binding of KIR2DL2 to HLA-C*03: 04 and modulate primary natural killer cell function. AIDS. 2014; 28: 1399–1408. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.</u> 0000000000284 PMID: 24785948
- 39. Hölzemer A, Thobakgale CF, Jimenez Cruz CA, Garcia-Beltran WF, Carlson JM, van Teijlingen NH, et al. Selection of an HLA-C*03:04-Restricted HIV-1 p24 Gag Sequence Variant Is Associated with Viral Escape from KIR2DL3+ Natural Killer Cells: Data from an Observational Cohort in South Africa. PLOS Med. 2015; 12: e1001900. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pmed.1001900 PMID: 26575988
- 40. Yusa S, Catina TL, Campbell KS. KIR2DL5 Can Inhibit Human NK Cell Activation Via Recruitment of Src Homology Region 2-Containing Protein Tyrosine Phosphatase-2 (SHP-2). J Immunol. 2004; 172: 7385–7392. https://doi.org/10.4049/jimmunol.172.12.7385 PMID: 15187115
- Chowers MY, Spina CA, Kwoh TJ, Fitch NJ, Richman DD, Guatelli JC. Optimal infectivity in vitro of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 requires an intact nef gene. J Virol. 1994; 68: 2906–2914. <u>https:// doi.org/10.1128/JVI.68.5.2906-2914.1994</u> PMID: 8151761

- Spina CA, Kwoh TJ, Chowers MY, Guatelli JC, Richman DD. The importance of nef in the induction of human immunodeficiency virus type 1 replication from primary quiescent CD4 lymphocytes. J Exp Med. 1994; 179: 115–123. https://doi.org/10.1084/jem.179.1.115 PMID: 7903679
- Lundquist CA, Tobiume M, Zhou J, Unutmaz D, Aiken C. Nef-Mediated Downregulation of CD4 Enhances Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Replication in Primary T Lymphocytes. J Virol. 2002; 76: 4625–4633. https://doi.org/10.1128/jvi.76.9.4625-4633.2002 PMID: 11932428
- Münch J, Rajan D, Schindler M, Specht A, Rücker E, Novembre FJ, et al. Nef-Mediated Enhancement of Virion Infectivity and Stimulation of Viral Replication Are Fundamental Properties of Primate Lentiviruses. J Virol. 2007; 81: 13852–13864. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.00904-07 PMID: 17928336
- Carl S, Greenough TC, Krumbiegel M, Greenberg M, Skowronski J, Sullivan JL, et al. Modulation of Different Human Immunodeficiency Virus Type 1 Nef Functions during Progression to AIDS. J Virol. 2001; 75: 3657–3665. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.75.8.3657-3665.2001 PMID: 11264355
- Luc-Aimé KS, Louis-Marie Y, Gabriel LE, Yengo CK, Esemu Livo F, Assob NJC. Killer-Cell Immunoglobulin-Like Receptors (KIR) in HIV-Exposed Infants in Cameroon. J Immunol Res. 2021; 2021. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/9053280 PMID: 33521134
- Vendrame E, Seiler C, Ranganath T, Zhao NQ, Vergara R, Alary M, et al. TIGIT is upregulated by HIV-1 infection and marks a highly functional adaptive and mature subset of natural killer cells. AIDS. 2020; 34: 801–813. https://doi.org/10.1097/QAD.00000000002488 PMID: 32028328
- 48. Yin X, Liu T, Wang Z, Ma M, Lei J, Zhang Z, et al. Expression of the inhibitory receptor tigit is up-regulated specifically on nk cells with cd226 activating receptor from HIV-infected individuals. Front Immunol. 2018; 9: 2341. https://doi.org/10.3389/fimmu.2018.02341 PMID: 30364127
- Lu ZM, Jiao YL, Feng ZL, Wu CX, Dong ZF, Zhang BC, et al. Polymorphisms of killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor gene: Possible association with susceptibility to or clearance of hepatitis B virus infection in Chinese Han population. Croat Med J. 2007; 48: 800–806. <u>https://doi.org/10.3325/cmj.2007.6.</u> 800 PMID: 18074414
- Olaniyan SA, Amodu OK, Yindom LM, Conway DJ, Aka P, Bakare AA, et al. Killer-cell immunoglobulinlike receptors and falciparum malaria in southwest Nigeria. Hum Immunol. 2014; 75: 816–821. <u>https://</u> doi.org/10.1016/j.humimm.2014.06.002 PMID: 24929143
- Molfetta R, Zitti B, Lecce M, Milito ND, Stabile H, Fionda C, et al. Cd155: A multi-functional molecule in tumor progression. International Journal of Molecular Sciences. MDPI AG; 2020. <u>https://doi.org/10.</u> 3390/ijms21030922 PMID: 32019260
- Omosun YO, Blackstock AJ, Williamson J, Van Eijk AM, Ayisi J, Otieno J, et al. Association of maternal KIR gene content polymorphisms with reduction in perinatal transmission of HIV-1. PLoS One. 2018; 13. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0191733 PMID: 29360870
- Shah-Hosseini A, Jafari M, Mohammadi A, Sanaei R, Alavian SM, Doosti-Irani A, et al. The impact of KIR–HLA genotype on hepatitis B virus clearance in Iranian infected individuals. Med Microbiol Immunol. 2017; 206: 463–470. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00430-017-0522-1 PMID: 29032460
- 54. Chauvin JM, Zarour HM. TIGIT in cancer immunotherapy. Journal for ImmunoTherapy of Cancer. BMJ Publishing Group; 2020.
- Holder KA, Grant MD. TIGIT Blockade: A Multipronged Approach to Target the HIV Reservoir. Front Cell Infect Microbiol. 2020; 10: 175. https://doi.org/10.3389/fcimb.2020.00175 PMID: 32432050
- Shimizu Y, DeMars R. Production of human cells expressing individual transferred HLA-A,-B,-C genes using an HLA-A,-B,-C null human cell line. J Immunol. 1989;142.
- Garcia-Beltran WF, Hölzemer A, Martrus G, Chung AW, Pacheco Y, Simoneau CR, et al. Open conformers of HLA-F are high-affinity ligands of the activating NK-cell receptor KIR3DS1. Nat Immunol. 2016; 17: 1067–1074. https://doi.org/10.1038/ni.3513 PMID: 27455421
- Alter G, Malenfant JM, Altfeld M. CD107a as a functional marker for the identification of natural killer cell activity. J Immunol Methods. 2004; 294: 15–22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jim.2004.08.008 PMID: 15604012
- Adachi A, Gendelman HE, Koenig S, Folks T, Willey R, Rabson A, et al. Production of acquired immunodeficiency syndrome-associated retrovirus in human and nonhuman cells transfected with an infectious molecular clone. J Virol. 1986; 59: 284–291. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.59.2.284-291.1986 PMID: 3016298
- Ochsenbauer C, Edmonds TG, Ding H, Keele BF, Decker J, Salazar MG, et al. Generation of Transmitted/Founder HIV-1 Infectious Molecular Clones and Characterization of Their Replication Capacity in CD4 T Lymphocytes and Monocyte-Derived Macrophages. J Virol. 2012; 86: 2715–2728. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.06157-11 PMID: 22190722

- Parrish NF, Gao F, Li H, Giorgi EE, Barbian HJ, Parrish EH, et al. Phenotypic properties of transmitted founder HIV-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2013; 110: 6626–6633. <u>https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas. 1304288110 PMID: 23542380</u>
- Fenton-May AE, Dibben O, Emmerich T, Ding H, Pfafferott K, Aasa-Chapman MM, et al. Relative resistance of HIV-1 founder viruses to control by interferon-alpha. Retrovirology. 2013; 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1742-4690-10-146 PMID: 24299076</u>
- 63. Cella M, Colonna M. Natural killer cell protocols: cellular and molecular methods. Methods in Molecular Biology. Campbell KS, Colonna M; 1999.

Interactions Between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F Activate Natural Killer Cells to Control HCV Replication in Cell Culture

Check for

Sebastian Lunemann,¹ Anja Schöbel,² Janine Kah,³ Pia Fittje,¹ Angelique Hölzemer,^{1,4,5} Annika E. Langeneckert,¹ Leonard U. Hess,¹ Tobias Poch,³ Gloria Martrus,^{1,5} Wilfredo F. Garcia-Beltran,⁶ Christian Körner,¹ Annerose E. Ziegler,¹ Laura Richert,^{1,7} Karl J. Oldhafer,⁸ Julian Schulze zur Wiesch,⁴ Christoph Schramm,³ Maura Dandri,³ Eva Herker,² and Marcus Altfeld^{1,5,9}

¹Department of Virus Immunology, Heinrich Pette Institute, Leibniz Institute for Experimental Virology, Hamburg, Germany; ²Junior Research Group HCV Replication, Heinrich Pette Institute, Leibniz Institute for Experimental Virology, Hamburg, Germany; ³I. Department of Medicine, Center for Internal Medicine, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany; ⁴I. Department of Medicine, Section Infectious Diseases, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany; ⁵German Center for Infection Research (DZIF), Partner site Hamburg-Lübeck-Borstel-Riems, Hamburg, Germany; ⁶Ragon Institute of MGH, MIT, and Harvard, Cambridge, Massachusetts: ⁷INSERM U1219, INRIA SISTM, Bordeaux University, Bordeaux, France; ⁸Department of General and Abdominal Surgery, Asklepios Hospital Barmbek, Semmelweis University of Medicine, Asklepios Campus, Hamburg, Germany; and ⁹Institute for Immunology, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany



Killer-cell immunoglobulin-like receptors (KIRs) are transmembrane glycoproteins expressed by natural killer (NK) cells. Binding of KIR3DS1 to its recently discovered ligand, HLA-F, activates NK cells and has been associated with resolution of hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection. We investigated the mechanisms by which KIR3DS1 contributes to the antiviral immune response. Using cell culture systems, mice with humanized livers, and primary liver tissue from HCVinfected individuals, we found that the KIR3DS1 ligand HLA-F is up-regulated on HCV-infected cells, and that interactions between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F contribute to NK cell-mediated control of HCV. Strategies to promote interaction between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F might be developed for treatment of infectious diseases and cancer.

Keywords: Antiviral Immune Response; Regulation; Immunity; Human Leukocyte Antigen.

More than 70 million people are infected with the hepatitis C virus (HCV) worldwide, and despite novel antiviral treatments, HCV remains one of the leading causes for end-stage liver diseases and transplantation. Natural killer (NK) cells have been demonstrated to be important for the early control of HCV infection.¹ Genetic studies have shown an association between KIR3DS1, an activating NK cell receptor, and HCV disease outcomes, including reduced development of hepatocellular

© 2018 by the AGA Institute 0016-5085/\$36.00 https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.019

Abbreviations used in this paper: HCV, hepatitis C virus; KIR, killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor; NK cell, natural killer cell.

Most current article

WHAT YOU NEED TO KNOW

BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT

Natural Killer (NK) cells have been associated with control of HCV infection, HCV treatment response and prevention of HCC in HCV patients.

NEW FINDINGS

HLA-F is upregulated upon HCV infection and subsequently sensed by KIR3DS1+ NK cells which, in turn, control HCV replication.

LIMITATIONS

This was a study with a small sample size. While previous genetic associations have confirmed protective effects in large cohorts, validation of molecular mechanisms in larger cohorts is still needed.

IMPACT

These studies provide a novel functional correlate for the described protective effects of KIR3DS1+ NK cells in HCV infection, and a rationale to harness the interaction between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F as a novel immunotherapeutic tool in infectious diseases and cancer.

carcinoma.^{2–4} KIR3DS1 recognizes open conformers of the nonclassical HLA class I molecule HLA-F.⁵ Here we investigated the contribution of the interaction between KIR3D-S1and HLA-F to the control of HCV replication.

To determine whether HCV infection can cause an up-regulation of HLA-F, we used cell culture systems, chimeric humanized mouse models, and primary liver tissue samples from HCV-infected individuals (Supplementary Methods). Huh7.5 cells infected with an HCV Jc1-eGFP reporter virus exhibited significantly higher surface expression of HLA-F compared to HCVneg Huh7.5 cells, which showed no expression of HLA-F (Figure 1A and B; Supplementary Figure 1). To assess whether HCV infection also induced HLA-F expression in vivo, livers of uPA/SCID/ beige mice were repopulated with primary human hepatocytes and infected with HCV.⁶ Expression of HLA-F occurred only in livers of HCV-infected animals, which also exhibited a significant increase of HLA-F messenger RNA levels (Figure 1C). In comparison to HLA-F expression on Huh7.5 cells, a more broadly distributed increase of HLA-F

expression was observed in liver tissues of HCV-infected chimeric mice. HCV-induced cytokine production and enhancement of innate immune genes might have contributed to this broader expression of HLA-F within livers of infected mice. In contrast, intrinsic innate responses of Huh7.5 hepatoma cells are impaired, as Huh7.5 cells are unable to produce type I interferon in response to viral infections due to a dominant negative mutation in the RIG-I gene.⁷ Finally, liver biopsy tissues from HCV-infected individuals exhibited clusters of cells with high HLA-F expression. Comparison with healthy liver tissues, derived from patients undergoing tumor resection surgery, revealed that areas of increased HLA-F expression were significantly more frequent in liver biopsies of HCV-infected individuals (Figure 1D). Taken together, these data using different model systems and primary liver samples demonstrate significant HLA-F induction following HCV infection.

To address the functional relevance of the observed up-regulation of HLA-F on HCV-infected cells, a soluble chimera of the extracellular domain of KIR3DS1 fused to the Fc region of human immunoglobulin G1 (KIR3DS1-Fc) was used (Supplementary Methods). Significantly increased binding of KIR3DS1-Fc to HCV^{pos} compared with HCV^{neg} or naïve Huh7.5 cells was observed, and KIR3DS1-Fc-binding was blocked by antibodies against HLA-F (Figure 2A). Furthermore, co-cultures of KIR3DS1ζ-Jurkat reporter cells with HCV-infected cells resulted in a significantly increased activation compared with co-cultures with uninfected Huh7.5 cells, which was abrogated through antibodies blocking KIR3DS1 or HLA-F (Figure 2B). These results demonstrate that HLA-F expression on HCV-infected cells leads to significant binding of KIR3DS1 and activation of KIR3DS1-expressing reporter cells. The stringent control of HLA-F expression⁸ and its interaction with the activating NK cell receptor KIR3DS1 share homology with other pathways involving activating NK cell receptors, such as activation of NKG2D⁺ NK cells by stress ligands like MIC-A and MIC-B, which are also up-regulated during infection.⁹ This similarity is further reflected by the very limited sequence diversity of both KIR3DS1¹⁰ and HLA-F, indicating a critical evolutionary role, in contrast to its inhibitory counterpart KIR3DL1 and its HLA-B ligands, which are highly diversified.¹⁰

Figure 1. HCV infection increases HLA-F expression. (*A*) HLA-F surface expression (MFI) on naïve (blue), HCV^{neg} (white/black line) and HCV^{pos} (yellow) Huh7.5 cells (exemplary histograms and bar graphs). Fold increase of HLA-F (dark gray), HLA-ABC (light gray), and HLA-E (white) expression on HCV-infected Huh7.5 cells (right). (*B*) Left to right, Jc1-infected Huh7.5 cells stained for Hoechst, HLA-F, or expressing a MAVS-NLS-RFP used to identify HCV-infected cells by nuclear translocation, respective overlay and magnification of white quadrant area. Scale bar is set to 10 μ m. Quantification of HLA-F^{pos} cells in 25 independent pictures (right). (*C*) Representative liver section from 1 uninfected and 1 HCV-infected humanized chimeric mouse, respectively, stained with Nup62 (red), 4',6-diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (blue), and HLA-F (green). Quantitative reverse transcription polymerase chain reaction of RNA derived from liver tissues of uninfected control animals (blue, n = 10) and HCV-infected (yellow, n = 5) humanized chimeric mice. (*D*) Representative liver biopsy sections from one HCV^{neg} control individual and one HCV^{pos} individual, respectively, stained for HLA-F. The lower row depicts the threshold setting to identify HLA-F spots. Right: quantification of HLA-F spots per cell in HCV^{pos} and 30 independent pictures from 6 different HCV^{neg} individuals. Medians with interquartile ranges are shown in (*A*), whereas box and whiskers are used in (*B*), (*C*), and (*D*). For the analysis of assays using replicates (*D*) linear mixed effect regression models were used to take into account the intraparticipant correlation

Given the expression of HLA-F on HCV-infected cells, the role of KIR3DS1/HLA-F interactions in controlling in vitro HCV replication was investigated. Huh7 cells were infected with an HCV Jc1 reporter virus expressing gaussia luciferase and co-cultured with primary human NK cells to longitudinally assess HCV replication (Supplementary Methods). NK cells were derived from healthy donors that were either *KIR3DS1* homozygous or *KIR3DL1* homozygous.





Independent of the genetic background, NK cells from all donors suppressed HCV replication in vitro. NK cells from KIR3DS1 homozygous donors, however, exhibited a significantly higher antiviral capacity compared with NK cells from KIR3DL1 homozygous individuals (Figure 2C). Of note, Huh7 and Huh7.5 cells are homozygous for the *HLA-B*54:01* (HLA-Bw6) allele,¹¹ ensuring that reduced inhibition of HCV replication was not due to inhibition of KIR3DL1^{pos} NK cell function by HLA-Bw4. To further elucidate a direct effect of KIR3DS1 in NK cell-mediated inhibition of HCV replication, KIR3DS1^{pos} and KIR3DS1^{neg} NK cells from a KIR3DS1/ KIR3DL1 heterozygous donor were sorted and compared in their antiviral activity, demonstrating a significantly stronger inhibition of HCV replication by KIR3DS1^{pos} vs KIR3DS1^{neg} NK cells derived from the same donor (Figure 2D). The observation of high antiviral capacity of KIR3DS1-expressing NK cells is in line with previous findings in HIV-1 infection,⁵ and provides a mechanism for the reported associations between KIR3DS1 with viral clearance in HCV infection.^{2,3} As most KIR3DS1+ individuals (>90%) also encode for KIR3DL1, the described protective effect of KIR3DS1 in conjunction with HLA-B molecules that allow binding to KIR3DL1^{2,3,10} might reflect the combined effect of KIR3DL1-mediated licensing of NK cells and KIR3DS1mediated activation of these licensed NK cells in response to HLA-F expression.

Therapeutic antibodies directed against NK cell receptors or their cellular ligands have been shown to be powerful modulators of antitumor and antiviral NK cell immunity in vivo, and antibodies blocking inhibitory KIRs are used in phase I/II clinical trials as immunotherapies for patients with lymphoma.^{12,13} Although these studies aim to block inhibitory signals to unleash NK cell activity, KIR-Fc constructs have the potential to trigger specific activating signals via binding to CD16/FcyRIII expressed on NK cells. KIR3DS1 is expressed in approximately 40% (ranging from 80% to just 0.7%) of humans,¹⁴ and KIR3DS1-Fc constructs can overcome this genetic limitation by enabling all individuals to mount CD16^{pos} NK cellmediated cytotoxic responses against HLA-F-expressing target cells. Indeed, addition of KIR3DS1-Fc constructs to NK cells from KIR3DS1-negative donors in an HCV viral replication inhibition assay led to a significant reduction of viral replication (Figure 2E). As KIR3DS1 has been linked to reduced development of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with HCV,⁴ KIR3DS1-Fc fusion constructs might also represent a novel immunotherapeutic tool for antitumor therapies.¹⁵ Taken together, the present study provides new insights into the molecular mechanisms mediating the protective effect of KIR3DS1 in HCV infection, and rational to harness the interaction between KIR3DS1 and HLA-F for therapeutic approaches in infectious diseases and cancer.

Supplementary Material

Note: To access the supplementary material accompanying this article, visit the online version of *Gastroenterology* at www.gastrojournal.org, and at https://doi.org/10.1053/j.gastro.2018.07.019.

References

- 1. Heim MH, Thimme R. Innate and adaptive immune responses in HCV infections. J Hepatol 2014;61: S14–S25.
- Khakoo SI, Thio CL, Martin MP, et al. HLA and NK cell inhibitory receptor genes in resolving hepatitis C virus infection. Science 2004;305:872–874.
- Rivero-Juarez A, Gonzalez R, Camacho A, et al. Natural killer KIR3DS1 is closely associated with HCV viral clearance and sustained virological response in HIV/HCV patients. PLoS One 2013;8:e61992.
- Lopez-Vazquez A, Rodrigo L, Martinez-Borra J, et al. Protective effect of the HLA-Bw4l80 epitope and the killer cell immunoglobulin-like receptor 3DS1 gene against the development of hepatocellular carcinoma in patients with hepatitis C virus infection. J Infect Dis 2005;192:162–165.
- Garcia-Beltran WF, Holzemer A, Martrus G, et al. Open conformers of HLA-F are high-affinity ligands of the activating NK-cell receptor KIR3DS1. Nat Immunol 2016; 17:1067–1074.
- Kah J, Volz T, Lutgehetmann M, et al. Haem oxygenase-1 polymorphisms can affect HCV replication and treatment responses with different efficacy in humanized mice. Liver Int 2017;37:1128–1137.
- Sumpter R Jr, Loo YM, Foy E, et al. Regulating intracellular antiviral defense and permissiveness to hepatitis C virus RNA replication through a cellular RNA helicase, RIG-I. J Virol 2005;79:2689–2699.
- Boyle LH, Gillingham AK, Munro S, et al. Selective export of HLA-F by its cytoplasmic tail. J Immunol 2006; 176:6464–6472.

Figure 2. KIR3DS1^{pos} NK cells are activated by HCV-infected cells and control HCV replication. (*A*) Representative histograms of KIR3DS1-Fc binding to naïve (blue), HCV^{neg} (white), and HCV^{pos} (yellow) Huh7.5 cells (*left*). KIR3DS1-Fc binding to naïve (blue) and HCV^{pos} (yellow) Huh7.5 cells (middle, n = 3-6) in the presence and absence of blocking antibodies (right, n = 3-9). (*B*) Activation of KIR3DS1^ζ- and KIR2DL3^ζ-Jurkat reporter cells cultured alone (blank), with anti-KIR3DS1/3DL1–coated beads (positive control), naïve, or HCV-infected Huh7.5 cells (representative plots are shown in the left panel, middle panel shows quantification over n = 4 experiments), or in the presence and absence of blocking antibodies (right, n = 9). (*C*) Inhibition of HCV replication in Huh7 cells co-cultured with NK cells from *KIR3DS1* homozygous (black; n = 4) and *KIR3DS1/KIR3DL1* homozygous (white; n = 7) donors; (*D*) KIR3DS1^{pos} (black) (n = 3) and KIR3DL1^{pos} (white) (n = 5) sorted NK cells from *KIR3DS1/KIR3DL1* homozygous individuals (n = 3-5) and (*E*) with NK cells from *KIR3DL1* homozygous (n = 4) donors with or without KIR3DS1-Fc constructs. Median with interquartile range is shown. For the analysis of assays using replicates (*C*) and/or repeated measurements over time (*C–E*), linear mixed effect regression models were used to take into account the intraparticipant correlation.

- Richard J, Sindhu S, Pham TN, et al. HIV-1 Vpr upregulates expression of ligands for the activating NKG2D receptor and promotes NK cell-mediated killing. Blood 2010;115:1354–1363.
- Parham P, Norman PJ, Abi-Rached L, et al. Variable NK cell receptors exemplified by human KIR3DL1/S1. J Immunol 2011;187:11–19.
- Kurokohchi K, Carrington M, Mann DL, et al. Expression of HLA class I molecules and the transporter associated with antigen processing in hepatocellular carcinoma. Hepatology 1996;23:1181–1188.
- 12. Benson DM Jr, Cohen AD, Jagannath S, et al. A phase i trial of the anti-KIR antibody IPH2101 and lenalidomide in patients with relapsed/refractory multiple myeloma. Clin Cancer Res 2015;21:4055–4061.
- Battistella M, Janin A, Jean-Louis F, et al. KIR3DL2 (CD158k) is a potential therapeutic target in primary cutaneous anaplastic large-cell lymphoma. Br J Dermatol 2016;175:325–333.
- 14. Gonzalez-Galarza FF, Takeshita LY, Santos EJ, et al. Allele frequency net 2015 update: new features for HLA epitopes, KIR and disease and HLA adverse drug reaction associations. Nucleic Acids Res 2015;43:D784–D788.
- 15. Chiossone L, Vienne M, Kerdiles YM, et al. Natural killer cell immunotherapies against cancer: checkpoint inhibitors and more. Semin Immunol 2017;31:55–63.

Author names in bold designate shared co-first authorship.

Received April 21, 2018. Accepted July 14, 2018.

Reprint requests

Address requests for reprints to: Marcus Altfeld, MD, Department of Virus Immunology, Heinrich Pette Institute, Leibniz Institute for Experimental Virology, Martinistraße 52, 20251 Hamburg, Germany. e-mail: marcus.altfeld@leibniz-hpi.de; fax: 49-0-40-58051-103.

Acknowledgments

The authors thank all donors, doctors, and nurses in the I. Department of Medicine, Center for Internal Medicine, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, as well as at the Department of General and Abdominal Surgery, Asklepios Hospital Barmbek. We acknowledge the Livernet Biobank, as well the Healthy Cohort Hansestadt Hamburg (HCHH) for providing patient and healthy control samples. We thank R. Bartenschlager for Jc1 constructs and Huh7 cells, C.M. Rice for Huh7.5 cells and MAVS-NLS-RFP, T. Wakita for JFH1, and B. Webster and W.C. Greene for the HCVcc reporter constructs.

Author contributions: SL and MA designed the study and wrote the paper. SL, AS, and JK performed experiments and analyzed the data. PF performed experiments. AH, WGB, and CK generated reporter cell lines and helped with assay design and establishment. AL, LH, TP, GM, AZ, JSzW, CS, and KO enrolled study participants, and provided and processed patient material. LR performed statistical analysis. EH provided the HCV cell culture systems. MD provided the chimeric mouse system. All authors provided continuous critical review of the data and commented on the manuscript.

Conflicts of interest

The authors disclose no conflicts.

Funding

This work was supported by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG) through the SFB841 and KFO306, and the German Center for Infectious Diseases Research (DZIF).

Supplementary Methods

Study Participants and Samples

HCV^{pos} individuals undergoing liver biopsies at the I. Department of Medicine, Section Infectious Diseases, University Medical Center Hamburg-Eppendorf, and HCV^{neg} individuals undergoing liver surgery due to tumor metastasis at the Department of General and Abdominal Surgery, Asklepios Hospital Barmbek, were included in this study. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were isolated from healthy donors by standard density centrifugation. The study was approved by the ethics committee of the Ärzte-kammer Hamburg, and informed consent was obtained from all study participants and all experiments were performed in accordance with the relevant guidelines and regulations. Participant data for healthy donors and liver specimens are shown in the Supplementary Tables 1 and 2.

Animals

Homozygous uPA/SCID/beige mice were housed and maintained under specific pathogen-free conditions in accordance with the European Communities Council Directive (86/EEC) and protocols approved by the Ethical Committee of the city and state of Hamburg, as previously reported.⁶

Cell Culture and In Vitro HCV Infection

Huh7 cells kindly provided by R. Bartenschlager and Huh7.5 cells kindly provided by C.M. Rice were grown under standard cell culture conditions. For HCV infection, cell culture-derived viral stocks were used. For this culture, supernatant of Huh7.5 cells transfected with HCV RNA was harvested, filtered, and concentrated by ultrafiltration using Amicon Ultra-15 100 kDa filtration devices (Millipore, Bedford, MA) or left unconcentrated. For infection experiments, cells were seeded to tissue culture flasks and infected with the respective HCV strain 6 to 24 hours post-seeding.

Isolation of Primary Human NK Cells

For the co-culture experiments, primary human NK cells were either negatively enriched from isolated PBMCs of *KIR3DS1* homozygous and *KIR3DS1/3DL1* heterozygous healthy donors, using the EasySep Human NK Cell Enrichment Kit by Stemcell Technologies (Vancouver, Canada), or sorted from *KIR3DS1/KIR3DL1* heterozygous donors using a BD FACSAria Fusion instrument (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA) and antibodies to identify KIR3DS1+ (z27.3.7) and KIR3DL1+ (DX9) single positive NK cells.

KIR Binding Assay

KIR binding assays were performed as previously described.⁵ In short, KIR binding was analyzed on HCV+, HCV-, and naïve Huh7.5 cells by staining with KIR3DS1immunoglobulin G fusion constructs (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN) for 1 hour on ice, secondary staining with goat anti-human immunoglobulin G(Fc) $F(ab')_2$ (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA) was performed for 30 minutes on ice. Afterward, cells were fixed (4% paraformaldehyde in phosphate-buffered saline) and analyzed using flow cytometry. Anti-KIR3DS1/3DL1 (Z27.3.7; Beckmann Coulter, Brea, CA) and anti-HLA-F (3D11; BioLegend, San Diego, CA) were used at a final concentration of 25 μ g/mL to block the interaction of the KIR31DS1-Fc with their infected target cells. All antibodies used are listed in Supplementary Table 3.

KIRζ⁺ Jurkat Reporter Cell Assay

KIR ζ^+ Jurkat reporter cells were incubated with target cells at a reporter/target cell ratio of 1:10 at 37°C/5% CO₂ for 5 hours. Beads coated with anti-KIR3DS1/3DL1 (anti-KIR3DS1-L1, REA168; Miltenyi, Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) or uncoated were used as negative or positive controls, respectively. After coincubation, cells were stained with anti-human CD3-PerCP/Cy5.5 (UCTH1; BioLegend) and anti-human CD69-BV421 (FN50; BioLegend), followed by fixation and sample acquisition. Frequency of CD69⁺ reporter cells as well as surface expression of CD69 was assessed by flow cytometry and used as a measure of reporter cell activity. Anti-KIR3DS1/3DL1 (Z27.3.7; Beckmann Coulter) and anti-HLA-F (3D11; BioLegend) were used at a final concentration of 25 μ g/mL to block the interaction of the reporter cells with their infected target cells. All antibodies used are listed in Supplementary Table 3.

Infection and Treatment of Chimeric Mice

Human liver chimeric mice were generated as previously reported.⁶ To establish HCV infection, animals received a single intraperitoneal injection of a patient-derived HCV inoculum (1×10^7 HCV-RNA copies/mL, genotype 1a). Viral loads were monitored 2 to 4 weeks postinfection as previously described.⁶

Reverse Transcriptase–Polymerase Chain Reaction

To determine HLA-F gene expression levels, humanspecific primers (Hs04185703_gH; Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA) from the TaqMan Gene Expression Assay System were used and samples were analyzed in the ViiATM 7 Real-Time PCR System (Life Technologies). The mean of the human housekeeping genes GAPDH and ribosomal protein L30 was used to normalize human gene expression levels.

Immunohistochemistry of Cell Lines

For immunofluorescence, Huh7.5 cells transduced with MAVS-RFP-NLS were infected with Jc1wt (multiplicity of infection 0.025), reseeded to coverslips, and fixed 5 days postinfection with 4% paraformaldehyde for 1 hour at 4°C. The MACS-RFP-NLS construct allows for identification of HCV-infected cells, as on infection and cleavage of mito-chondrial antiviral-signaling protein (MAVS) the SV40 nuclear localization sequence (NLS) leads to nuclear translocation of the red fluorescence protein (RFP). After permeabilization with 0.1% Triton-X-100 for 5 minutes at room temperature and incubation in blocking solution (50 mM Tris, 5% bovine serum albumin, 1% fish skin gelatine, 0.15% glycine), cells were incubated with

anti-HLA-F (3D11; BioLegend) (1:100) overnight at 4°C followed by the secondary antibody donkey-anti-mouse-Alexa Fluor 488 (Thermo Fisher), 1:1500) for 1 hour at room temperature. Nuclei were stained with Hoechst. Samples were embedded in Mowiol (Applichem, St Louis, MO) and analyzed on a Nikon (Tokyo, Japan) C2plus confocal scanning microscope with an Apo x60 Oil λ S DIC N2 oil objective. All antibodies used are listed in Supplementary Table 3.

Immunohistochemistry of Chimeric Mice Samples

Cryosections (12 μ m) of mouse livers were stained with mouse monoclonal anti-human Calnexin (Cell Signaling, Leiden, the Netherlands) to identify human hepatocytes in mouse livers. Mouse monoclonal anti-HCVcore (Abcam, Cambridge, UK) was used to detect infected cells. For HLA-F detection, mouse livers were costained with rat monoclonal anti-human Nucleoporin p62 (Abcam) and mouse antihuman HLA-F (3D11; BioLegend). Slides were fixed in acetone for 10 minutes at room temperature and permeabilized with 0.1% Triton-X for 5 minutes followed by 1hour TNB Block. In a secondary staining, specific signals were visualized with goat anti-rat 546-labeled secondary antibodies or TSA Fluorescein System (Perkin Elmer, Waltham, MA) by using anti-mouse horseradish peroxidaselabeled antibody and nuclear staining was achieved by DRAQ5 (1:2000 dilution; Axxora, Lörrach, Germany). Stained sections were mounted with fluorescein mounting media (Dako, Glostrup, Denmark) and analyzed by confocal laser scanning microscopy (Microscope Biorevo BZ-9000; Keyence, Osaka, Japan) using the same settings for the different experimental groups. All antibodies used are listed in Supplementary Table 3.

Immunohistochemistry of Human Liver Samples

Cryosections (8 μ m) of human livers were stained with mouse anti-human HLA-F (3D11; BioLegend) and 4',6diamidino-2-phenylindole (DAPI) (Life Technologies, Darmstadt, Germany). Slides were fixed in acetone for 10 minutes at room temperature and permeabilized with 0.1% Triton-X for 5 minutes. In a secondary staining, specific signals were visualized with donkey-anti-mouse Alexa Fluor 555 (Thermo Fisher)-labeled secondary antibody. Stained sections were embedded in Mowiol (Mowiol 4-88; Applichem) and analyzed by confocal laser scanning microscopy (Nikon C2plus confocal scanning microscope with an Apo x60 Oil λ S DIC N2 oil objective) using the same settings for the HCV^{pos} and HCV^{neg} samples. Spots were quantified in 47 independent pictures from 6 different HCV^{pos} and 30 independent pictures from 6 different HCV^{neg} individuals. All antibodies used are listed in Supplementary Table 3.

Viral Inhibition Assay

Inhibition of viral replication was measured using a Jc1 reporter strain carrying a gaussia luciferase between p7 and

NS2. Luciferase activity was used as a measure for viral replication in this system. In short, Huh7 cells were infected with the Jc1 reporter virus. After 6 days, cells were reseeded to 24-wel -plates with 1.5 x 10⁴ cells per well. Seven days after infection, cells were co-cultured at an effector to target ratio of 2:1 with isolated primary human NK cells for 3 days. Every 24 hours for 72 hours, 50 μ L supernatant was removed and replaced with fresh medium. The gaussia luciferase activity in the supernatant was determined using the Renilla Luciferase Assay System (Promega, Madison, WI). Twenty microliters of supernatant was lysed for 1 hour at room temperature by adding the same volume of 2X Renilla Luciferase Assay Lysis buffer (Promega), and luciferase activity was measured on a luminometer with injector (Infinite M200 plate reader; Tecan Group Ltd, Männedorf, Switzerland). All measurements were performed in triplicate to reduce variability.

Flow Cytometry

For flow cytometry analysis of HLA-F up-regulation in HCV-infected and uninfected cells, Huh7.5 cells were infected with a Jc1-eGFP reporter virus. To support viral spread, cells were trypsinized and reseeded 1-day post infection. To determine expression of HLA-F, cells were stained with a monoclonal anti-human HLA-F.PE antibody (3D11; Bio-Legend) for 20 minutes at room temperature followed by fixation and data acquisition. All antibodies used are listed in Supplementary Table 3.

Data Acquisition, Analysis, and Statistics

Flow cytometry was performed on an LSRFortessa and FACSCanto II (BD Bioscience) and analyzed using FlowJo software v10 (Tree Star, Inc., Ashland, OR). Figures were designed and statistical analysis done using GraphPad Prism 7 (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA) and SAS version 9.3 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC). In general, if not stated otherwise, bar graphs show the median and error bars indicate the interquartile range. Due to the sample size and because data were assumed to be of non-gaussian distribution, the nonparametric Mann-Whitney test was used to assess statistical differences between 2 groups. Comparisions between multiple groups were performed using Kruskal-Wallis test with Dunns corrections for multiple comparisons. If multiple groups are shown in one graph, bracketed lines indicate comparisons between 2 selected groups, whereas straight lines indicate comparison between all groups.

For the analysis of assays using replicates (Figures 1D and 2C) and/or repeated measurements over time (Figure 2C-E), linear mixed effect regression models were used to take into account the intraparticipant correlation.

Data Availability

The data that support the findings of this study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.



Supplementary Figure 1. HLA-F expression on naïve Huh7.5 cells. Naive Huh7.5 cells were stained for Hoechst, HLA-F, or expressing a MAVS-NLS-RFP.